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Cal-Maine Foods, inC.

Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. is primarily engaged in the production, grading, packing and sale of fresh shell eggs. 
The Company, headquartered in Jackson, Mississippi, is the largest producer and distributor of fresh shell 
eggs in the United States with fiscal 2009 sales of approximately 778 million dozen shell eggs, representing 
approximately 18 percent of domestic shell egg consumption in the United States.

The common shares of Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. are traded on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol 
CALM.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS:

Fiscal 2009 was a good year for Cal-Maine Foods.  

For the year, we reported net sales of $928.8 million, compared with $915.9 million for fiscal 
2008.  Net income was $79.5 million, or $3.34 per share, for fiscal 2009 compared with $151.9 
million, or $6.41 per share, in fiscal 2008.  

For many reasons, fiscal 2009 was also a very interesting year for Cal-Maine.  Our feed costs 
were very high and volatile for the entire year, affecting our overall profitability.  However, we 
also benefited from relatively strong egg prices and a favorable balance of egg supply and 
demand.  The acquisitions of Zephyr Egg Company, completed in June 2008, and Tampa 
Farm Service, Inc., completed in November 2008, have both been important additions to 
our production capacity in Florida and we are pleased with the smooth integration of these 
operations.  The additional production capacity has further enhanced our ability to service our 
customers in this important market region and should add to shareholder value in the future.  

The Company’s variable dividend policy continues to be well-received and we believe this 
policy is in the best interest of Cal-Maine and its shareholders.

We are optimistic about our business as we begin fiscal 2010.  U.S.D.A. statistics indicate that 
egg supply should generally be in a favorable balance with projected egg demand.  Based on 
historical averages, we anticipate that feed costs will continue to be volatile and relatively high 
over the next fiscal year.  

We appreciate the continued support of our customers, shareholders, and employees.

Sincerely,

Fred Adams, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer
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PART I 
 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
 This report contains numerous forward-looking statements relating to the Company's shell egg business, 
including estimated production data, expected operating schedules, expected capital costs and other operating data.  Such 
forward-looking statements are identified by the use of words such as "believes," "intends," "expects," "hopes," "may," 
"should," "plan," "projected," "contemplates," "anticipates" or similar words.  Actual production, operating schedules, 
results of operations and other projections and estimates could differ materially from those projected in the forward-
looking statements.  The factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected in the forward-
looking statements include (i) the risk factors set forth in Item 1A, (ii) the risks and hazards inherent in the shell egg 
business (including disease, pests, and weather conditions), (iii) changes in the market prices of shell eggs, and (iv) 
changes that could result from the Company's future acquisition of new flocks or businesses.  Readers are cautioned not 
to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements.  The Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update publicly 
these forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. 

 
         ITEM 1.  BUSINESS 
 
 Our Business 
 

Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. (“we”, “us”, “our”, or the “Company”) is the largest producer and marketer of shell eggs 
in the United States. In fiscal 2009, we sold approximately 778 million dozen shell eggs, which represented 
approximately 18% of domestic shell egg consumption in the United States. Our total flock of approximately 27 million 
layers and 6 million pullets and breeders is the largest in the United States. Layers are mature female chickens, pullets 
are young female chickens usually under 20 weeks of age, and breeders are male or female chickens used to produce 
fertile eggs to be hatched for egg production flocks.  
 

We operate in a single segment. Our primary business is the production, grading, packaging, marketing and 
distribution of shell eggs. We sell most of our shell eggs in 29 states, primarily in the southwestern, southeastern, mid-
western and mid-Atlantic regions of the United States. We market our shell eggs through our extensive distribution 
network to a diverse group of customers, including national and regional grocery store chains, club stores, foodservice 
distributors and egg product manufacturers. The strength of our position is evidenced by the fact that we have the largest 
market share in the grocery segment for shell eggs, and we sell shell eggs to a majority of the largest food retailers in the 
United States. 
 

We are also one of the largest producers and marketers of value-added specialty shell eggs in the United States. 
Specialty shell eggs include nutritionally enhanced, cage free and organic eggs and are a rapidly growing segment of the 
market. In fiscal 2009, specialty shell eggs represented approximately 19% of our shell egg dollar sales, as compared to 
14% for fiscal 2008. Retail prices for specialty eggs are less cyclical than standard shell egg prices and are generally 
higher due to consumer willingness to pay for the increased benefits from those products. We market our specialty shell 
eggs under the following brands: Egg-Land's Best(TM), Farmhouse(TM), and 4-Grain (TM).  We own a 29.1% equity 
interest in Egg-Land's Best, Inc., which markets the leading brand in the specialty shell egg segment.  Egg-Land’s Best, 
Inc. operates as a cooperative. We have exclusive license agreements to market and distribute Egg-Land's Best(TM) 
specialty shell eggs in major metropolitan areas, including New York City, and a number of states in the southeast and 
southwest. We market cage free eggs under our trademarked Farmhouse brand and distribute those shell eggs across the 
southeast and southwest regions of the United States.   We market organic, all natural, cage-free, vegetarian, and omega-
3 eggs under our 4-Grain trademark. We also produce market and distribute private label specialty shell eggs to several 
customers. Sales of specialty shell eggs accounted for approximately 13.8% of our total shell egg dozen volumes in fiscal 
2009, as compared to 12.0% in fiscal 2008. 

 
 We are also a leader in industry consolidation. Since 1989, we have completed sixteen acquisitions ranging in 
size from 600,000 layers to 7.5 million layers. Despite a market that has been characterized by increasing consolidation, 
the shell egg production industry remains highly fragmented. There currently are 57 producers who each own more than 
one million layers and the ten largest producers own approximately 44% of total industry layers. We believe industry 
consolidation will continue and we plan to capitalize on opportunities as they arise. 
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Acquisitions 
 
During fiscal 2009, we completed two acquisitions of egg production facilities located in Florida, which added 

approximately six million laying hens and expanded our pullet growing facilities for replacements. Eggs produced at 
these facilities are being marketed to retail food businesses and distributors in the south central states. See Note 2 of 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

 
During fiscal 2009 we made an additional payment related to the Hillandale Acquisition to increase our 

ownership interest.  See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II of this Annual Report on Form 
10-K. 

 
During fiscal 2007, we completed two acquisitions of egg production facilities located in Arkansas, which added 

approximately two million laying hens and expanded our pullet growing facilities for replacements. Eggs produced at 
these facilities are being marketed to retail food businesses and distributors in the south central states. See Note 2 of 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

 
 Industry Background   
                                         
 Based on historical consumption trends, demand for shell eggs increases in line with overall population growth, 
averaging an increase of about 1% per year. According to U.S. Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) reports, since 2000, 
annual per capita consumption in the United States has varied between 249 and 258 eggs. In calendar year 2008, per 
capita consumption in the United States was 249 eggs, or approximately five eggs per person per week. 
 
  Prices for Shell Eggs 
 
 Shell egg prices are a critical component of profitability in the industry. Approximately, over 90% of all shell 
eggs sold in the United States in the retail and foodservice channels are sold at prices related to the Urner Barry 
wholesale quotation for shell eggs. For fiscal 2009, wholesale large shell egg prices in the southeast region averaged 
120.9 cents per dozen compared to an average of 102.0 cents per dozen for fiscal years 2006 to 2008.  According to 
USDA reports, domestic table egg production was higher for five of the first six months of calendar year 2009.  This is a 
reversal of the trend from 2007 to 2008.   For 23 of the 24 consecutive months from 2007 to 2008 domestic shell egg 
production was lower.   This has translated into falling egg prices.  Based on these USDA reports, the Company expects 
that the table egg laying flock will expand in the upcoming months of calendar year 2009.   Due to the anticipated 
expansion in the laying flock, shell egg production for the remainder of calendar year 2009 is expected to be slightly 
above production during the comparable period of calendar year 2008.   
 
 Feed Costs for Shell Egg Production 
 
 Feed is a primary cost component in the production of shell eggs and represents over one-half of industry farm 
level production costs. Most shell egg producers are vertically integrated, manufacturing the majority of the feed they 
require themselves. Although feed ingredients, primarily corn and soybean meal, are available from a number of sources, 
prices for ingredients can fluctuate and can be affected by weather and by various supply and demand factors. Feed 
prices for fiscal 2009 were higher than the previous year. Forecasts vary widely for prices over the next year, due to 
irregular weather patterns in the Midwest and a much stronger demand for corn from ethanol plants. 
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 Growth Strategy and Acquisitions 
 

 For many years, we have pursued a growth strategy focused on the acquisition of existing shell egg production 
and processing facilities, as well as the construction of new and more efficient facilities.  Since the beginning of fiscal 
1989, we have completed sixteen acquisitions. In addition, we have built seven new “in-line” shell egg production and 
processing facilities and one pullet growing facility which added 8 million layers and 1.5 million growing pullets to our 
capacity.  Each of the new shell egg production facilities generally provide for the processing of approximately 400 cases 
of shell eggs or 12,000 dozen eggs, per hour. These increases in capacity have been accompanied by the retirement of 
older and less efficient facilities and a reduction in eggs produced by contract producers.  The “in-line” facilities result in 
the gathering, grading and packaging of shell eggs by less labor-intensive, more efficient, mechanical means. 

 
As a result of our strategy, our total flock, including pullets, layers and breeders, has increased from 

approximately 22.3 million at May 28, 2005 to approximately 33.5 million as of May 30, 2009.  Also, the number of 
dozens of shell eggs sold has increased from approximately 575.4 million in the fiscal year ended May 28, 2005 to 777.9 
million for the fiscal year ending May 30, 2009.  Net sales amounted to $928.8 million in fiscal 2009 compared to net 
sales of $375.3 million in fiscal 2005.    
              
           We plan to continue to pursue opportunities for the acquisition of other companies engaged in the production and 
sale of shell eggs. We will continue to evaluate and selectively pursue acquisitions that will expand our shell egg 
production capabilities in existing markets and broaden our geographic reach. We have extensive experience identifying, 
valuing, executing and integrating acquisitions and we intend to leverage that experience in the evaluation and execution 
of future acquisitions. We will seek to acquire regional shell egg businesses that have significant market share and long-
standing customer relationships. We believe that enhancing our national presence will help us further strengthen our 
relationships with existing customers which have operations across the United States. 
 

Through exclusive license agreements with Egg-Land's Best, Inc. in several key territories and our trademarked 
Farmhouse brand, we are one of the leading producers and marketers of value-added specialty shell eggs. We also 
produce, market and distribute private label specialty shell eggs to several customers. Since selling prices of specialty 
shell eggs are not as volatile as those of generic shell eggs, we believe that growing our specialty eggs business will 
enhance the stability of our margins. We expect that the price of specialty eggs will remain at a premium to regular shell 
eggs. We intend to pursue acquisitions that may expand our specialty shell egg production.   As part of our Tampa Farms 
acquisition in December 2008, we acquired the 4-Grain brand of specialty eggs. We market organic, all natural, cage-
free, vegetarian, and omega-3 eggs under our 4-Grain trademark. 

 
Federal anti-trust laws require regulatory approval of acquisitions that exceed certain threshold levels of 

significance.  Also, we are subject to federal and state laws generally prohibiting anti-competitive conduct.  Because the 
shell egg production and distribution industry is so fragmented, we believe that our sales of shell eggs during last fiscal 
year represented approximately 18% of domestic shell egg sales notwithstanding that we are the largest producer and 
distributor of shell eggs in the United States based on independently prepared industry statistics. We believe that 
regulatory approval of any future acquisitions either will not be required, or, if required, that such approvals will be 
obtained. 

 
The construction of new, more efficient production and processing facilities is an integral part of our growth 

strategy.  Any such construction will require compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations, including 
the receipt of permits that could cause schedule delays, although we have not experienced any significant delays in the 
past. 

 
Shell Eggs  
 
Production.  Our operations are fully integrated. At our facilities, we hatch chicks, grow pullets, manufacture 

feed and produce and distribute shell eggs.  Company-owned facilities accounted for approximately 93% of our total 
fiscal 2009 egg production, with the balance attributable to contract producers used by us. Under arrangements with our 
contract producers, we own the entire flock, furnish all feed and supplies, own the shell eggs produced and assume all 
market risks.  The contract producers own and operate their facilities and are paid a fee based on production with 
incentives for performance. 
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The commercial production of shell eggs requires a source of baby chicks for laying flock replacement. We 
produce approximately 95% of our chicks in our own hatcheries and obtain the balance from commercial sources. We 
own breeder facilities producing 15.5 million pullet chicks per year in a computer-controlled environment. These pullets 
are distributed to 37 state-of-the-art laying operations around the southwestern, southeastern, mid-western and mid-
Atlantic regions of the United States. The facilities produce an average of 1.7 million dozen shell eggs per day and 
process the shell eggs through grading and packaging without handling by human hands. We have spent a cumulative 
total of $102.6 million over the past five years upgrading our facilities with the most advanced equipment and 
technology available in our industry. We believe our focus on automation throughout the supply chain enables us to be a 
low cost supplier in all the markets in which we compete. 

 
Feed for the laying flocks is produced by Company-owned and operated mills located in the southwestern, 

southeastern, mid-western and mid-Atlantic regions of the United States. All ingredients necessary for feed production 
are readily available in the open market and most are purchased centrally from Jackson, Mississippi.  Approximately 
95% of the feed for our flocks is manufactured at feed mills owned and operated by us.  Poultry feed is formulated using 
a computer model to determine the least-cost ration to meet the nutritional needs of the flocks.  Although most feed 
ingredients are purchased on an as-needed basis, from time-to-time, when deemed advantageous, we purchase 
ingredients in advance with a delayed delivery of several weeks or a few months. 

 
Feed cost represents the largest element of our farm egg production cost, ranging from 52% to 64% of total farm 

production cost in the last five years. Although feed ingredients are available from a number of sources, we have little, if 
any, control over the prices of the ingredients we purchase, which are affected by weather and by various supply and 
demand factors.  Increases in feed costs not accompanied by increases in the selling price of eggs can have a material 
adverse effect on the results of our operations.  However, higher feed costs may encourage producers to reduce 
production, possibly resulting in higher egg prices.  Alternatively, low feed costs can encourage industry overproduction, 
possibly resulting in lower egg prices.  Historically, we have tended to have higher profit margins when feed costs are 
higher.  However, this may not be the case in the future. 

 
 After the eggs are produced, they are graded and packaged.  Substantially all of our farms have modern “in-line” 
facilities that mechanically gather, grade and package the eggs produced.  The increased use of in-line facilities has 
generated significant cost savings as compared to the cost of eggs produced from non-in-line facilities.  In addition to 
greater efficiency, the in-line facilities produce a higher percentage of grade A eggs, which sell at higher prices.  Eggs 
produced on farms owned by contractors are brought to our processing plants where they are graded and packaged. Since 
shell eggs are perishable, we maintain very low shell egg inventories, usually consisting of approximately four days of 
production. 

 
Our egg production activities are subject to risks inherent in the agriculture industry, such as weather conditions 

and disease factors.  These risks are not within our control and could have a material adverse effect on our operations.  
Also, the marketability of our shell eggs is subject to risks such as possible changes in food consumption opinions and 
practices reflecting perceived health concerns. 

 
We operate in a cyclical industry with total demand that is generally steady and a product that is price-inelastic.  

Thus, small increases in production or decreases in demand can have a large adverse effect on prices and vice-versa.  
However, economic conditions in the egg industry are expected to exhibit less cyclicality in the future.  The industry is 
concentrating into fewer but stronger hands, which should help lessen the extreme cyclicality of the past. 
       

 
Marketing.  Of the 778 million dozen shell eggs sold by us in the fiscal year ended May 30, 2009, 598 million 

were produced by our flocks. 
 

 We sell our shell eggs to a diverse group of customers, including national and local grocery store chains, club 
stores, foodservice distributors and egg product manufacturers. We utilize electronic ordering and invoicing systems that 
enable us to manage inventory for certain of our customers. Our top 10 customers accounted for an aggregate of 65.5% 
of net sales dollars in fiscal 2009 and 66.5%% of net sales dollars for fiscal 2008. Two affiliated customers, Wal-Mart 
Stores and Sam’s Club, on a combined basis, accounted for 32.9% of net sales dollars during fiscal 2009 and 36.5% of 
net sales dollars for fiscal 2008. 
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The majority of eggs sold are merchandised on a daily or short-term basis.  Most sales to established accounts 
are on open account with terms ranging from seven to 30 days.  Although we have established long-term relationships 
with many of our customers, they are free to acquire shell eggs from other sources. 

 
The shell eggs we sell are either delivered by us to our customers' warehouses and facilities with our own fleet of 

owned or contracted refrigerated delivery trucks or are picked up by our customers at our processing facilities. 
 
We sell our shell eggs at prices generally related to independently quoted wholesale market prices. Wholesale 

prices are subject to wide fluctuations.  The prices of our shell eggs reflect fluctuations in the quoted market, and the 
results of our shell egg operations are materially affected by changes in market quotations.  Egg prices reflect a number 
of economic conditions, such as the supply of eggs and the level of demand, which, in turn, are influenced by a number 
of factors that we cannot control.  No representation can be made as to the future level of prices. 

 
According to U.S. Department of Agriculture reports, for the past five years, annual per capita consumption in 

the United States has varied between 249 and 258 eggs. While we believe that fast food restaurant consumption, high 
protein diet trends, reduced egg cholesterol levels and industry advertising campaigns may result in a continuance of the 
recent increases in current per capita egg consumption levels, no assurance can be given that per capita consumption will 
not decline in the future. 

 
We sell the majority of our shell eggs in approximately 29 states across the southwestern, southeastern, mid-

western and mid-Atlantic regions of the United States. We are a major factor in egg marketing in a majority of these 
states.  Many states in our market area are egg deficit regions; that is, production of fresh shell eggs is less than total 
consumption.  Competition from other producers in specific market areas is generally based on price, service, and quality 
of product.  Strong competition exists in each of our markets. 

 
Seasonality.  Shell eggs are perishable. Consequently, we maintain very low shell egg inventories, usually 

consisting of approximately four days of production.  Retail sales of shell eggs are greatest during the fall and winter 
months and lowest during the summer months.  Prices for shell eggs fluctuate in response to seasonal demand factors and 
a natural increase in egg production during the spring and early summer. We generally experience lower sales and net 
income in our fourth and first fiscal quarters ending in May and August, respectively. During the past ten years, seven of 
our first quarters and three of our fourth quarters have resulted in net operating losses. 

 
Specialty Eggs. We also produce specialty eggs such as Egg-Land’s Best™ and Farmhouse eggs. For fiscal 

2009, specialty eggs accounted for 19.0% of shell egg dollar sales and 13.8% of shell egg dozens sold.  Egg-Land’s 
Best™ eggs are patented eggs that are believed by its developers, based on scientific studies, to cause no increase in 
serum cholesterol when eaten as part of a low fat diet. We produce and process Egg-Land’s Best™ eggs, under license 
from Egg-Land’s Best, Inc. (“EB”), at our existing facilities, under EB guidelines.  The product is marketed to our 
established base of customers at prices that reflect a premium over ordinary shell eggs. Egg-Land’s Best™ eggs 
accounted for approximately 12.7% of our shell egg dollar sales in fiscal 2009, as compared to 9.7% in fiscal 2008. 
Farmhouse brand eggs are produced at our facilities by hens that are not caged, and are provided with a diet of natural 
grains. As in our other flocks, these hens are provided with drinking water that is free of hormones or other chemical 
additives. Farmhouse and other non EB specialty eggs accounted for 6.3% of our shell egg dollar sales in fiscal 2009, as 
compared to 4.5% in fiscal 2008. They are intended to meet the demands of consumers who are sensitive to 
environmental and animal welfare issues.  Based on dozens sold Egg-Land’s Best™ eggs accounted for 9.0% of dozens 
sold for fiscal 2009, as compared to 8.0% in fiscal 2008.  Farmhouse and other non EB specialty eggs accounted for 
4.8% of dozens sold for fiscal 2009, as compared to 4.0% for fiscal 2008.  The statistical data concerning specialty egg 
sales reflects the upward trend of specialty eggs.  In fiscal 2009, we acquired the 4-Grain brand of specialty eggs which 
includes organic, all natural, cage-free, vegetarian, and omega-3 eggs. 

Competition.  The production, processing, and distribution of shell eggs is an intensely competitive business, 
which, traditionally, has attracted large numbers of producers.  Shell egg competition is generally based on price, service, 
and quality of production.   

 



 8  

The shell egg industry remains highly fragmented but is characterized by a growing concentration of producers. 
In 2008, 57 producers with one million or more layers owned 85% of the 285 million total U.S. layers, compared to 56 
producers with one million or more layers owning 64% of the 232 million total U.S. layers in 1990, and 61 producers 
with one million or more layers owning 56% of the 248.0 million total U.S. layers in 1985. We believe that a 
continuation of that concentration trend may result in the reduced cyclicality of shell egg prices, but no assurance can be 
given in that regard. A continuation of this trend could also create greater competition among fewer producers. 

 
 Patents and Trade names.  We own the trade names Farmhouse, Rio Grande, Sunups, Sunny Meadows and 4-
Grains. We do not own any patents or proprietary technologies. We produce and market Egg-Land's BestTM

 eggs under 
license agreements with EB. We own a 29.1% equity interest in EB.    

 
Government Regulation.  Our facilities and operations are subject to regulation by various federal, state and 

local agencies, including, but not limited to, the United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”), the USDA, 
Environmental Protection Agency, Occupational Safety and Health Administration and corresponding state agencies. 
The applicable regulations relate to grading, quality control, labeling, sanitary control and waste disposal. Our shell egg 
facilities are subject to periodic USDA inspections. Our feed production facilities are subject to FDA regulation and 
inspections. In addition, we maintain our own inspection program to assure compliance with our own standards and 
customer specifications. We do not know of any major capital expenditures necessary to comply with such statutes and 
regulations; however, there can be no assurance that we will not be required to incur significant costs for compliance 
with such statutes and regulations in the future. 

 
 Environmental Regulation.  Our operations and facilities are subject to various federal, state and local 
environmental laws and regulations governing, among other things, the generation, storage, handling, use, transportation, 
disposal and remediation of hazardous materials. Under these laws and regulations, we are also required to obtain permits 
from governmental authorities, including, but not limited to, wastewater discharge permits. We have made and will 
continue to make capital and other expenditures relating to compliance with existing environmental, health and safety 
laws and regulations and permits. We do not currently know of any major capital expenditures necessary to comply with 
such laws and regulations; however, because environmental, health and safety laws and regulations are becoming 
increasingly more stringent, including those relating to animal wastes and wastewater discharges, there can be no 
assurance that we will not be required to incur significant costs for compliance with such laws and regulations in the 
future. In addition, under certain circumstances, we may incur costs associated with our contract producers' failure to 
comply with laws and regulations, including environmental laws and regulations. 

 
Employees. As of May 30, 2009, we had a total of approximately 2,100 employees of whom 1,870 worked in 

egg production, processing and marketing, 110 were engaged in feed mill operations and 120 were administrative 
employees, including officers, at our executive offices.  Approximately 5% of our personnel are part-time.  None of our 
employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement.  We consider our relations with employees to be good. 

 
 Our Corporate Information 

 
 We were incorporated in Delaware in 1969. Our principal executive office is located at 3320 Woodrow Wilson 
Drive, Jackson, Mississippi 39209. The telephone number of our principal executive office is (601) 948-6813. We 
maintain a website at www.calmainefoods.com where general information about our business is available. The 
information contained in our website is not a part of this document. Our annual reports on Form 10-K, our quarterly 
reports on Form 10-Q, our current reports on Form 8-K, Forms 3 and 4 ownership reports, and all amendments to those 
reports are available, free of charge, through our web site as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with the 
SEC. Information concerning corporate governance matters is also available on the website. 

 
          Our Common Stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global Market (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol “CALM”. On 
May 29, 2009, the last sale price of our Common Stock on NASDAQ was $24.37 per share. Our fiscal year 2009 ended 
May 30, 2009, and the first three fiscal quarters of fiscal 2009 ended August 30, 2008, November 29, 2008 and 
February 28, 2009. All references herein to a fiscal year means our fiscal year and all references to a year mean a 
calendar year. 
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We have adopted a Code of Conduct and Ethics for Directors, Officers and Employees, including the chief 
executive and principal financial and accounting officers of the Company. We will provide a copy of the code free of 
charge to any person that requests a copy by writing to: 

 
Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. 

P.O. Box 2960 
Jackson, Mississippi 39207 
Attn.:  Investor Relations 

 
Requests can be made by phone at (601) 948-6813 

 
A copy is also available at our website www.calmainefoods.com.  Information contained on our website is not a 

part of this report. 
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 ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS                 
 
 We are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including the following: 
 
 Market prices of wholesale shell eggs are volatile and changes in these prices and costs can adversely 
impact our results of operations. 
 
 Our operating results are significantly affected by wholesale shell egg market prices, which fluctuate widely and 
are outside of our control. Small increases in production or small decreases in demand can have a large adverse effect on 
shell egg prices. Shell egg prices trended upward from 2002 until late 2003 and early 2004 when they rose to historical 
highs.  In the early fall of 2004, the demand trend related to the popular diets faded dramatically and prices fell.  During 
the time of increased demand, the egg industry had geared up to produce more eggs, resulting in an oversupply of eggs.  
Since 2006, supplies appear to be more closely balanced with demand and egg prices again reached record levels during 
2007 and 2008.  Egg prices have since retreated from those record price levels. There can be no assurance that shell egg 
prices will remain at or near current levels and that the supply of and demand for shell eggs will remain level in the 
future. 
 

Retail sales of shell eggs are greatest during the fall and winter months and lowest during the summer months. 
Prices for shell eggs fluctuate in response to seasonal factors and a natural increase in shell egg production during the 
spring and early summer. Shell egg prices tend to increase with the start of the school year and are highest prior to 
holiday periods, particularly Thanksgiving, Christmas and Easter. Consequently, we generally experience lower sales and 
net income in our first and fourth fiscal quarters ending in August and May, respectively. As a result of these seasonal 
and quarterly fluctuations, comparisons of our sales and operating results between different quarters within a single fiscal 
year are not necessarily meaningful comparisons. 
 

Changes in consumer demand for shell eggs can negatively impact our business. 
 

As discussed above, demand for shell eggs has increased in recent years as a result of a number of factors. We 
believe that increased fast food restaurant consumption, favorable reports from the medical community regarding the 
health benefits of shell eggs, reduced shell egg cholesterol levels, high protein diet trends and industry advertising 
campaigns have all contributed to the increase in shell egg demand. However, there can be no assurance that the demand 
for shell eggs will not decline in the future. Adverse publicity relating to health concerns and changes in the perception of 
the nutritional value of shell eggs, as well as movement away from high protein diets, could adversely affect demand for 
shell eggs, which would have a material adverse effect on our future results of operations and financial condition. 
 
 Feed costs are volatile and changes in these costs can adversely impact our results of operations. 
 
  Feed costs represent the largest element of our shell egg production (farm) cost, ranging from 52% to 64% of 
total farm annual cost in each of the last five fiscal years. Although feed ingredients are available from a number of 
sources, we have little, if any, control over the prices of the ingredients that we purchase, which are affected by various 
demand and supply factors and have experienced significant fluctuations in the past. Prices for corn and soybean meal, 
essential feed ingredients, were higher this year as compared to last year. However, there are wide swings in corn and 
soybean meal prices because of irregular weather patterns in the Midwest and widely varying forecast projections for the 
upcoming fall harvest season in September and October.  Increasing demands for the use of corn and soybean in the 
production of renewable energy such as ethanol are also putting upward pressure on the price of these feed ingredients. 
Increases in feed costs which are not accompanied by increases in the selling price of shell eggs will have a material 
adverse effect on the results of our operations. 
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Due to the cyclical nature of our business, our financial results from year to year may fluctuate. 
 

The shell egg industry has traditionally been subject to periods of high profitability followed by periods of 
significant loss. In the past, during periods of high profitability, shell egg producers have tended to increase the number 
of layers in production with a resulting increase in the supply of shell eggs, which generally has caused a drop in shell 
egg prices until supply and demand return to balance. As a result, our financial results from year to year may vary 
significantly. 
 

We purchase approximately 23% of the shell eggs we sell from outside producers and our ability to obtain 
such eggs at prices and in quantities acceptable to us could fluctuate. 
 

We produce approximately 77% of the total number of shell eggs sold by us and purchase the remaining amount 
from outside producers. As the wholesale price for shell eggs increases, our cost to acquire shell eggs from outside 
producers also increases. There can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to acquire shell eggs from outside 
producers in quantities and prices that are satisfactory and our inability to do so may have a material adverse affect on 
our business and profitability. 
 

Our acquisition growth strategy subjects us to various risks. 
 

We plan to continue to pursue a growth strategy which includes acquisitions of other companies engaged in the 
production and sale of shell eggs. Acquisitions can require capital resources and divert management's attention from our 
existing business. Acquisitions also entail an inherent risk that we could become subject to contingent or other liabilities, 
including liabilities arising from events or conduct prior to our acquisition of a business that were not known to us at the 
time of acquisition. We may also incur significantly greater expenditures in integrating an acquired business than we had 
anticipated at the time of its purchase. We cannot assure you that we: 
 

- will identify suitable acquisition candidates; 
 

- can consummate acquisitions on acceptable terms; or 
 

- can successfully integrate any acquired business into our operations or successfully manage the operations of  
any acquired business. 
 

No assurance can be given that companies acquired by us in the future will contribute positively to our results of 
operations or financial condition. In addition, federal anti-trust laws require regulatory approval of acquisitions that 
exceed certain threshold levels of significance. 
 

The consideration we pay in connection with any acquisition also affects our financial results. If we pay cash, we 
could be required to use a portion of our available cash to consummate the acquisition. To the extent we issue shares of 
our Common Stock, existing stockholders may be diluted. In addition, acquisitions may result in the incurrence of debt. 
 

Our largest customers have historically accounted for a significant portion of our net sales volume. 
Accordingly, our business may be adversely affected by the loss of, or reduced purchases by, one or more of our 
large customers. 
 

For the fiscal years 2009, 2008, and 2007, two affiliated customers, Wal-Mart Stores and Sam’s Clubs, on a 
combined basis, accounted for 32.9%, 36.5%, and 36.9% of our net sales, respectively. Our top 10 customers accounted 
for 65.5%, 66.5%, and 67.4% of net sales during those periods. Although we have established long-term relationships 
with many of our customers, we do not have contractual relationships with any of our major customers for the sale of our 
shell eggs. If, for any reason, one or more of our larger customers were to purchase significantly less of our shell eggs in 
the future or were to terminate their purchases from us, and we are not able to sell our shell eggs to new customers at 
comparable levels, it would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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Failure to comply with applicable governmental regulations, including environmental regulations, could 
harm our operating results, financial condition and reputation. 
 

We are subject to federal and state regulations relating to grading, quality control, labeling, sanitary control and 
waste disposal. As a fully-integrated shell egg producer, our shell egg facilities are subject to United States Department 
of Agriculture, the USDA, and Food and Drug Administration, the FDA, regulation and various state and local health 
and agricultural agencies. Our shell egg processing facilities are subject to periodic USDA inspections. Our feed 
production facilities are subject to FDA regulation and inspections. 
 

Our operations and facilities are also subject to various federal, state and local environmental, health and safety 
laws and regulations governing, among other things, the generation, storage, handling, use, transportation, disposal and 
remediation of hazardous materials. Under these laws and regulations, we are also required to obtain permits from 
governmental authorities, including, but not limited to wastewater discharge permits. 
 

If we fail to comply with any applicable law or regulation or permit, or fail to obtain any necessary permits, we 
could be subject to significant fines and penalties or other sanctions, our reputation could be harmed and our operating 
results and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected. In addition, because these laws and regulations 
are becoming increasingly more stringent, there can be no assurances that we will not be required to incur significant 
costs for compliance with such laws and regulations in the future. 
 

Our business is highly competitive. 
 

The production and sale of fresh shell eggs, which have accounted for virtually all of our net sales in recent 
years, is intensely competitive. We compete with a large number of competitors that may prove to be more successful 
than we are in marketing and selling shell eggs. We cannot provide assurance that we will be able to compete 
successfully with any or all of these companies. In addition, increased competition could result in price reductions, 
greater cyclicality, reduced margins and loss of market share, which would negatively affect our business, results of 
operations and financial condition. 
           
 Pressure from animal rights groups regarding the treatment of animals may subject us to additional costs 
to conform our practices to comply with developing standards or subject us to marketing costs to defend 
challenges to our current practices and protect our image with our customers. 
 

We and many of our customers are facing pressure from animal rights groups, such as People for the Ethical 
Treatment of Animals, or PETA, and the Humane Society of the United States, to require that any companies that supply 
food products operate their business in a manner that treats animals in conformity with certain standards developed by 
these animal rights groups. As a result, we are reviewing and changing our operating procedures with respect to our flock 
of hens to meet some or all of these treatment standards. The treatment standards require, among other things, that we 
provide increased cage space for our hens and modify beak trimming and forced molting practices (the act of putting 
chickens into a regeneration cycle). Changing our procedures and infrastructure to conform to these guidelines has 
resulted and will continue to result in additional costs to our internal production of shell eggs, including cost increases 
from housing and feeding the increased flock population resulting from the modification of molting practices, and the 
cost for us to purchase shell eggs from our outside suppliers. While some of these increased costs have been passed on to 
our customers, we cannot provide assurance that we can continue to pass on these costs, or any additional costs we will 
face, in the future.     
 

We are dependent on our management team, and the loss of any key member of this team may adversely 
affect the implementation of our business plan in a timely manner. 
 
 Our success depends largely upon the continued services of our senior management team, including Fred R. 
Adams, Jr., our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The loss or interruption of Mr. Adams' services or those of one or 
more of our other executive officers could adversely affect our ability to manage our operations effectively and/or pursue 
our growth strategy. We have not entered into any employment or non-compete agreements with any of our executive 
officers nor do we carry any significant key-man life insurance on any such persons.    
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 Agricultural risks could harm our business. 
 
 Our shell egg production activities are subject to a variety of agricultural risks. Unusual or extreme weather 
conditions, disease and pests can materially and adversely affect the quality and quantity of shell eggs we produce and 
distribute. If a substantial portion of our production facilities are affected by any of these factors in any given quarter or 
year, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. 
 

 We have invested in auction rate securities, the market for which is currently illiquid. Funds associated 
with certain of our auction rate securities may not be accessible for an undetermined period of time. 

 
On August 8, 2008, UBS agreed to a settlement in principle with the Securities and Exchange Commission, the 

New York Attorney General, the Massachusetts Securities Division, the Texas State Securities Board and other state 
regulatory agencies represented by the North American Securities Administrators Association to restore liquidity to all 
remaining UBS clients who hold auction rate securities.   On November 3, 2008, we agreed to accept Auction Rate 
Security Rights (the “Rights”) from UBS offered through a UBS prospectus dated October 7, 2008.   The Rights permit 
us to sell, or put, our auction rate securities back to UBS at par value at any time during the period from June 30, 2010 
through July 2, 2012.  We expect to exercise our Rights and put our auction rate securities back to UBS on 
June 30, 2010, the earliest date allowable under the Rights. 

 
By accepting the Rights, we can no longer assert that we have the intent to hold the auction rate securities until 

anticipated recovery. Accordingly, we have classified our investments in auction rate securities as trading securities, as 
defined by FAS No. 115, on the date of our acceptance of the Rights. As a result, we are required to record these 
securities at fair value each period until the Rights are exercised and the auction rate securities are redeemed. At 
May 30, 2009 the fair value of our auction rate securities was $2,814 below par value of which the entire amount has 
been charged to operations in fiscal 2009. Because we will be permitted to put the auction rate securities back to UBS at 
par value, we have accounted for the Rights as a separate asset that is measured at its fair value, resulting in gains in 
fiscal 2009 in an amount equal to the loss recognized on the auction rate securities. Although the Rights represent the 
right to sell the securities back to UBS at par, we will periodically assess the economic ability of UBS to meet that 
obligation in assessing the fair value of the Rights. We will continue to classify the auction rate securities and the related 
Rights as long-term investments until June 30, 2009, one year prior to the expected settlement. 
 
 We are controlled by a principal stockholder.                  
 

Fred R. Adams, Jr., our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, and his spouse own 31.0% of the 
outstanding shares of our Common Stock, which has one vote per share, and Mr. Adams owns 74.9% and his son-in-law, 
Adolphus B. Baker, our president, chief operating officer and director, owns 25.1% of the outstanding shares of Class A 
Common Stock, which has ten votes per share. Mr. Baker and his spouse also own 2.4% of the outstanding shares of our 
Common Stock. As a result, currently Mr. Adams and his spouse possess 54.2%, and Messrs. Adams and Baker and their 
spouses possess 68.6%, of the total voting power represented by the outstanding shares of our Common Stock and Class 
A Common Stock. These stockholdings include shares of our Common Stock accumulated under our employee stock 
ownership plan for the respective accounts of Messrs. Adams and Baker. 
 

The Adams family intends to retain ownership of a sufficient amount of Common Stock and Class A Common 
Stock to assure its continued ownership of over 50% of the combined voting power of our outstanding shares of capital 
stock. Such ownership will make an unsolicited acquisition of us more difficult and discourage certain types of 
transactions involving a change of control of our company, including transactions in which the holders of Common Stock 
might otherwise receive a premium for their shares over then current market prices. In addition, certain provisions of our 
Certificate of Incorporation require that our Class A Common Stock be issued only to Fred R. Adams, Jr. and members 
of his immediate family, and that if shares of the Class A Common Stock, by operation of law or otherwise, are deemed 
not to be owned by Mr. Adams or a member of his immediate family, the voting power of any such shares shall be 
automatically reduced to one vote per share. The Adams family controlling ownership of our capital stock may adversely 
affect the market price of our Common Stock. 
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Based on Mr. Adams' beneficial ownership of our outstanding capital stock, we are a "controlled company," as 
defined in Rule 4350(c) (5) of the listing standards of the NASDAQ Global Market on which our shares of Common 
Stock are quoted. Accordingly, we are exempt from certain requirements of NASDAQ's corporate governance listing 
standards, including the requirement to maintain a majority of independent directors on our board of directors and the 
requirements regarding the determination of compensation of executive officers and the nomination of directors by 
independent directors.   
 

ITEM 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 
 

None 
       

ITEM 2.  PROPERTIES  
 

We operate farms, processing plants, hatcheries, feed mills, warehouses, offices and other properties located in 
Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, New Mexico, North Carolina, Ohio, 
Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas and Utah. The facilities currently include two breeding facilities, two 
hatcheries, five wholesale distribution centers, 19 feed mills, 37 shell egg production facilities, 26 pullet growing 
facilities, and 35 processing and packing facilities.  We also own interests in two egg products facilities and one spent 
hen processing facility, which are consolidated in our financial statements. Most of our operations are conducted from 
properties we own. 
            

Presently, we own approximately 19,600 acres of land in various locations throughout our geographic market 
area. We have the ability to hatch 21.2 million pullet chicks annually, grow 17 million pullets annually, house 31 million 
laying hens and control the production of an aggregate total of 30 million layers, with the remainder controlled by 
contract growers. We also own or control mills that can produce 668 tons per hour of feed, and processing facilities 
capable of processing 11,400 cases of shell eggs per hour (with each case containing 30 dozen shell eggs). Our facilities 
are well-maintained and operate at a high level of efficiency. Typically, we insure our facilities for replacement value. 
 

Over the past five fiscal years, our capital expenditures, excluding acquisitions of shell egg production and 
processing facilities from others, have totaled an aggregate amount of approximately $102.6 million.  The Company’s 
facilities currently are maintained in good operable condition and are insured to an extent the Company deems adequate. 
 

ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  
 
 Chicken Litter Litigation    
 
 Cal-Maine Farms, Inc. is presently a defendant in two personal injury cases in the Circuit Court of Washington 
County, Arkansas.  Those cases are styled, McWhorter vs. Alpharma, Inc., et al., and Carroll, et al. vs. Alpharma, Inc., et 
al.  Cal-Maine Farms, Inc. was named as a defendant in the McWhorter case on February 3, 2004.  It was named as a 
defendant in the Carroll case on May 2, 2005.  Co-defendants in both cases include other integrated poultry companies 
such as Tyson Foods, Inc., Cargill, Incorporated, George’s Farms, Inc., Peterson Farms, Inc., Simmons Foods, Inc., and 
Simmons Poultry Farms, Inc.  The manufacturers of an additive for broiler feed are also included as defendants.  Those 
defendants are Alpharma, Inc. and Alpharma Animal Health, Co. 
 
 Both cases allege that the plaintiffs have suffered medical problems resulting from living near land upon which 
“litter” from the defendants’ flocks was spread as fertilizer.  The McWhorter case focuses on mold and fungi allegedly 
created by the application of litter.  The Carroll case also alleges injury from mold and fungi, but focuses primarily on the 
broiler feed ingredient as the cause of the alleged medical injuries.  No trial date for either the Carroll or McWhorter case 
has been set. 
 
 Several other separate, but related, cases were prosecuted in the same venue by the same attorneys.  The same 
theories of liability were prosecuted in all of the cases.  No Cal-Maine company was named as a defendant in any of 
those other cases.  The plaintiffs selected one of those cases, Green, et al. vs. Alpharma, Inc., et al., as a bellwether case 
to go to trial first.  All of the poultry defendants were granted summary judgment in the Green case on August 2, 2006.  
On May 8, 2008, however, the Arkansas Supreme Court reversed the summary judgment in favor of the poultry 
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defendants and remanded the case for trial.  Green was re-tried on remand in April, 2009.  The jury found for the defense 
and awarded the plaintiffs in that case nothing.  It is not presently known whether the plaintiffs in the McWhorter and 
Carroll cases will continue to prosecute those cases. 
 
 State of Oklahoma Watershed Pollution Litigation 
 

On June 18, 2005, the State of Oklahoma filed suit, in the United States District Court for the Northern District 
of Oklahoma, against a number of companies, including Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Cal-Maine Farms, Inc.  We and Cal-
Maine Farms filed our joint answer and motion to dismiss the suit on October 3, 2005.  The State of Oklahoma claims 
that through the disposal of chicken litter the defendants have polluted the Illinois River Watershed.  This watershed 
provides water to eastern Oklahoma.  The Complaint seeks injunctive relief and monetary damages.  The parties 
participated in a series of mediation meetings without success.  Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. no longer operates in the 
watershed.  Accordingly, we do not anticipate that Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. will be materially affected by the request for 
injunctive relief.  Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. owns one hundred percent of a new corporation, Benton County Foods, LLC, 
which is an ongoing commercial shell egg operation within the Illinois River Watershed.  Benton County Foods, LLC is 
not a defendant in the litigation. 

 
Some dispositive motions have been filed jointly by all defendants.  Some of those motions were rejected by the 

Court, and others were left unresolved after oral arguments.  In February, 2008, a hearing was had on the plaintiff’s 
motion for preliminary injunctive relief.  The principal relief sought was a moratorium on litter application in the 
watershed.  The district court denied the plaintiff’s motion. 

 
The presiding judge appointed a fellow district court judge to act as a settlement judge.  That judge initiated 

settlement discussions, and several settlement meetings were had.  The meetings were not productive and have been 
suspended.   

 
On July 22, 2009, the Court entered its Order dismissing all claims for damages by the plaintiff in this action 

because much of the land and water which the plaintiff claims to have been polluted is actually owned by the Cherokee 
Nation, a separate sovereignty not represented by the State of Oklahoma.  The dismissal was without prejudice to re-file 
a claim for damages, but the Court ruled that no such re-filing can occur unless the Cherokee Nation joins the litigation.  
It is not known whether the Cherokee Nation will join the litigation.  While this ruling may be reconsidered or appealed, 
it removes, at least temporarily, the threat of a judgment for monetary damages against us.  Unless outstanding motions 
for summary judgment are granted, the action will proceed to trial for a determination of whether the plaintiff is entitled 
to injunctive relief. 

 
The case is set for trial in Tulsa, Oklahoma beginning September 21, 2009.   
 

 Egg Antitrust Litigation 
 

Between September 25, 2008 and January 8, 2009, the Company was named as one of several defendants in 
sixteen antitrust cases involving the United States shell egg industry.  In all sixteen cases, the named plaintiffs sued on 
behalf of themselves and a putative class of others who claim to be similarly situated.  In fourteen of the cases, the named 
plaintiffs allege that they are retailers or distributors that purchased shell eggs and egg products directly from one or 
more of the defendants.  In the other two cases, the named plaintiffs are individuals who allege that they purchased shell 
eggs and egg products indirectly from one or more of the defendants - that is, they purchased from retailers that had 
previously purchased from defendants or other parties.   

The Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation consolidated all of these cases (as well as certain other cases in 
which the Company was not a named defendant) for pretrial proceedings in the United States District Court for the 
Eastern District of Pennsylvania.  The Pennsylvania court has organized the cases around two groups (direct purchasers 
and indirect purchasers) and has named interim lead counsel for the named plaintiffs in each group.  The named plaintiffs 
in the direct purchaser case filed a consolidated complaint on January 30, 2009.  The named plaintiffs in the indirect 
purchaser case filed a consolidated complaint on February 27, 2009.  
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In both consolidated complaints, the named plaintiffs allege that the Company and certain other large domestic 
egg producers conspired to reduce the domestic supply of eggs in a concerted effort to raise the price of eggs to 
artificially high levels.  In both consolidated complaints, plaintiffs allege that all defendants agreed to reduce the 
domestic supply of eggs by (a) manipulating egg exports and (b) implementing industry-wide animal welfare guidelines 
that reduced the number of hens and eggs.  The indirect purchaser plaintiffs also allege that all defendants manipulated 
pricing information in the egg industry, exchanged price information improperly, and refused to compete against each 
other.   

Both groups of named plaintiffs seek treble damages and injunctive relief on behalf of themselves and all other 
putative class members in the United States.  Both groups of named plaintiffs allege a class period starting on 
January 1, 2000 and running “through the present.”  The direct purchaser consolidated case alleges two separate sub-
classes – one for direct purchasers of shell eggs and one for direct purchasers of egg products.  The direct purchaser 
consolidated case seeks relief under the Sherman Act.  The indirect purchaser consolidated case seeks relief under the 
Sherman Act and the statutes and common-law of various states, the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico.   

The Pennsylvania court has entered a series of orders related to case management and scheduling.  On 
April 30, 2009, the Company filed motions to dismiss both the direct purchaser consolidated case and the indirect 
purchaser consolidated case.  The plaintiffs have not yet responded to those motions.  There is no definite schedule in 
either consolidated case for discovery, class certification proceedings, or filing motions for summary judgment.  No trial 
date has been set in either consolidated case. 

Florida civil investigative demand. 

            On November 4, 2008, the Company received an antitrust civil investigative demand from the Attorney General 
of the State of Florida.  The demand seeks production of documents and responses to interrogatories relating to the 
production and sale of eggs and egg products.  The Company is cooperating with this investigation and expects to 
provide responsive information.  No allegations of wrongdoing have been made against the Company in this matter. 

 
            ITEM 4.  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 
 
           No matters were submitted to a vote of our security holders, through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise, 
during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year. 
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PART II. 

 
ITEM 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER 

MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES  
 

Our Common Stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “CALM”.  The last reported 
sale price for our Common Stock on July 30, 2009 was $29.73 per share. The following table sets forth the high and low 
daily sale prices and dividends per share for four quarters of fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009.  

 

                                                                                            Sales Price                  Dividends 
 

Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Quarter High Low 
May 31, 2008 First Quarter $        22.73 $      13.04 $         0.0125 

 Second Quarter 28.75 19.59 0.0125 
 Third Quarter 35.90 20.75 0.8038 
 Fourth Quarter 40.75 26.60 0.5138 

     
May 30, 2009 First Quarter $       48.80 $      27.72 $        0.1570 

 Second Quarter 42.21 21.08 0.3817 
 Third Quarter 30.99 22.00 0.4322 
 Fourth Quarter 27.96 17.01 0.1438 

 
There is no public trading market for the Class A Common Stock all the outstanding shares of which are owned 

by Fred R. Adams, Jr., Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company (74.9%) and his 
son-in-law Adolphus Baker, President, Chief Operating Officer and Director of the Company (25.1%). 
 

STOCKHOLDERS 
 

At July 24, 2009, there were approximately 260 record holders of our Common Stock and approximately 18,400 
beneficial owners whose shares were held by nominees or broker dealers. 
 

DIVIDENDS 
 

We have paid cash dividends on our Common Stock since 1998. The annual dividend rate of $0.05 per share of 
Common Stock, or $0.0125 per quarter, was paid in each of the fiscal quarters shown in the table above, through the 
second quarter of fiscal 2008. We have also paid cash dividends on our Class A Common Stock at a rate equal to 95% of 
the annual rate on our Common Stock, prior to October 2, 2008.  Effective November 30, 2007, the Company’s Board of 
Directors approved the adoption of a variable dividend policy to replace the Company’s fixed dividend policy. 
Commencing with the third quarter of fiscal 2008 Cal-Maine began to pay a dividend to shareholders of its Common 
Stock and Class A Common Stock on a quarterly basis for each quarter for which the Company reports net income 
computed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in an amount equal to one-third (1/3) of such 
quarterly income. The amount of the dividend payable on each share of Class A Common Stock  prior to October 2, 2008 
was payable in an amount equal to 95% of the amount paid on each share of Common Stock.   Effective October 2, 2008, 
our Class A Common Stock is paid at a rate equal to the rate on our Common Stock. Dividends are paid to shareholders 
of record as of the 60th day following the last day of such quarter, except that effective July 23, 2009 the Board of 
Directors approved a change in the dividend policy whereby for the fourth fiscal quarter only, the Company will pay 
dividends to shareholders of record on the 70th day after the quarter end. Dividends are payable on the 15th day following 
the record date. Following a quarter for which the Company does not report net income, the Company shall not pay a 
dividend for a subsequent profitable quarter until the Company is profitable on a cumulative basis computed from the 
date of the last quarter for which a dividend was paid.     
 

RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES 
 
 No sales of securities without registration under the Securities Act of 1933 occurred during our fiscal year ended 
May 30, 2009. 
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 ITEM 6.  SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
 
    Fiscal Years Ended   
            
      May 30,    May 31,    June 2,    June 3,     May 28,   
      2009 **   2008   2007 **    2006 **   2005  
   52 wks  52 wks  52 wks  53 wks   52 wks   
  (Amounts in thousands, except per share and operating data)  
Statement of Operations Data:              
Net sales    $ 928,812 $ 915,939 $ 598,128  $ 477,555 $ 375,266 
Cost of sales      724,085   617,383   479,504    415,338   339,833 
Gross profit     204,727  298,556  118,624   62,217  35,433 
Selling, general and administrative      83,253   74,919   60,394    57,702   47,758 
Operating income (loss)     121,474  223,637  58,230   4,515  (12,325) 
Other income (expense):              
Interest expense (net of non cash 
   interest expense & interest  
   income)     (4,565)  

 
 

(3,152)  

 
 

(4,993)  (5,582)  (4,222) 
Interest expense - non cash     (477)  (942)  (882)  (1,284)  - 
Equity in income (loss) of affiliates     2,612  6,324  1,699   (757)  (88) 
Non-controlling interest     (324)  (175)  286   165  - 
Other (net)      2,290   5,699   1,921    1,465   1,227 
      (464)   7,754   (1,969)   (5,993)   (3,083) 
Income (loss) before income tax     121,010  231,391  56,261   (1,478)  (15,408) 
Income tax expense (benefit)      41,510   79,530   19,605   (465)   (5,050) 
Net income (loss)    $ 79,500 $ 151,861 $ 36,656  $ (1,013) $ (10,358) 
Net income (loss) per common 
share:              
Basic    $ 3.34 $ 6.41 $ 1.56 $ (0.04) $ (0.43) 
Diluted    $ 3.34 $ 6.40 $ 1.55 $ (0.04) $ (0.43) 
            
Cash dividends declared per 
common share *    $ 1.11 $ 1.34 $ 0.05 $ 0.05 $ 0.05 
            
Weighted average shares 
outstanding:              
Basic      23,769   23,677   23,526   23,496   23,834 
Diluted      23,811   23,733   23,599   23,496   23,834 
Balance Sheet Data:              
Working capital    $ 137,999 $ 121,550 $ 80,552 $ 60,800 $ 73,587 
Total assets     582,845  501,236  364,568  317,118  269,534 
Total debt (including current 
maturities)     129,789  97,150  112,852  103,912  82,994 
Total stockholders’ equity     332,051  275,680  155,739  119,775  121,855 
            
Operating Data:              
Total number of layers at 

  27,022  21,853 
 

23,181 
 

23,276 
 

18,164 period ended (thousands)      
Total shell eggs sold (millions of 
dozens)     777.9  678.5  685.5  683.1  575.4 

__________________________________ 
*      Effective October 2, 2008, our Class A Common Stock is paid a dividend rate equal to the rate on our Common Stock.  Prior to 

that date, Class A shares were paid at 95% of the common stock dividend rate.    
**    Results for fiscal 2006 include the results of operations of Hillandale, LLC, which was consolidated with our operations as of 

July 29, 2005.  Results for fiscal 2007 include the results of operations of Green Forest Foods, LLC which was consolidated with 
our operations as of January 24, 2007, and Benton County Foods, LLC, which was consolidated with our operations as of April 
20, 2007.  Results for fiscal 2009 include the results of operations of Zephyr Egg, LLC, which was consolidated with our 
operations as of June 27, 2008, and Tampa Farms, LLC, which was consolidated with our operations as of December 11, 2008.  
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See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report for a description of these acquisitions in 
fiscal 2006, 2007, and 2009.    

 

 ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
 AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 
Risk Factors; Forward-Looking Statements 

 
For information relating to important risks and uncertainties that could materially adversely affect our business, 

securities, financial condition or operating results, reference is made to the disclosure set forth under Item 1A above 
under the caption "Risk Factors." In addition, because the following discussion includes numerous forward-looking 
statements relating to us, our results of operations and financial condition and business, reference is made to the 
information set forth above in Item 1 under the caption "Important Factors Relating to Forward-Looking Statements." 
 

As has been widely reported, financial markets have been experiencing extreme disruption, including, among 
other things, extreme volatility in securities prices, severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, rating 
downgrades of certain investments and declining valuations of others. Among other risks we face, the current tightening 
of credit in financial markets may adversely affect our ability to obtain financing in the future, including, if necessary, to 
fund strategic acquisitions, and our ability to refinance any of our long-term debt. 
 

In addition, current economic conditions could harm the liquidity or financial position of our customers or 
suppliers, which could in turn cause such parties to fail to meet their contractual or other obligations to us. 
 

In addition, we maintain significant amounts of cash and cash equivalents at one or more financial institutions 
that are in excess of federally insured limits. Given the current instability of financial institutions, we cannot be assured 
that we will not experience losses on these deposits. 
 

OVERVIEW 
 

We are primarily engaged in the production, grading, packing, and sale of fresh shell eggs. Our fiscal year end is 
the Saturday nearest to May 31 which was May 30, 2009 (52 weeks), May 31, 2008 (52 weeks), and June 2, 2007 (52 
weeks) for the most recent three fiscal years. 

 
Our operations are fully integrated.  At our facilities we hatch chicks, grow pullets, manufacture feed, and 

produce, process, and distribute shell eggs.  We currently are the largest producer and distributor of fresh shell eggs in 
the United States.  Shell eggs accounted for approximately 95% of our net sales in fiscal 2009 and 94% in fiscal 2008. 
Egg products accounted for approximately 4% of our net sales in fiscal 2009 and 5% in fiscal 2008. We primarily market 
our shell eggs in the southwestern, southeastern, mid-western and mid-Atlantic regions of the United States.  Shell eggs 
are sold directly by us primarily to national and regional supermarket chains. 

 
We currently use contract producers for approximately 7% of our total egg production.  Contract producers 

operate under agreements with us for the use of their facilities in the production of shell eggs by layers owned by us. We 
own the shell eggs produced under these arrangements. Approximately 23% of the total number of shell eggs sold by us 
is purchased from outside producers for resale, as needed. 

 
Our operating income or loss is significantly affected by wholesale shell egg market prices, which can fluctuate 

widely and are outside of our control.  Retail sales of shell eggs historically have been greatest during the fall and winter 
months and lowest during the summer months.  Our need for working capital generally is highest in the last and first 
fiscal quarters ending in May and August, respectively, when egg prices are normally at seasonal lows.   Prices for shell 
eggs fluctuate in response to seasonal factors and a natural increase in shell egg production during the spring and early 
summer.  Shell egg prices tend to increase with the start of the school year and are highest prior to holiday periods, 
particularly Thanksgiving, Christmas and Easter.  Consequently, we generally experience lower sales and net income in 
our first and fourth fiscal quarters ending in August and May, respectively. As a result of these seasonal and quarterly 
fluctuations, comparisons of our sales and operating results between different quarters within a single fiscal year are not 
necessarily meaningful comparisons. 
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 Our cost of production is materially affected by feed costs, which currently averages about 64% of our total farm 
egg production cost.  Changes in market prices for corn and soybean meal, the primary ingredients of the feed we use, 
result in changes in our cost of goods sold.   The cost of our feed ingredients, which are commodities, are subject to 
factors in which we have little or no control such as volatile price changes caused by weather, size of harvest, 
transportation and storage costs, demand and the agricultural and energy policies of the United States and foreign 
governments.  Market prices for corn remain higher in part because of increasing demand from ethanol producers. 
Market prices for soybean meal remain higher as a result of competition for acres from other grain producers.  However, 
our feed costs were lower than the previous quarter with both corn and soybean meal prices moving sharply lower after 
reaching record levels during the summer of calendar year 2008.  Feed costs, while much improved, will likely remain 
relatively high and could be volatile in the year ahead. 
 

The purchase of Zephyr Egg, LLC and Tampa Farms, LLC described in Note 2 of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements are collectively referred to below as the “Acquisitions". 
 
 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 

The following table sets forth, for the years indicated, certain items from our consolidated statements of 
operations expressed as a percentage of net sales. 

                                            Percentage of Net Sales 
                                                Fiscal Years Ended 
 

 May 30, 2009 May 31, 2008 June 2, 2007 
    
Net sales 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 
Cost of sales 78.0 67.4  80.2  
Gross profit 22.0 32.6  19.8  
Selling, general & administrative expenses 8.9 8.2  10.1  
Operating income   13.1 24.4  9.7  
Other income (expense) (0.1) 0.9 (0.3) 
Income before taxes 13.0 25.3  9.4  
Income tax expense  4.5 8.7  3.3  
Net income   8.5%   16.6%   6.1% 

 
 
 EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW OF RESULTS – May 30, 2009, May 31, 2008, and June 2, 2007 
 
 Our operating results are significantly affected by wholesale shell egg market prices, which can fluctuate widely 
and are outside of our control.  Primarily, our shell eggs are sold at prices related to the Urner Barry Spot Egg Market 
Quotations for the southeastern region of the country.  The following table shows our net income (loss), net average shell 
egg selling price, and the average Urner Barry wholesale large shell egg prices in the southeast region, for each of our 
three most recent fiscal years.   

 
Fiscal Year ended May 30, 2009  May 31, 2008  June 2, 2007 

Net Income - (in thousands) $         79,500  $        151,861  $        36,656 
Net average shell egg selling price $             1.14  $              1.26  $            0.83 
Urner Barry Spot Egg Market Quotations1 $             1.21  $              1.38  $            0.93 

1- Average daily price for the fiscal year 

The shell egg industry has traditionally been subject to periods of high profitability followed by periods of 
significant loss. The periods of high profitability reflect increased consumer demand relative to supply while the periods 
of significant loss reflect excess supply for the then prevailing consumer demand.   Historically, demand for shell eggs 
increases in line with overall population growth. As reflected above, our operating results correspond with changes in the 
spot egg market quote.   The net average shell egg selling price is the blended price for all sizes and grades of shell eggs, 
including non-graded shell egg sales, breaking stock and undergrades.  In fiscal 2003 and 2004, shell egg demand 
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increased at higher than normal trend rates due to the increased popularity of high protein diets.  This demand imbalance 
caused shell egg prices to increase.  In late fiscal 2004, the popularity of these high protein diets began to diminish, but 
our egg production had been increased to meet the earlier higher demand levels.  Lower egg prices followed, and we 
experienced net losses in fiscal 2005 and 2006.  Beginning in the latter part of fiscal 2006, egg supplies appeared to 
become more aligned with demand. Since that time, the supply-demand balance has tightened.  Tighter supplies resulted 
in increased prices in fiscal 2007, and prices reached record levels in fiscal 2008.  These increased prices resulted in 
significantly improved profitability.  In fiscal 2009, egg prices declined as compared to fiscal 2008.  Due to the state of 
the overall economy, we saw demand decrease at the food service level.   Egg sales at the retail level remain strong.  As a 
consequence of the current economic situation and the drop in demand at the food service level, there was a drop in egg 
prices.  Future levels of profitability will be highly dependent on the relationship between demand levels and the supply 
of eggs available. According to USDA reports, domestic table egg production was higher for five of the first six months 
of calendar year 2009.  This is a reversal of the trend from 2007 to 2008.   For 23 of the 24 consecutive months from 
2007 to 2008 domestic shell egg production was lower.   This has translated into falling egg prices.  Based upon USDA 
reports, the Company expects that the table egg laying flock will expand in the upcoming months of calendar year 2009.   
Due to the anticipated expansion in the laying flock, shell egg production for the remainder of calendar year 2009 is 
expected to be slightly above production during the comparable period of calendar year 2008.   

 
Fiscal Year Ended May 30, 2009 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2008 

 
Net Sales.  In fiscal 2009, approximately 95% of our net sales consisted of shell egg sales and approximately 4% 

was for sales of egg products, with the 1% balance consisting of sales of incidental feed and feed ingredients. Net sales 
for the fiscal year ended May 30, 2009 were $928.8 million, an increase of $12.9 million, or 1.4%, from net sales of 
$915.9 million for fiscal 2008.  In fiscal 2009 total dozens of eggs sold increased and egg selling prices decreased as 
compared to fiscal 2008. In fiscal 2009 total dozens of shell eggs sold were 777.9 million, an increase of 99.4 million 
dozen, or 14.6%, compared to 678.5 million sold in fiscal 2008. Our average selling price of shell eggs decreased from 
$1.260 per dozen for fiscal 2008 to $1.136 per dozen for fiscal 2009, a decrease of $.124 per dozen, or 9.8%.  Our net 
average shell egg selling price is the blended price for all sizes and grades of shell eggs, including non-graded shell egg 
sales, breaking stock and undergrades.  Our operating results are significantly affected by wholesale shell egg market 
prices, which are outside of our control. Small changes in production or demand levels can have a large effect on shell 
egg prices.  In fiscal 2009, egg prices declined as compared to fiscal 2008.  Due to the state of the overall economy, we 
saw demand decrease at the food service level.   Egg sales at the retail level remain strong.  As a consequence of the 
current economic situation and the drop in demand at the food service level, there was a drop in egg prices.   
 
 On a comparable basis, excluding the Acquisitions, net sales for fiscal 2009 were $838.6 million, a decrease of 
$77.3 million, or 8.4%, as compared to net sales of $915.9 million for fiscal 2008.   Dozens sold for fiscal 2009, 
excluding the Acquisitions, were 703.1 million, an increase of 24.6 million, or 3.6% as compared to 678.5 million for 
fiscal 2008.  
 
 The table below represents an analysis of our non-specialty and specialty shell egg sales.  Following the table is a 
discussion of the information presented in the table.    

 
  

Fiscal Years Ended 
(52 weeks) 

 Quarter Ended 
(13 weeks) 

  May 30, 2009  May 31, 2008  May 30, 2009  May 31, 2008 
  (Amounts in thousands)  (Amounts in thousands) 
Total net sales   $          928,812   $        915,939  $         213,601  $       235,628 
         
Non-specialty shell egg sales  718,677  736,968  162,614  186,254 
Specialty shell egg sales   168,785   121,229  43,124  34,706 
Net shell egg sales   $          887,462   $        858,197  $        205,738  $      220,960 
         
Net shell egg sales as a         
percent of total net sales  95%  94%  96%  94% 
         
Non- specialty shell egg dozens sold  670,860  597,496  178,260  145,660 
Specialty shell egg dozens sold  107,025  80,997  26,997  22,584 
Total dozens sold  777,885  678,493  205,257  168,244 
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Our non-specialty shell eggs include all shell egg sales not specifically identified as specialty shell egg sales.   
The non-specialty shell egg market is characterized by an inelasticity of demand, and small increases in production or 
decreases in demand can have a large adverse effect on prices and vice-versa.  In fiscal 2009, non-specialty shell eggs 
represented approximately 81.0% of our shell egg dollar sales, as compared to 85.8% for fiscal 2008.   Sales of non-
specialty shell eggs accounted for approximately 86.2% of our total shell egg dozen volumes in fiscal 2009, as compared 
to 88.0% in fiscal 2008. 

 
For the thirteen-week period ended May 30, 2009, non-specialty shell eggs represented approximately 79.0% of 

our shell egg dollar sales, as compared to 84.3% for the thirteen-week period ended May 31, 2008.   For the thirteen-
week period ended May 30, 2009, non-specialty shell eggs accounted for approximately 86.8% of the total shell egg 
dozen volume, as compared to 86.6% for the thirteen-week period ended May 31, 2008. 

 
We continue to increase our sales volume of specialty eggs, which include nutritionally enhanced, cage free and 

organic eggs.  Specialty egg retail prices are less cyclical than standard shell egg prices and are generally higher due to 
consumer willingness to pay for the increased benefits from these products.   For fiscal 2009, specialty eggs accounted 
for 19.0% of shell egg dollar sales, as compared to 14.2% in fiscal 2008 and 13.8% of shell egg dozens sold in fiscal 
2008, as compared to 12.0% in fiscal 2008.  They are a rapidly growing part of the shell egg market.  Due to healthier 
eating trends, the volume of specialty eggs continues to increase.   From fiscal 2008 to fiscal 2009, the volume of 
specialty eggs sold increased by 32.1%. 

 
For the thirteen-week period ended May 30, 2009, specialty shell eggs represented approximately 21.0% of our 

shell egg dollar sales, as compared to 15.7% for the thirteen-week period ended May 31, 2008.   For the thirteen-week 
period ended May 30, 2009, specialty shell eggs accounted for approximately 13.2% of the total shell egg dozen volume, 
as compared to 13.4% for the thirteen-week period ended May 31, 2008. 

 
 For fiscal 2009 our egg product sales were $33.9 million, a decrease of $8.9 million or 20.8%, as compared to 
$42.8 million for fiscal 2008.  Our volume of egg products sold was unchanged at 57.4 million pounds, for fiscal 2009 
and fiscal 2008.  Egg products are primarily sold into the institutional and food service sectors, and the sizeable decrease 
in egg products sales is attributable to the declines in these sectors.  This led to a decline in the wholesale price of egg 
products.   Our consolidated net sales include the sales of egg products by American Egg Products, LLC (“AEP”) and 
Texas Egg Products, LLC (“TEP”).  For fiscal 2009, egg product sales for AEP were $19.6 million, as compared to $25.5 
million for fiscal 2008, a decrease of $5.9 million, or 23.1%.  For AEP the volume of egg products sold for fiscal 2009 
was 34.0 million pounds, a decrease of 2.6 million pounds, or 7.1%, as compared to 36.6 million pounds for fiscal 2008. 
The egg product sales for TEP in fiscal 2009 were $14.3 million, as compared to $17.3 million for fiscal 2008, a decrease 
of $3.0 million. For TEP the volume of egg products sold for fiscal 2009 was 23.4 million pounds, an increase of 2.6 
million pounds, or 12.5%, as compared to 20.8 million pounds for fiscal 2008.   As described in note 1 to the 
consolidated financial statements, TEP is a variable interest entity of which the Company is the primary beneficiary.   

 
 Cost of Sales.  

 
The following table presents the key variables affecting our cost of sales. 
 

 
Fiscal Years Ended 

(52 weeks) 
 Quarter Ended 

(13 weeks) 
 May 30, 2009  May 31, 2008  May 30, 2009  May 31, 2008 

 (Amounts in thousands)  (Amounts in thousands) 
Cost of sales $       724,085  $       617,383  $       175,694  $        163,586 
        
Dozens produced           598,042          535,216  161,082  128,950 
Dozens purchased outside           179,843          143,277  44,175  39,294 
     Dozens sold           777,885          678,493  205,257  168,244 
        
Feed cost (price per dozen produced ) $           .391  $           .334  $               .376  $               .424 
Farm production cost (price per dozen produced) $           .609  $           .524  $               .593  $               .596 
Outside egg purchases (average price paid per dozen) $         1.114  $         1.273  $               .990  $             1.323 
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Cost of sales consists of costs directly related to production and processing of shell eggs, including feed costs, 
and purchases of shell eggs from outside egg producers. Cost of sales for the fiscal year ended May 30, 2009 was 
$724.1 million, an increase of $106.7 million, or 17.3%, as compared to cost of sales of  $617.4 million for fiscal 2008. 
On a comparable basis, dozens produced increased, dozens purchased from outside shell egg producers increased and 
cost of feed ingredients increased in fiscal 2009. The cost of the shell eggs purchased from outside producers increased 
due to the volume of shell eggs purchased from outside shell egg producers.   This fiscal year we produced 77% of the 
eggs sold by us, as compared to 79% for the previous year. Feed cost for fiscal 2009 was $.391 per dozen, compared to 
$.334 per dozen for the prior fiscal year, an increase of 17.1%.  Our average egg selling prices did not offset the increase 
in feed ingredient costs and higher costs incurred for egg purchases from outside egg producers, resulting in a decrease in 
gross profit from 32.6% of net sales for fiscal 2008 to 22.0% of net sales for fiscal 2009. 
 
 On a comparable basis, excluding the Acquisitions, cost of sales for fiscal 2009 was $656.7 million, an increase 
of $39.3 million, or 6.4%, as compared to cost of sales of $617.4 million for fiscal 2008. 
 
 Cost of sales for the thirteen-week period ended May 30, 2009 was $175.7 million, an increase of $12.1 million, 
or 7.4%, as compared to cost of sales of $163.6 million for the thirteen-week period ended May 31, 2008.  On a 
comparable basis, excluding the Acquisitions, cost of sales for the thirteen-week period ended May 30, 2009 was 
$150.6 million, a decrease of $13.0 million, or 7.9%, as compared to cost of sales of $163.6 million for the thirteen-week 
period ended May 31, 2008.   
 

 Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. 
 

Fiscal Years Ended 
(52 weeks) 

Actual Less: Acquisitions Net     
May 30, 2009 May 30, 2009 May 30, 2009 May 31, 2008 Change 

Category (Amounts in thousands) 
Stock compensation expense  $                    495  $                      -   $               495  $            7,071   $              (6,576) 
Specialty egg expenses 18,879                   2,663       16,216                12,639                3,577  
Payroll and overhead                       19,220                   2,132             17,088                16,758                   330 
Other expenses                       17,951                   3,845             14,106                16,748                   (2,642) 
Delivery expense                       26,708                   4,608             22,100                21,703                     397 
Total  $                 83,253  $             13,248  $         70,005  $          74,919   $             (4,914) 

 
 Selling, general and administrative expenses include costs of marketing, distribution, accounting and corporate 
overhead.  Selling, general and administrative expense was $83.3 million in fiscal 2009, an increase of $8.4 million or 
11.2%, as compared to $74.9 million for fiscal 2008. Excluding the Acquisitions, selling, general, and administrative 
expense for fiscal 2009 was $70.0 million, a decrease of $4.9 million, or 6.5%, as compared to $74.9 million for fiscal 
2008.   Stock based compensation plans expense decreased $6.6 million for the current fiscal year due mainly to a 
decrease in the closing price of the Company’s common stock.  The calculation of the stock based compensation plans 
expense is dependent on the closing stock price of the Company’s common stock, which decreased from $31.20 at 
May 31, 2008 to 24.37 at May 30, 2009, which is a 21.9% decline in the Company’s stock price.   Specialty egg 
expenses represent advertising, commissions, and franchise fees as they are incurred with sales of our specialty 
eggs.   The expense increase is attributable to the increase in the dozens of specialty eggs sold this year as compared to 
last fiscal year.    Payroll and overhead expenses increased primarily due to an increase in the cost of employee benefits 
which includes health insurance.   There was also a slight increase in salaries and wages.  Other selling, general, and 
administrative expenses decreased primarily due to a decrease in our insurance costs.  Our delivery expenses for the 
current thirteen-week period remained relatively unchanged.   As a percent of net sales, selling, general and 
administrative expense increased from 8.2% for fiscal 2008 to 8.9% for fiscal 2009. 
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Fiscal Years Ended 
(13 weeks) 

Actual Less: Acquisitions Net     
May 30, 2009 May 30, 2009 May 30, 2009 May 31, 2008 Change 

Category (Amounts in thousands) 
Stock compensation expense $                         537  $                      -   $               537 $              (368)  $                   905 
Specialty egg expenses 5,179 692 4,487 3,541               946  
Payroll and overhead 5,501 967 4,534 5,178 (644) 
Other expenses 4,658 2,231 2,427 5,939 (3,512) 
Delivery expense 6,863 1,754 5,109 5,709 (600) 
Total $                    22,738 $              5,644  $         17,094 $          19,999  $             (2,905) 

 
 Selling, general and administrative expense was $22.7 million for the thirteen-week period ended May 30, 2009, 
an increase of $2.7 million or 13.5%, as compared to $20.0 million for the thirteen-week period ending May 31, 2008. 
Excluding the Acquisitions, selling, general, and administrative expense for the thirteen-week period ending 
May 30, 2009 was $17.1 million, a decrease of $2.9 million, or 14.5%, as compared to $20.0 million for the thirteen-
week period ending May 31, 2008.  The decrease is primarily attributable to a decrease in our insurance costs.  
 

Operating Income (Loss).   As a result of the above, our operating income was $121.5 million for fiscal 2009, as 
compared to operating income of $223.6 million for fiscal 2008.  The operating income as a percent of sales for fiscal 
2009 was 13.1%, as compared to operating income of 24.4% for fiscal 2008.   
 

Other Income (Expense). Other income or expense consists of income or costs not directly charged or related to 
operations such as equity in income of affiliates and interest expense. Other expense for fiscal 2009 was $464,000 as 
compared to other income of $7.8 million for fiscal 2008, a decrease of $8.2 million. We had higher average long-term 
borrowing balances and our average invested cash balances were lower.  The effect of higher average long-term 
borrowing balances and lower average invested cash balances this fiscal year was an increase in net interest expense.  
Other income decreased due to decreased equity in income of affiliates, which are also in the shell egg business.   Last 
year we recorded a gain on the sale of the fixed assets at our Albuquerque feed mill.  We did not have a similar fixed 
asset sale this fiscal year.  Our net interest expense includes the computation of non-cash interest expense, which is 
imputed on our non-interest bearing obligation to acquire the remaining membership units of Hillandale, LLC over the 
remaining acquisition period culminating with us having a 100% ownership interest in Hillandale, LLC. As a percent of 
net sales, other expense was .1% for fiscal 2009, as compared to other income of .9% for fiscal 2008.   
 

Income Taxes.   For the fiscal year ended, May 30, 2009, our pre-tax income was $121.0 million, as compared to 
$231.4 million for fiscal 2008.  Income tax expense of $41.5 million was recorded for fiscal 2009 with an effective 
income tax rate of 34.3%, as compared to $79.5 million for fiscal 2008 with an effective income tax rate of 34.4%. Our 
effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory income tax rate of 35% due to state income taxes and certain items 
included in income for financial reporting purposes that are not included in taxable income or loss for income tax 
purposes, including tax exempt interest income, certain employee stock option expense and the minority ownership in the 
profits and losses held in consolidated entities.  
 

Net Income.  As a result of the above, net income for fiscal 2009 was $79.5 million, or $3.34 per basic and 
diluted share, as compared to $151.9 million, or $6.41 per basic share and $6.40 per diluted share for fiscal 2008.   
 

Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2008 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended June 2, 2007 
 

Net Sales.  In fiscal 2008, approximately 94% of our net sales consisted of shell egg sales and approximately 5% 
was for sales of egg products, with the 1% balance consisting of sales of incidental feed sales to outside egg producers. 
Net sales for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2008 were $915.9 million, an increase of $317.8 million, or 53.1%, from net 
sales of $598.1 million for fiscal 2007.  In fiscal 2008 total dozens of eggs sold decreased and egg selling prices 
increased as compared to fiscal 2007. In fiscal 2008 total dozens of shell eggs sold were 678.5 million, a decrease of 6.9 
million dozen, or 1.0%, compared to 685.4 million sold in fiscal 2007. Our average selling price of shell eggs increased 
from $.832 per dozen for fiscal 2007 to $1.260 per dozen for fiscal 2008, an increase of $.428 per dozen, or 51.4%.  Our 
operating results are significantly affected by wholesale shell egg market prices, which are outside of our control. Small 
changes in production or demand levels can have a large effect on shell egg prices.  Egg supply has been better balanced 
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with demand resulting in favorable egg market conditions. According to statistics from the USDA, the number of table-
egg laying hens was down from the previous year, which added continued support in balancing supply and demand in the 
shell egg market. An improved balance of supply and demand, led to higher average shell egg selling prices throughout 
the fiscal year ended May 31, 2008, as compared to the previous year.   
 
 The table below represents an analysis of our non-specialty and specialty shell egg sales.  Following the table is a 
discussion of the information presented in the table.     
 

 
 

 
Fiscal Years Ended 

(52 weeks) 
  May 31, 2008  June 2, 2007 
  (Amounts in thousands) 
Total net sales   $          915,939  $         598,128 
     
Non-specialty shell egg sales  736,968  485,058 
Specialty shell egg sales  121,229  86,619 
Net shell egg sales  $          858,197  $        571,677 
     
Net shell egg sales as a     
percent of total net sales  94%  96% 
     
Non- specialty shell egg dozens sold  597,496  626,052 
Specialty shell egg dozens sold  80,997  59,486 
Total dozens sold  678,493  685,538 

 
Our non-specialty shell eggs include all shell egg sales not specifically identified as specialty shell egg sales.   

The non-specialty shell egg market is characterized by an inelasticity of demand, and small increases in production or 
decreases in demand can have a large adverse effect on prices and vice-versa.  In fiscal 2008, non-specialty shell eggs 
represented approximately 86% of our shell egg dollar sales, as compared to 85% for fiscal 2007.   Sales of non-specialty 
shell eggs accounted for approximately 88.0% of our total shell egg dozen volumes in fiscal 2008, as compared to 91.3% 
in fiscal 2007. 

 
Specialty shell eggs include nutritionally enhanced, cage free and organic eggs.  They are a rapidly growing part 

of the shell egg market. In fiscal 2008, specialty shell eggs represented approximately 14% of our shell egg dollar sales, 
as compared to 15% for fiscal 2007. Retail prices for specialty eggs are less cyclical than non-specialty shell egg prices 
and are generally higher due to consumer willingness to pay for the increased benefits from those products. Sales of 
specialty shell eggs accounted for approximately 12.0% of our total shell egg dozen volumes in fiscal 2008, as compared 
to 8.7% in fiscal 2007. Due to healthier eating trends, the volume of specialty eggs continues to increase.   From fiscal 
2007 to fiscal 2008, the volume of specialty eggs sold increased by 36.2%. 

 
 For fiscal 2008 our egg product sales were $42.8 million, an increase of $28.9 million or 207.9%, as compared to 
$13.9 million for fiscal 2007.  Our consolidated net sales include the sales of egg products by AEP and Texas Egg 
Products, LLC.  For fiscal 2008, egg product sales for AEP were $25.5 million, as compared to $13.5 million for fiscal 
2007, an increase of $12.0 million, or 88.9%.  The egg product sales for Texas Egg Products, LLC in fiscal 2008 were 
$17.3 million, as compared to $424,000 for fiscal 2007, an increase of $16.9 million.  As described in note 1 to the 
consolidated financial statements, Texas Egg Products, LLC is a variable interest entity of which the Company is the 
primary beneficiary.  Texas Egg Products, LLC began operations in fiscal 2007, and we consolidated 5 weeks of activity 
for fiscal 2007, as compared to 52 weeks in fiscal 2008. Our net average shell egg selling price is the blended price for all 
sizes and grades of shell eggs, including non-graded shell egg sales, breaking stock and undergrades. 
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Cost of Sales.  
 
 The following table presents the key variables affecting our cost of sales. 
 

 
Fiscal Years Ended 

(52 Weeks) 
 May 31, 2008  June 2, 2007 

 (Amounts in thousands) 
Cost of sales $       617,383  $       479,504 
    
Dozens produced          535,216          535,502 
Dozens purchased outside          143,277          150,036 
     Dozens sold          678,493          685,538 
    
Feed cost (price per dozen produced ) $           .334  $           .252 
Farm production cost (price per dozen produced) $           .524  $           .435 
Outside egg purchases (average price paid per dozen) $         1.273  $           .842 

 
Cost of sales consists of costs directly related to production and processing of shell eggs, including feed costs, 

and purchases of shell eggs from outside egg producers. Cost of sales for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2008 was 
$617.4 million, an increase of $137.9 million, or 28.8%, as compared to cost of sales of  $479.5 million for fiscal 2007. 
On a comparable basis, dozens produced decreased, dozens purchased from outside shell egg producers decreased and 
cost of feed ingredients increased in fiscal 2008. The cost of the shell eggs purchased from outside producers increased 
due to improved egg market selling prices.   For fiscal 2008 we produced 79% of the eggs sold by us, as compared to 
78% for the previous year. Feed cost for fiscal 2008 was $.334 per dozen, compared to $.252 per dozen for the prior 
fiscal year, an increase of 32.5%.  Higher than average egg selling prices, more than offset the increase in feed ingredient 
costs and higher costs of purchases from outside egg producers, resulting in an increase in gross profit from 19.8% of net 
sales for fiscal 2007 to 32.6% of net sales for fiscal 2008. 
 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. 
 

Fiscal Years Ended 
(52 weeks) 

May 31, 2008 June 2, 2007 Change 
Category (Amounts in thousands) 
Stock compensation expense  $            7,071  $            2,309  $          4,762 
Specialty egg expenses                12,639                10,129 2,510 
Payroll and overhead                16,758                14,519 2,239 
Other sga expenses                16,748                12,332 4,416 
Delivery expense                21,703                21,105 598 
Total  $          74,919  $          60,394  $             14,525 

 
  Selling, general and administrative expenses include costs of marketing, distribution, accounting and corporate 
overhead. Selling, general and administrative expense was $74.9 million in fiscal 2008, an increase of $14.5 million as 
compared to $60.4 million for fiscal 2007.   The increase in selling, general, and administrative expenses is primarily 
attributable to increases of $2.3 million in franchise fees for specialty egg sales, $4.8 million in our equity compensation 
plan expense, $2.2 million in administrative payroll expenses, $2.1 million in employee insurance costs, $645,000 for 
commissions paid to egg brokers, with delivery costs slightly up with an increase of $598,000.  The expense recognized 
in connection with our stock based compensation plans is dependent on the price of the Company's common stock, which 
increased from $13.46 at June 2, 2007 to $31.20 at May 31, 2008. Overall, delivery costs increased slightly, due to 
continued reduction in the number of Company long haul trucks and the increased use of contract trucking.  As a percent 
of net sales, selling, general and administrative expense decreased from 10.1% for fiscal 2007 to 8.2% for fiscal 2008. 
 
          Operating Income (Loss).   As a result of the above, our operating income was $223.6 million for fiscal 2008, as 
compared to operating income of $58.2 million for fiscal 2007.  The operating income as a percent of sales for fiscal 
2008 was 24.4%, as compared to operating income of 9.7% for fiscal 2007.   
 



 27  

Other Income (Expense). Other income or expense consists of income or costs not directly charged or related to 
operations such as equity in income of affiliates and interest expense. Other income for fiscal 2008 was $7.8 million as 
compared to other expense of $2.0 million for fiscal 2007, an increase of $9.8 million. We had lower average long-term 
borrowing balances and higher invested cash balances, which decreased net interest expense.  Other income increased 
due to increased equity in income of affiliates, which are also in the shell egg business.   Gains recorded on the sale of 
property, plant, & equipment, which includes the sale of our feed mill in Albuquerque, NM, also increased other income. 
Our net interest expense includes the computation of non-cash interest expense, which is imputed on our non-interest 
bearing obligation to acquire the remaining membership units of Hillandale, LLC over the remaining acquisition period 
culminating with us having a 100% ownership interest in Hillandale, LLC. As a percent of net sales, other income was 
.9% for fiscal 2008, as compared to other expense of .3% for fiscal 2007.   
 

Income Taxes.   For the fiscal year ended, May 31, 2008, our pre-tax income was $231.4 million, as compared to 
$56.3 million for fiscal 2007.  Income tax expense of $79.5 million was recorded for fiscal 2008 with an effective income 
tax rate of 34.4%, as compared to $19.6 million for fiscal 2007 with an effective income tax rate of 34.8%. Our effective 
tax rate differs from the federal statutory income tax rate of 35% due to state income taxes and certain items included in 
income for financial reporting purposes that are not included in taxable income or loss for income tax purposes, including 
tax exempt interest income, certain employee stock option expense and the minority ownership in the profits and losses 
held in consolidated entities.  
 

Net Income.  As a result of the above, net income for fiscal 2008 was $151.9 million, or $6.41 per basic share 
and $6.40 per diluted share, as compared to $36.7 million, or $1.56 per basic share and $1.55 per diluted share for fiscal 
2007.   
 

 Capital Resources and Liquidity.  Our working capital at May 30, 2009 was $138.0 million compared to 
$121.6 million at May 31, 2008. Our current ratio was 2.33 at May 30, 2009 as compared with 2.18 at May 31, 2008. 
Our need for working capital generally is highest in the last and first fiscal quarters ending in May and August, 
respectively, when egg prices are normally at seasonal lows.  Seasonal borrowing needs frequently are higher during 
these quarters than during other fiscal quarters. We have a $40 million line of credit with three banks, $3.9 million of 
which was utilized for standby letters of credit at May 30, 2009.  Our long-term debt at May 30, 2009, including current 
maturities, amounted to $129.8 million, as compared to $97.2 million at May 31, 2008. 
 

For the fiscal year ended May 30, 2009, $111.3 million in net cash was provided by operating activities. This 
compares to $158.4 million of net cash provided for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2008.  For fiscal 2009, $21.5 million 
was used for the purchase of short-term investments, $15.4 million was provided from the sale of short-term investments, 
and net $778,000 was provided from notes receivable and other investments.  Approximately $128,000 was provided 
from disposal of property, plant and equipment, $26.1 million was used for purchases of property, plant and equipment 
and $14.6 million was used for an additional acquisition of the Hillandale business.  We used $29.6 million for the 
acquisition of Zephyr Egg, LLC, and $61.6 million for the acquisition of Tampa Farm, LLC.  Approximately 
$35.3 million was used for payments of dividends on the common stock, and $23.0 million was used for principal 
payments on long-term debt. We received $427,000 from the issuance of common stock from the treasury through the 
exercise of stock options.  Approximately $55.7 million was received from additional long-term borrowings. The net 
result of these activities was a decrease in cash and cash equivalents of approximately $28.0 million. 

 
For the fiscal year ended May 31, 2008, $158.4 million in net cash was provided by operating activities. This 

compares to $59.7 million of net cash provided for the fiscal year ended June 2, 2007.  In fiscal 2008, $31.7 million was 
used for purchases of property, plant and equipment, which includes $14.6 million in expenditures in connection with 
construction of our facilities in Farwell, TX.  Net cash of $2.7 million was used for investments and $531,000 received 
on notes receivable.  In fiscal 2008, we received $2.5 million from the disposal of property, plant and equipment.  As part 
of our stock option plan, approximately $626,000 was received for sales of common stock from the treasury, and 
$19.7 million was used for payments of dividends on our common stock. Payments of $15.7 million were made on long-
term debt.  In accord with the Hillandale, LLC purchase agreement, we made payments of $12.5 million on our long-
term purchase obligation. The net result was an increase in cash and cash equivalents of approximately $79.8 million. 
 



 28  

Substantially all trade receivables, auction rate securities and inventories collateralize our lines of credit and 
property, plant and equipment collateralize our notes payable and senior secured notes. Unless otherwise approved by 
our lenders, we are required by provisions of our loan agreements to (1) maintain minimum levels of working capital 
(ratio of not less than 1.25 to 1) and net worth (minimum of $90.0 million tangible net worth, plus 45% of cumulative net 
income); (2) limit dividends paid in any given quarter to not exceed an amount equal to one third of the previous 
quarter’s consolidated net income (allowed if no events of default), capital expenditures not to exceed $60,000,000 in 
any twelve month period, lease obligations and additional long-term borrowings (total funded debt to total capitalization 
not to exceed 55%); and (3) maintain various current and cash-flow coverage ratios (1.25 to 1), among other restrictions. 
At May 30, 2009, we were in compliance with the financial covenant requirements of all loan agreements. Under certain 
of the loan agreements, the lenders have the option to require the prepayment of any outstanding borrowings in the event 
we undergo a change in control, as defined.  Our debt agreements also require the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company, or his family, to maintain ownership of not less than 50% of the outstanding voting stock of the Company. 

 
Under the terms of our Agreement with Hillandale and the Hillandale shareholders, a new Florida limited 

liability company named Hillandale, LLC was formed. In fiscal 2006, we purchased 51% of the Units of Membership in 
Hillandale, LLC for cash of approximately $27.0 million, with the remaining Units to be acquired in essentially equal 
annual installments over a four-year period. The purchase price of the Units is equal to their book value as calculated in 
accordance with the terms of the Agreement. In fiscal 2007, we purchased, pursuant to the Agreement, an additional 13% 
of the Units of Membership for $6.1 million from our cash balances. In fiscal 2008, we purchased an additional 12% of 
the Units of Membership for $6.8 million from our cash balances. During fiscal 2008, an additional payment of 
$5.7 million was paid on the purchase obligation.  During fiscal 2009, we purchased an additional 12% of the Units of 
Membership for $9.2 million from our cash balances.  During fiscal 2009, we made additional payments totaling 
$5.4 million on the purchase obligation. We have recorded the obligation to acquire the remaining 12% at its estimated 
present value of $8.4 million at May 30, 2009. The actual remaining purchase price may be higher or lower when the 
acquisitions are completed. Future funding is expected to be provided by our cash balances and borrowings under our 
existing credit facilities.  

 
Capital expenditure requirements are expected to be for the normal repair and replacement of our facilities. We 

are constructing a new integrated layer production complex in Farwell, TX to replace our Albuquerque, New Mexico 
complex, which ceased egg production in fiscal 2007. The expected cost is approximately $30.0 million. Completion of 
this facility was estimated to be in January 2010. As of May 30, 2009 capital expenditures related to construction of this 
complex totaled $27.2 million.  The remaining future capital expenditures will be funded by cash flows from operations, 
existing lines of credit and additional long-term borrowings.   

 
On July 9, 2009 the Company’s egg complex in Farwell, Texas, was damaged by a fire.  The 700 acre facility 

includes a processing plant, feed mill, two pullet houses, and nine layer houses.  The fire completely destroyed four of 
the nine layer houses, with additional loss of laying hens at a fifth house due to smoke inhalation.  There were no 
personal injuries and minimal physical damage was sustained to the rest of the complex.   

 
Prior to the fire, the Farwell complex could house up to 1.5 million laying hens and accounted for approximately 

three to four percent of the Company’s weekly production.  This facility, as well as all of the Company’s other facilities, 
are fully insured for their replacement value, including the estimated loss of production.  It is too early to estimate the 
total amount of gain or loss that will ultimately be recognized due to this fire. Based on preliminary estimates, the 
Company has determined that the net book value of plant, and equipment lost due to this casualty is approximately 
$6.8 million.  The Company believes that this will have minimal financial impact on our operations and do not expect 
any long-term disruption to our customers.   Due to this casualty, estimated completion time for this facility will 
probably be delayed by an additional year to January 2011. 

 
Delta Egg Farm, LLC, an unconsolidated affiliate, is constructing an organic egg production and distribution 

facility near our Chase, Kansas location. The cost of construction is estimated to be approximately $13.0 million.  In 
connection with this project, we are a pro rata guarantor, with the other Delta Egg Farm, LLC owners, of additional debt 
undertaken to fund construction of this facility. We are currently a guarantor of approximately $6.9 million of long-term 
debt of Delta Egg Farm, LLC. 
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On August 8, 2008, UBS agreed to a settlement in principle with the Securities and Exchange Commission, the 
New York Attorney General, the Massachusetts Securities Division, the Texas State Securities Board and other state 
regulatory agencies represented by the North American Securities Administrators Association to restore liquidity to all 
remaining UBS clients who hold auction rate securities.   On November 3, 2008, we agreed to accept Auction Rate 
Security Rights (the “Rights”) from UBS offered through a UBS prospectus dated October 7, 2008.   The Rights permit 
us to sell, or put, our auction rate securities back to UBS at par value at any time during the period from June 30, 2010 
through July 2, 2012.  We expect to exercise our Rights and put our auction rate securities back to UBS on June 30, 
2010, the earliest date allowable under the Rights. 

 
By accepting the Rights, we can no longer assert that we have the intent to hold the auction rate securities until 

anticipated recovery. Accordingly, we have classified our investments in auction rate securities as trading securities, as 
defined by FAS No. 115, on the date of our acceptance of the Rights. As a result, we are required to record these 
securities at fair value each period until the Rights are exercised and the auction rate securities are redeemed. At May 30, 
2009 the fair value of our auction rate securities was $2.8 million below par value of which the entire amount has been 
charged to operations in fiscal 2009. Because we will be permitted to put the auction rate securities back to UBS at par 
value, we have accounted for the Rights as a separate asset that is measured at its fair value, resulting in gains in fiscal 
2009 in an amount equal to the loss recognized on the auction rate securities. Although the Rights represent the right to 
sell the securities back to UBS at par, we will periodically assess the economic ability of UBS to meet that obligation in 
assessing the fair value of the Rights. We will continue to classify the auction rate securities and the related Rights as 
long-term investments until June 30, 2009, one year prior to the expected settlement. 

 
Since our last fiscal year, ended May 31, 2008, we have liquidated two of our auction rate securities at par. On 

July 10, 2008, we liquidated one auction rate security at par value for $4.5 million with accrued interest after this security 
was called by the original issuer. On January 30, 2009, UBS redeemed a $4.5 million auction rate security at par with 
accrued interest after this security was called by the issuer.  

 
The Company entered into and borrowed proceeds under a revolving line of credit with UBS.   This revolving 

line of credit is collateralized by auction rate securities in our account with UBS.  As of May 30, 2009, the balance owed 
under this revolving line of credit was $25.2 million.  This revolving line of credit is a net no cost loan.   Thus, the 
interest expense on this revolving line of credit is equal to the interest income we receive on the auction rate securities 
held in our account.   This loan becomes due and payable as the auction rate securities are liquidated.    Attributable to 
this payback feature, we have classified the entire amount owed under this revolving line of credit as long-term debt, 
since the auction rate securities that collateralize this debt are correspondingly classified as long-term assets. 

 
Assets measured at fair value 

 
Effective June 1, 2008, we adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement No. 157, “Fair 

Value Measurements” (“FAS 157”). FAS 157 establishes a single authoritative definition of fair value, sets out a 
framework for measuring fair value, and expands on required disclosures about fair value measurement.   

  
The adoption of FAS 157 for our financial assets and financial liabilities did not have a material impact on our 

financial statements.   FAS 157 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (exit price). Valuation techniques 
used to measure fair value under FAS 157 must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs. FAS 157 classifies the inputs used to measure fair value into the following hierarchy: 

  
Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

   
Level 2 - Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not
active, or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability. 

  

  
Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability that are supported by little or no market activity 
and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. 
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 Level 2 
 
 We classified our current investment securities – available-for-sale as level 2.   These securities consist of pre-
funded municipal bonds and certificates of deposit with maturities of three to six months, when purchased.   Due to the 
nature of these securities they are reported at cost, which approximates fair value based upon quoted prices for similar 
assets in active markets.  Observable inputs for these securities are yields, credit risks, default rates, and volatility.  
 
 Level 3 
 
 We classified our long-term investment securities – trading, which consist of auction rate securities, as level 3.  
Our auction rate securities consist of two types: formulaic muni auction rate securities and student loan auction rate 
securities.   The formulaic muni auction rate securities are municipal securities whose maximum rates are generally 
based on an index multiplied by a percentage (which is based on the rating of the security).   The student loan auction 
rate securities are securities issued by student loan trusts.  
 
 For the formulaic muni auction rate securities, the observable inputs include credit risk, and yields or spreads of 
fixed rate municipal bonds issued by the same or comparable issuers.  The unobservable input for the formulaic muni 
auction rate securities is the assessment of the likelihood of redemption.  For the student loan auction rate securities, the 
observable inputs  include, tax status, credit risk, duration, insurance wraps, and the portfolio composition, future cash 
flows based on maximum rate formulas, and estimates of observable market data including yields or spreads of trading 
instruments that are similar of comparable.  The unobservable input for the student loan auction rate securities are the 
likelihood of redemption.  Due to the combination of observable and unobservable inputs, we believe that level 3 is the 
proper classification.  

 
In February 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 159, "Establishing the Fair Value Option for Financial 

Assets and Liabilities" (“FAS 159”), to permit all entities to choose to elect to measure eligible financial instruments at 
fair value. We adopted FAS 159 effective June 1, 2008.   We have elected the fair value option for our Auction Rate 
Security Rights.  We agreed to accept these Auction Rate Security Rights from UBS on November 3, 2008.    

 
We currently have a $1.6 million deferred tax liability due to a subsidiary's change from a cash basis to an 

accrual basis taxpayer on May 29, 1988. The Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997 provides that this liability is payable ratably 
over the 20 years beginning in fiscal 1999. However, such taxes will be due in their entirety in the first fiscal year in 
which there is a change in ownership control so that we no longer qualify as a family farming corporation. We are 
currently making annual payments of approximately $150 related to this liability. However, while these current payments 
reduce cash balances, payment of the $1.6 million deferred tax liability would not impact our consolidated statement of 
income or stockholders' equity, as these taxes have been accrued and are reflected on our consolidated balance sheet.  

 
Looking forward, we believe that our current cash balances, borrowing capacity, utilization of our revolving line 

of credit, and cash flows from operations are sufficient to fund our current and projected capital needs in light of the 
disruptions in the financial markets.  These disruptions in the financial markets include among other things, extreme 
volatility in securities prices, severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, rating downgrades of certain 
investments and declining valuations of others. In light of the current tightening of credit in the financial markets, we 
might suffer adverse affects in so far as our ability to secure financing in the future, including, if necessary, to fund a 
strategic acquisition, and our ability to refinance any of our long-term debt. 

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 
The Company owns 50% of the membership interest in Delta Egg Farm, LLC (“Delta Egg”). The Company is a 

guarantor of 50% of Delta Egg's long-term debt, which totaled approximately $13.8 million at May 30, 2009.  Delta 
Egg's long-term debt is secured by substantially all fixed assets of Delta Egg and is due in monthly installments through 
fiscal 2018.  Delta Egg is engaged in the production, processing and distribution of shell eggs.  The other 50% owner 
also guarantees 50% of the debt.  The guarantee arose when Delta Egg borrowed funds to construct its production and 
processing facility in 1999.  The guarantee would be required if Delta Egg is not able to pay the debt.  Management of 
the Company believes this possibility is unlikely because Delta Egg is now well capitalized.  On July 11, 2008, this debt 
was refinanced for a term of ten years.  There were additional borrowings under this refinancing due to the construction 
of an organic egg production and distribution facility near, Chase, Kansas costing approximately $13.0 million.   
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 Contractual Obligations                 
 

The following table summarizes future estimated cash payments, in thousands, to be made under existing 
contractual obligations. Further information on debt obligations is contained in Note 7, and on lease obligations in 
Note 6, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The table includes the obligation incurred by us for the Hillandale 
acquisition, which is subject to change, because the exact amounts of which are to be determined under the terms of the 
Agreement. At the closing of the Hillandale transaction on October 12, 2005, we purchased 51% of the Units of 
Membership in Hillandale, LLC.  In August 2006, in accordance with the Agreement, we purchased, for $6.1 million, an 
additional 13% of the Units of Hillandale, LLC based on their book value as of July 29, 2006.  In August 2007, we 
purchased, for $6.8 million, an additional 12% of the Units of Hillandale, LLC based on their book value as of July 28, 
2007.  During fiscal 2008, an additional payment of $5.7 million was paid on the purchase obligation.  In August 2008, 
we purchased, for $9.2 million, an additional 12% of the Units of Hillandale, LLC based on their book value as of July 
26, 2008.  During fiscal 2009, additional payments totaling $5.4 million were paid on the purchase obligation.  Our 
ownership of Hillandale, LLC currently is 88%. Our obligation to acquire the remaining 12% of Hillandale, LLC is 
recorded at its present value of $8.4 million as of May 30, 2009, which is included in current liabilities in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheet.    We will purchase the remaining 12% of Hillandale LLC based on the book 
value of the Membership Units as of July 25, 2009.   
 

 Total   2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Over 5 years 
Long-term debt $  129,789 $   13,806  $  36,784 $   9,960 $  10,066  $   9,430 $   49,743 
Purchase obligation 8,400 8,400 - - - - - 
Operating leases 7,990 2,659 1,718 1,165 977 449 1,022 
Total $ 146,179   $  24,865 $ 38,502 $ 11,125 $ 11,043 $ 9,879 $ 50,765 

 
  Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards.                      
 

Adopted 

Effective June 1, 2008, we adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement No. 157, “Fair 
Value Measurements” (“FAS 157”). FAS 157 establishes a single authoritative definition of fair value, sets out a 
framework for measuring fair value, and expands on required disclosures about fair value measurement.  In February 
2008, FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157” which provides a one-
year deferral of the effective date of FAS 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities except those that are 
recognized or disclosed in the financial statements at fair value at least annually. 

 The adoption of FAS 157 for our financial assets and financial liabilities did not have a material impact on our 
financial statements.  We are currently evaluating the effect that the implementation of this standard for nonfinancial 
assets and nonfinancial liabilities will have on our financial statements upon full adoption in 2009. FAS 157 defines fair 
value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date (exit price). Valuation techniques used to measure fair value under FAS 157 
must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. FAS 157 classifies the inputs 
used to measure fair value into the following hierarchy: 

• Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  

• Level 2 - Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not 
active, or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability.  

• Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.  

Our financial assets consisted of current investment securities available-for-sale at May 30, 2009 which we 
consider to be classified as Level 2 and our long-term investment securities classified as trading which we consider to be 
classified as Level 3. 

In February 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 159, "Establishing the Fair Value Option for Financial 
Assets and Liabilities" (“FAS 159”), to permit all entities to choose to elect to measure eligible financial instruments at 
fair value. We adopted FAS 159 effective June 1, 2008.   We have elected the fair value option for our Auction Rate 
Security Rights.  We agreed to accept these Auction Rate Security Rights from UBS on November 3, 2008. 
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Not Yet Adopted 
 
In December 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 141 (Revised 2007), or (R), “Business Combinations” 

(“FAS 141(R)”). FAS 141(R) retained the fundamental requirements in FAS 141 that the acquisition method of 
accounting (which FAS 141 called the purchase method) be used for all business combinations and for an acquirer to be 
identified or each business combination.  FAS 141(R), which is broader in scope than that of FAS 141, which applied 
only to business combinations in which control was obtained by transferring consideration, applies the same method of 
accounting (the acquisition method) to all transactions and other events in which one entity obtains control over one or 
more other businesses. FAS 141(R) also makes certain other modifications to FAS 141. This statement applies 
prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual 
reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008, which will begin with our 2010 fiscal year. Earlier adoption is 
prohibited.  The Company is currently assessing the effect FAS 141(R) may have on its consolidated results of 
operations and financial position. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated 
Financial Statements- An amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin (“ARB”) (“FAS 160”).” FAS 160 amends ARB 
No. 51 to establish accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the 
deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary, which is sometimes referred to 
as minority interest, is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the 
consolidated financial statements. Among other requirements, this statement requires consolidated net income to be 
reported at amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest. It also 
requires disclosure, on the face of the consolidated income statement, of the amounts of consolidated net income 
attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest. FAS 160 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods 
within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008, which will begin with our 2010 fiscal year. Earlier 
adoption is prohibited. The Company is currently assessing the effect FAS 160 may have on its consolidated results of 
operations and financial position. 

In April 2008, the FASB posted FASB Staff Position No. FAS 142-3, Determination of the Useful Life of 
Intangible Assets (“FSP FAS 142-3”), which applies to recognized intangible assets that are accounted for pursuant to 
SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. FSP FAS 142-3 amends the factors an entity must consider when 
developing renewal or extension assumptions used in determining the useful life of a recognized intangible asset. It also 
requires entities to provide certain disclosures about its assumptions. FSP FAS 142-3 is effective for financial statements 
issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years.  This statement is 
effective for the Company in fiscal 2010. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of these 
requirements on its financial statements.  

In June 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position EITF 03-6-1, “Determining Whether Instruments Granted in 
Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities” (“FSP EITF 03-6-1”). Under the FSP, unvested share-
based payment awards that contain rights to receive nonforfeitable dividends (whether paid or unpaid) are participating 
securities, and should be included in the two-class method of computing EPS. The FSP is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those years. This statement is effective for the Company 
in fiscal 2010. The Company does not expect the adoption of FSP EITF 03-6-1 to have a material effect on its 
consolidated financial statements.  

In May 2009, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 165, “Subsequent Events” (“FAS 165”). FAS 165 
establishes general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before 
financial statements are issued.  This statement does not apply to subsequent events or transactions that are within the 
scope of other applicable generally accepted accounting principles that provide different guidance on the accounting 
treatment for subsequent events or transactions. FAS 165 would apply to both interim financial statements and annual 
financial statements and should not result in significant changes in the subsequent events that are reported. FAS 165 
introduces the concept of financial statements being available to be issued. It requires the disclosure of the date through 
which a Company has evaluated subsequent events and the basis for that date, whether that represents the date the 
financial statements were issued or were available to be issued. FAS 165 should alert all users of financial statements that 
an entity has not evaluated subsequent events after that date in the set of financial statements being presented. This 
statement is effective for interim or annual reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009, which corresponds to the 
Company’s first quarter of fiscal 2010.  
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In June 2009, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 167 “Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R)” 
(“FAS 167”). FAS 167 is a revision to FASB Interpretation No. 46 (Revised December 2003), Consolidation of Variable 
Interest Entities, and changes how a reporting entity determines when an entity that is insufficiently capitalized or is not 
controlled through voting (or similar rights) should be consolidated. The determination of whether a reporting entity is 
required to consolidate another entity is based on, among other things, the other entity’s purpose and design and the 
reporting entity’s ability to direct the activities of the other entity that most significantly impact the other entity’s 
economic performance. FAS 167 will require a reporting entity to provide additional disclosures about its involvement 
with variable interest entities and any significant changes in risk exposure due to that involvement. A reporting entity 
will be required to disclose how its involvement with a variable interest entity affects the reporting entity’s financial 
statements. FAS 167 will be effective at the start of a reporting entity’s first fiscal year beginning after November 15, 
2009. This statement is effective for the Company in fiscal 2011.  Early application is not permitted. The Company is 
currently evaluating the impact, if any, of adoption of FAS 167 on its financial statements.  

In June 2009, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 168 “The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the 
Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles – A Replacement of FASB Statement No. 162” (“FAS 168”). 
FAS 168 establishes the FASB Accounting Standards CodificationTM (Codification) as the single source of authoritative 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP) recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental 
entities. Rules and interpretive releases of the SEC under authority of federal securities laws are also sources of 
authoritative U.S. GAAP for SEC registrants. FAS 168 and the Codification are effective for financial statements issued 
for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009, which corresponds to the Company’s second quarter of 
fiscal 2010. When effective, the Codification will supersede all existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards. All 
other non-grandfathered non-SEC accounting literature not included in the Codification will become nonauthoritative. 
Following FAS 168, the FASB will not issue new standards in the form of Statements, FASB Staff Positions, or 
Emerging Issues Task Force Abstracts. Instead, the FASB will issue Accounting Standards Updates, which will serve 
only to: (a) update the Codification; (b) provide background information about the guidance; and (c) provide the bases 
for conclusions on the change(s) in the Codification. The adoption of FAS 168 will not have an impact on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements.     

Critical Accounting Policies.     The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
 

Management suggests that our Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, as described in Note 1 of the Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements, be read in conjunction with this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations. We believe the critical accounting policies that most impact our 
consolidated financial statements are described below. 
 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.    In the normal course of business, we extend credit to our customers on a 
short-term basis.  Although credit risks associated with our customers are considered minimal, we routinely review our 
accounts receivable balances and make provisions for probable doubtful accounts. In circumstances where management 
is aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations to us (e.g. bankruptcy filings), a specific 
reserve is recorded to reduce the receivable to the amount expected to be collected.  For all other customers, we 
recognize reserves for bad debts based on the length of time the receivables are past due, generally 100% for amounts 
more than 60 days past due. 
 

Inventories.     Inventories of eggs, feed, supplies and livestock are valued principally at the lower of cost (first-
in, first-out method) or market.  If market prices for eggs and feed grains move substantially lower, we would record 
adjustments to write-down the carrying values of eggs and feed inventories to fair market value. The cost associated with 
flock inventories, consisting principally of chick purchases, feed, labor, contractor payments and overhead costs, are 
accumulated during the growing period of approximately 22 weeks.  Capitalized flock costs are then amortized over the 
productive lives of the flocks, generally one to two years.  Flock mortality is charged to cost of sales as incurred.  High 
mortality from disease or extreme temperatures would result in abnormal adjustments to write-down flock inventories.  
Management continually monitors each flock and attempts to take appropriate actions to minimize the risk of mortality 
loss. 
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Long-Lived Assets.  Depreciable long-lived assets are primarily comprised of buildings and improvements and 
machinery and equipment.  Depreciation is provided by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives, which 
are 15 to 25 years for buildings and improvements and 3 to 12 years for machinery and equipment.  An increase or 
decrease in the estimated useful lives would result in changes to depreciation expense.  When property and equipment are 
retired, sold, or otherwise disposed of, the asset's carrying amount and related accumulated depreciation are removed 
from the accounts and any gain or loss is included in operations. We continually reevaluate the carrying value of our 
long-lived assets, for events or changes in circumstances, which indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable 
from the estimated future cash flows expected to result from its use and eventual disposition.  If the sum of the expected 
future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) are less than the carrying amount of the asset, an 
impairment loss is recognized to reduce the carrying value of the long-lived asset to the estimated fair value of the asset. 
 

Investment in Affiliates.  We have invested in other companies engaged in the production, processing and 
distribution of shell eggs and egg products.  Our ownership percentages in these companies range from less than 20% to 
50%.  Therefore, these investments are recorded using the cost or the equity method, and accordingly, not consolidated in 
our financial statements.  Changes in the ownership percentages of these investments might alter the accounting methods 
currently used. Our investment in these companies amounted to $16.4 million at May 30, 2009. The combined total 
assets and total liabilities of these companies were approximately $100.3 million and $55.0 million, respectively, at May 
30, 2009. We are a guarantor of approximately $6.9 million of long-term debt of one of the affiliates. 
 

Goodwill.   At May 30, 2009, our goodwill balance represented 3.9% of total assets and 6.8% of stockholders’ 
equity.  Goodwill relates to the following: 
 

Fiscal Period  Description  Amount 
1999  Acquisition of Hudson Brothers, Inc.  $               3,147 
2006  Acquisition of Hillandale Farms, LLC   869 
2007  Acquisition of Green Forest Foods, LLC  179 
2008  Revision to purchase price for incremental purchase of Hillandale  9,257 
2009  Revision to purchase price for incremental purchase of Hillandale  2,527 
2009  Acquisition of Zephyr Egg, LLC  1,876 
2009  Acquisition of Tampa Farms, LLC  4,600 

  Total Goodwill  $            22,455 
 

We adopted, as of June 3, 2001, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets” (SFAS 142).  Under SFAS 142, goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets are no longer 
amortized but are reviewed annually or more frequently if impairment indicators arise, for impairment.  An impairment 
loss would be recorded if the recorded goodwill exceeds its implied fair value. We have only one operating segment, 
which is our sole reporting unit.  Accordingly, goodwill is tested for impairment at the entity level.  Significant adverse 
industry or economic changes, or other factors not anticipated could result in an impairment charge to reduce recorded 
goodwill. 
 

Income Taxes.  We determine our effective tax rate by estimating our permanent differences resulting from 
differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes.  We are periodically audited by taxing authorities.  Any 
audit adjustments affecting permanent differences could have an impact on our effective tax rate. 
 

Forward Looking Statements.  The foregoing statements contain forward-looking statements which involve 
risks and uncertainties and our actual experience may differ materially from that discussed above.  Factors that may 
cause such a difference include, but are not limited to, those discussed in “Factors Affecting Future Performance” below, 
as well as future events that have the effect of reducing our available cash balances, such as unanticipated operating 
losses or capital expenditures related to possible future acquisitions.  Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance 
on forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s analysis only as the date hereof.  We assume no obligation 
to update forward-looking statements. 
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Factors Affecting Future Performance.  Our future operating results may be affected by various trends and 
factors which are beyond our control.  These include adverse changes in shell egg prices and in the grain markets.  
Accordingly, past trends should not be used to anticipate future results and trends.  Further, our prior performance should 
not be presumed to be an accurate indication of future performance. 
 

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS                 
 

Our interest expense is sensitive to changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates.  We maintain certain of our 
debt as fixed rate in nature to mitigate the impact of fluctuations in interest rates.  Under our current policies, we do not 
use interest rate derivative instruments to manage our exposure to interest rate changes.  A 1% adverse move (decrease) 
in interest rates would adversely affect the net fair value of our debt by $4.3 million at May 30, 2009.   
 

On August 8, 2008, UBS agreed to a settlement in principle with the Securities and Exchange Commission, the 
New York Attorney General, the Massachusetts Securities Division, the Texas State Securities Board and other state 
regulatory agencies represented by the North American Securities Administrators Association to restore liquidity to all 
remaining UBS clients who hold auction rate securities.   On November 3, 2008, we agreed to accept Auction Rate 
Security Rights (the “Rights”) from UBS offered through a prospectus filed on October 7, 2008.   The Rights permit us 
to sell, or put, our auction rate securities back to UBS at par value at any time during the period from June 30, 2010 
through July 2, 2012.  We expect to exercise our Rights and put our auction rate securities back to UBS on 
June 30, 2010, the earliest date allowable under the Rights. 

 
By accepting the Rights, we can no longer assert that we have the intent to hold the auction rate securities until 

anticipated recovery. Accordingly, we have classified our investments in auction rate securities as trading securities, as 
defined by FAS No. 115, on the date of our acceptance of the Rights. As a result, we are required to record these 
securities at fair value each period until the Rights are exercised and the auction rate securities are redeemed. At 
May 30, 2009 the fair value of our auction rate securities was $2,814 below par value of which the entire amount has 
been charged to operations in fiscal 2009. Because we will be permitted to put the auction rate securities back to UBS at 
par value, we have accounted for the Rights as a separate asset that is measured at its fair value, resulting in gains in 
fiscal 2009 in an amount equal to the loss recognized on the auction rate securities. Although the Rights represent the 
right to sell the securities back to UBS at par, we will periodically assess the economic ability of UBS to meet that 
obligation in assessing the fair value of the Rights. We will continue to classify the auction rate securities and the related 
Rights as long-term investments until June 30, 2009, one year prior to the expected settlement. 

 
Our operating results are significantly affected by wholesale shell egg market prices, which fluctuate widely and 

are outside of our control. Small increases in production or small decreases in demand can have a large adverse effect on 
shell egg prices. 

 
Feed costs represent the largest element of our shell egg production (farm) cost, ranging from 52% to 64% of 

total farm annual cost in each of the last five fiscal years. Although feed ingredients are available from a number of 
sources, we have little, if any, control over the prices of the ingredients that we purchase, which are affected by various 
demand and supply factors and have experienced significant fluctuations in the past. 
 
 We are a party to no other market risk sensitive instruments requiring disclosure. 
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ITEM 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 
 

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 

The following sets forth, in accordance with Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and Item 308 of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Regulation S-K, the report of management on our internal control over 
financial reporting. 
 

1. Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting. “Internal control over financial reporting” is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, together with other financial officers,  and effected by our Board of 
Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that: 
 

• Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of our assets; 

• Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts 
and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and 
directors; and 

• Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use 
or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

2. Our management, in accordance with Rule 13a-15(c) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 
with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, together with other financial officers, 
evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of May 30, 2009.  The framework on which 
management’s evaluation of our internal control over financial reporting is based is the “Internal Control – Integrated 
Framework” published in 1992 by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (“COSO”) of the Treadway Commission. 
 

3. We maintain documentation providing reasonable support for management’s assessment of the 
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.  Management’s documentation includes: 
 

• The design of controls over all relevant assertions related to all significant accounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements; 

• Information about how significant transactions are initiated, authorized, recorded, processed and 
reported; 

• Sufficient information about the flow of transactions to identify the points at which material 
misstatements due to error or fraud could occur; 

• Controls designed to prevent or detect fraud, including who performs the controls and the related 
segregation of duties; 

• Controls over the period-end financial reporting process; 

• Controls over safeguarding of assets; and 

• The results of management’s testing and evaluation. 
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4. Management has determined that our internal control over financial reporting as of May 30, 2009 is 
effective and that there is no material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as of that date.  In that 
connection, a “material weakness,” is a significant deficiency, or a combination of significant deficiencies, that results in 
more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the financial statements will not be prevented or detected.  
A “significant deficiency” is a control deficiency or a combination of control deficiencies, that adversely affects our 
ability to initiate, authorize, record, process, or report external financial data reliably in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles such that there is more than a remote likelihood that a misstatement of our financial 
statements that is more than inconsequential will not be prevented or detected.  A “control deficiency” exists when the 
design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis.  It is noted that internal control over financial 
reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives, but rather reasonable assurance 
of achieving such objectives. 
 

5. The attestation report of FROST, PLLC on management’s assessment of our internal control over 
financial reporting, which includes that firm’s opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal 
control over financial reporting and opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, is set forth 
below. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
 
Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Jackson, Mississippi 
 

We have audited Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of May 30, 
2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”).  Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Subsidiaries management is 
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness 
of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting in Item 8.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based on our audit. 
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.  Our audit of internal 
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
assessing that the risks that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control based on the assessed risk.  Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances.  We believe our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  A company’s internal control over financial 
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being 
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
 Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements.  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls 
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate. 
 

In our opinion, Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of May 30, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated 
Framework issued by COSO.   

 
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 

(United States), the consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ 
equity and cash flows of Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Subsidiaries, and our report dated August 10, 2009 expressed an 
unqualified opinion. 
 
 
 FROST, PLLC /s/   
 
 Certified Public Accountants 
 
Little Rock, Arkansas  
August 10, 2009 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

 
 
 
Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Jackson, Mississippi 
 
 
 We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of 
May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash 
flows for the three years then ended.  Our audits also included the consolidated financial statement schedule listed in the 
Index at Item 15(c).  These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.   
 
 We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.  An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
consolidated financial statement presentation.  We believe our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
 In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008 and the 
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the three years then ended in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Also, in our opinion, the related consolidated financial 
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present 
fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein. 
 
 We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States), Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of May 30, 2009, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”), and our report dated August 10, 2009, expressed an unqualified 
opinion. 
 
 
       FROST, PLLC /s/ 
 
 
 Certified Public Accountants 
Little Rock, Arkansas 
August 10, 2009 
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Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(in thousands, except for par value amounts) 
May 30 May 31 

  2009     2008 
Assets 
 Current assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents $ 66,883 $ 94,858 
  Investments securities available-for-sale                  15,165                    -   
  Receivables: 
    Trade receivables, less allowance for doubtful 
     accounts of  $394 in 2009 and  $313 in 2008 43,682 44,793 
     Other   946     3,137 

44,628 47,930 
  Inventories 97,535 76,766 
  Prepaid expenses and other current assets    17,474     4,711 
Total current assets 241,685 224,265 
 

  Other assets: 
    Investments securities trading 33,150 - 
    Investments securities available-for-sale          -          40,754 
    Other investments  18,069          13,421 
    Goodwill          22,455          13,452 
    Other intangible assets 15,056 302 
    Other long-lived assets   2,472                2,549 

         91,202          70,478 
  Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated 
    depreciation 249,958   206,493 
Total assets $ 582,845   $ 501,236 

Liabilities and stockholders' equity 
Current liabilities: 
   Trade accounts payable $ 40,327 $ 35,691 
   Accrued dividends payable 3,422 12,186 
   Accrued wages and benefits 9,559 9,111 
   Accrued expenses and other liabilities 8,537 10,964 
   Current maturities of purchase obligation 8,400 10,358 
   Current maturities of long-term debt 13,806 11,470 
   Deferred income taxes   19,635     12,935 
Total current liabilities 103,686 102,715 
 

   Long-term debt, less current maturities 115,983 85,680 
   Non-controlling interests in consolidated entities 958 1,687 
   Purchase obligation, less current maturities - 9,598 
   Other noncurrent liabilities 3,532 4,120 
   Deferred income taxes   26,635     21,756 
Total liabilities 250,794 225,556 
 

Commitments and contingencies – See Notes 7,8,9, and 11 
 
Stockholders' equity: 
  Common stock, $.01 par value 
    Authorized shares - 60,000 in 2009 and 2008 
    Issued 35,130 shares in 2009 and 2008 with 
    21,389 and 21,317 shares outstanding respectively                 351                351 
  Class A common stock, $.01 par value 
     Authorized shares - 2,400 in 2009 and 2008 
     Issued and outstanding shares - 2,400 in 2009 and 2008                 24                 24 
  Paid-in capital 32,098          29,697 
  Retained earnings 320,623        267,616 
  Common stock in treasury, at cost, –13,741 shares in 2009 
     and 13,813 in 2008 (21,045)         (21,156) 
  Accumulated other comprehensive loss   -                  (852) 
Total stockholders' equity 332,051          275,680 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 582,845   $        501,236 
See accompanying notes. 



 
Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Statements of Income 
(in thousands, except per share amounts) 

 
 

   Fiscal years ended 
  May 30  May 31  June 2 
  2009  2008  2007 

Net sales $ 928,812 $ 915,939  $ 598,128 
Cost of sales   724,085   617,383    479,504 
Gross profit  204,727  298,556   118,624 
Selling, general and administrative   83,253   74,919    60,394 
Operating income   121,474  223,637   58,230 
       
Other income (expense):       
   Interest expense   (7,096)  (7,712)  (6,987) 
   Interest income  2,054  3,618   1,112 
   Equity in income of affiliates  2,612  6,324   1,699 
   Non-controlling interest  (324)  (175)   286 
   Other, net   2,290   5,699    1,921 
   (464)   7,754   (1,969) 
Income before income taxes  121,010  231,391   56,261 
Income tax expense    41,510   79,530   19,605 
Net income  $ 79,500 $ 151,861  $ 36,656 
       
Net income per share:       
   Basic $ 3.34 $ 6.41  $ 1.56 
   Diluted $ 3.34 $ 6.40  $ 1.55 
Weighted average shares outstanding:       
   Basic   23,769   23,677   23,526 
   Diluted   23,811   23,733   23,599 

 
See accompanying notes.  
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Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(in thousands) 
 

 Fiscal year ended 
  May 31  May 31  June 2 
   2009   2008   2007 
Cash flows from operating activities       
Net income  $ 79,500 $ 151,861 $    36,656 
Adjustments to reconcile net income        
 to net cash provided by operating activities:       
 Depreciation and amortization  28,076     25,320      21,476 
 Deferred income taxes  11,035  3,659       1,205 
 Equity in income of affiliates  (2,612)     (6,324)     (1,699) 
 Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and       
      equipment  (10)        (1,657)            38 
Stock compensation expense (benefit), net of amounts paid  (2,722)  4,531  1,650 
Interest on purchase obligation  477  942          882 
Net change in non-controlling interest in consolidated entities  (728)         (207)         975 
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net       
     of effects from acquisitions       
     Receivables and other assets  (3,580)  (13,305)  (8,097) 
     Inventories  (2,911)  (14,558)  47 
     Accounts payable, accrued expenses       
       and other liabilities   4,757   8,154   6,591 
Net cash provided by operating activities  111,282  158,416  59,724 
       
Cash flows from investing activities       
Purchases of investments  (21,453)   (122,825)   (43,250) 
Sales of investments  15,388     120,175      28,750 
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired  (91,223)  -  (12,053) 
Payments received on notes receivable and       
   from investments  1,674      1,199       1,453 
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (26,112)  (31,686)  (23,472) 
Increase in notes receivable and investments  (896)     (668)     (1,202) 
Net proceeds from disposal of property,       
   plant and equipment   128          2,470           503 
Net cash used in investing activities  (122,494)  (31,335)  (49,271) 
       
Cash flows from financing activities       
Long-term borrowings  55,661     -      29,500 
Principal payments on long-term debt  (23,022)   (15,702)   (31,204) 
Payment of purchase obligation   (14,561)     (12,529)     (6,102) 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock from       
   treasury  427         626          262 
Payments of dividends    (35,268)      (19,650)      (1,172) 
Net cash used in financing activities   (16,763)      (47,255)      (8,716) 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (27,975)      79,826       1,737 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 

  
94,858 

  
   15,032  

  
   13,295 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 66,883 $  94,858  $    15,032 
       
Supplemental cash flow information:       
     Cash paid during the year for:       

Income taxes $  44,327 $  82,223 $ 15,679 
Interest (net of amount capitalized)  6,164  7,302  6,426 

       
See accompanying notes. 
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Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 

May 30, 2009 
  
1. Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Principles of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and its subsidiaries 
(“we”, “us”, “our”, or the “Company”) and variable interest entities in which the Company is the primary 
beneficiary. All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated in 
consolidation. 
 
Business 
The Company is engaged in the production, processing and distribution of shell eggs. The Company's 
operations are significantly affected by the market price fluctuation of its principal products sold, shell 
eggs, and the costs of its principal feed ingredients, corn and other grains. 
 
Primarily all of the Company's sales are to wholesale egg buyers in the southeastern, southwestern, mid-
western and mid-Atlantic regions of the United States. Credit is extended based upon an evaluation of 
each customer's financial condition and credit history and generally collateral is not required. Credit 
losses have consistently been within management's expectations. Two affiliated customers, on a 
combined basis, accounted for 32.9%, 36.5% and 36.9% of the Company's net sales in fiscal 2009, 2008 
and 2007, respectively.  
 
 Fiscal Year 
The Company's fiscal year-end is on the Saturday nearest May 31, which was May 30, 2009 (52 weeks), 
May 31, 2008 (52 weeks), June 2, 2007 (52 weeks), for the most recent three fiscal years. 
 
Reclassifications 
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years’ financial statements to conform to the current 
year presentation.  These reclassifications had no effect on previously reported results of operations or 
retained earnings. 
 
Variable Interest Entities 
 Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation (“FASB”) No. 46 (revised), “Consolidation of 
Variable Interest Entities,” ("FIN 46") requires variable interest entities ("VIEs”) to be consolidated if a 
party with ownership, contractual or other financial interest in the VIE (a variable interest holder) is 
obligated to absorb a majority of the risk of loss from the VIE's activities, is entitled to receive a majority 
of the VIE's residual returns (if no party absorbs a majority of the VIE's losses), or both. A variable 
interest holder that consolidates the VIE is called the primary beneficiary. 
 
Beginning in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, the Company had variable interests in three entities in 
which it is the primary beneficiary and accordingly consolidates the statements of financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows of these entities pursuant to FIN 46.    The Company has a 37% 
ownership interest in Texas Egg Products, LLC and leases to Texas Egg Products, LLC its operating 
facility.  Texas Egg Products, LLC processes shell eggs into liquid and frozen egg products that are sold 
primarily to food manufacturers and to the food service industry.  
  
The Company has a 43% ownership interest in Texas Egg, LLC and leases to Texas Egg, LLC its 
operating facility.  Texas Egg, LLC has 70% ownership interest in South Texas Protein, LLC and 
subleases the facility to South Texas Protein, LLC.  South Texas Protein, LLC is a spent hen processing 
facility in the start-up phase of its operations.  
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Total assets of the three VIEs for which the Company is the primary beneficiary totaled $2,772 for fiscal 
2009 and $2,851 for fiscal 2008, net of elimination of intercompany balances.  The total assets of the 
three VIEs for which the Company is the primary beneficiary represent 0.5% and 0.6 % of the total assets 
shown in the consolidated balance sheets for fiscal periods 2009 and 2008, respectively.   
 
We are the primary beneficiary for all our VIEs.  Accordingly, they are consolidated in our financial 
statements.  The classifications of assets and liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet 
associated with our VIEs are as follows at May 30, 2009, and May 31, 2008: 
 
  May 30, 2009  May 31, 2008 
Current assets     

Cash  $                      763 $                     406 
Receivables    

Trade receivables, less allowance for doubtful 
accounts of $18 and $24, respectively 

 
892 1,532 

Inventories  347 269 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  107 154 

Total current assets  2,109 2,361 
    
Other long-lived assets  489 236 
Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated 

depreciation 
 

174 254 
Total assets  $                   2,772 $                 2,851 
    
Current liabilities    

Accounts payable  $                      786 $                 1,004 
Accrued expenses  34 57 

Total current liabilities  820 1,061 
    
Total liabilities  820 1061 
    
Net assets  $                   1,952 $                  1,791 
 
In July 2009, Texas Egg, LLC was merged into South Texas Protein, LLC.  The Company now has a 43% 
ownership in South Texas Protein, LLC. 
 
Use of Estimates 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amount 
reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 
 
Cash Equivalents 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when 
purchased to be cash equivalents. We maintain bank accounts that are insured by the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250.  At times, cash balances may be in excess of the FDIC 
insurance limits. The Company manages this risk through maintaining cash deposits and other highly 
liquid investments in high quality financial institutions. 
 
Investment Securities  
Our investment securities consist of auction rate securities that we classify as trading, and prefunded 
municipal bonds which we classify as available for sale.  Investment securities available-for-sale are 
accounted for in accordance with FASB No. 115 (“FAS 115”), “Accounting for Certain Investments in 
Debt and Equity Securities.” Available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains 
and losses excluded from earnings and reported in shareholders’ equity.  Under FAS 115, securities 
purchased to be held for indeterminate periods of time and not intended at the time of purchase to be held 
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until maturity are classified as available-for-sale securities with any unrealized gains and losses reported 
as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive loss. We continually evaluate whether any 
marketable investments have been impaired and, if so, whether such impairment is temporary or other 
than temporary. Trading securities are bought and held principally for the purpose of selling them. 
Unrealized holding gains and losses for trading securities are included in earnings. 
 
Our auction rate securities were purchased from UBS Financial Services, Inc. (“UBS”) and are long-term 
debt obligations, which were rated AAA at the date of purchase. Although some of the obligations have 
maintained their AAA rating some of the securities have declined to a rating of AA. The ratings on the 
auction rate securities take into account credit support through insurance policies guaranteeing each of the 
bonds’ payment of principal and accrued interest. In the past, the auction process allowed investors to 
obtain immediate liquidity if so desired by selling the securities at their face amounts. Liquidity for these 
securities has historically been provided by an auction process that resets interest rates on these 
investments on average every 7-35 days. However, as has been reported in the financial press, the 
disruptions in the credit markets adversely affected the auction market for these types of securities. The 
Company believes that the appropriate presentation of these securities is long-term investments as 
reflected in our condensed consolidated balance sheets at May 31, 2008 and May 30, 2009. Net 
unrealized holding losses on available-for-sale securities of $852, net of income taxes, are included in 
accumulated other comprehensive loss as of May 31, 2008. 
 
On August 8, 2008, UBS agreed to a settlement in principle with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, the New York Attorney General, the Massachusetts Securities Division, the Texas State 
Securities Board and other state regulatory agencies represented by the North American Securities 
Administrators Association to restore liquidity to all remaining UBS clients who hold auction rate 
securities.   On November 3, 2008, we agreed to accept Auction Rate Security Rights (the “Rights”) from 
UBS offered through a UBS prospectus dated October 7, 2008.   The Rights permit us to sell, or put, our 
auction rate securities back to UBS at par value at any time during the period from June 30, 2010 through 
July 2, 2012.  We expect to exercise our Rights and put our auction rate securities back to UBS on June 
30, 2010, the earliest date allowable under the Rights. 
 
By accepting the Rights, we can no longer assert that we have the intent to hold the auction rate securities 
until anticipated recovery. Accordingly, we have classified our investments in auction rate securities as 
trading securities, as defined by FAS No. 115, on the date of our acceptance of the Rights. As a result, we 
are required to record these securities at fair value each period until the Rights are exercised and the 
auction rate securities are redeemed. At May 30, 2009 the fair value of our auction rate securities was 
$2,814 below par value of which the entire amount has been charged to operations in fiscal 2009. Because 
we will be permitted to put the auction rate securities back to UBS at par value, we have accounted for the 
Rights as a separate asset that is measured at its fair value, resulting in gains in fiscal 2009 in an amount 
equal to the loss recognized on the auction rate securities. Although the Rights represent the right to sell 
the securities back to UBS at par, we will periodically assess the economic ability of UBS to meet that 
obligation in assessing the fair value of the Rights. We will continue to classify the auction rate securities 
and the related Rights as long-term investments until June 30, 2009, one year prior to the expected 
settlement. 
 
Since our last fiscal year, ended May 31, 2008, we have liquidated two of our auction rate securities at 
par. On July 10, 2008, we liquidated one auction rate security at par value for $4,500 with accrued interest 
after this security was called by the original issuer. On January 30, 2009, UBS redeemed a $4,500 auction 
rate security at par with accrued interest after this security was called by the issuer. 
 
At May 30, 2009, we have $15,165 of current investment securities available-for-sale consisting primarily 
of pre-funded municipal bonds and certificates of deposit with maturities of three to six months when 
purchased. Due to the nature of the investments, the cost at May 30, 2009 approximates fair value; 
therefore, other comprehensive income (loss) has not been recognized as a separate component of 
stockholders' equity in regards to the current investment securities available-for-sale. 
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Investment in Affiliates 
The equity method of accounting is used when the Company has a 20% to 50% interest in other entities or 
when we exercise significant influence over the entity.. Under the equity method, original investments are 
recorded at cost and adjusted by the Company’s share of undistributed earnings or losses of these entities. 
Nonmarketable investments in which the Company has less than a 20% interest and in which it does not 
have the ability to exercise significant influence over the investee are initially recorded at cost, and 
periodically reviewed for impairment. 
 
Trade Receivables 
Trade receivables are comprised primarily of amounts owed to the Company from customers, which 
amounted to $43,682 at May 30, 2009 and $44,793 at May 31, 2008. Trade receivables are presented net 
of allowance for doubtful accounts of $394 at May 30, 2009 and $313 at May 31, 2008. The Company 
extends credit to customers based upon an evaluation of each customer’s financial condition and credit 
history. Collateral is generally not required. Credit losses have consistently been within management’s 
expectations. We have concentrations of credit risk with two affiliated customers. We determine that a 
concentration of credit risk exists when any one customer and its affiliates represents greater than 10% of 
trade receivables. At May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008, the two affiliated customers accounted for 30% 
and 34% of the Company’s trade accounts receivable, respectively. 
 
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
In the normal course of business, we extend credit to our customers on a short-term basis based upon an 
evaluation of each customer’s financial condition and credit history.  Collateral is generally not required. 
Although credit risks associated with our customers are considered minimal, we routinely review our 
accounts receivable balances and make provisions for probable doubtful accounts. In circumstances 
where management is aware of a specific customer's inability to meet its financial obligations to us (e.g. 
bankruptcy filings), a specific reserve is recorded to reduce the receivable to the amount expected to be 
collected. For all other customers, we recognize reserves for bad debts based on the length of time the 
receivables are past due, generally 100% for amounts more than 60 days past due. 
 
Inventories 
Inventories of eggs, feed, supplies and livestock are valued principally at the lower of cost (first-in, first-
out method) or market. 
 
The cost associated with flocks, consisting principally of chick purchases, feed, labor, contractor 
payments and overhead costs, are accumulated during a growing period of approximately 22 weeks. Flock 
costs are amortized over the productive lives of the flocks, generally one to two years. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided by the straight-line method over 
the estimated useful lives, which are 15 to 25 years for buildings and improvements and 3 to 12 years for 
machinery and equipment. Repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Expenditures that increase 
the value or productive capacity of assets are capitalized. When property, plant, and equipment are 
retired, sold, or otherwise disposed of, the asset’s carrying amount and related accumulated depreciation 
are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is included in operations. The Company capitalizes 
interest cost incurred on funds used to construct property, plant, and equipment. The capitalized interest is 
recorded as part of the asset to which it relates and is amortized over the asset’s estimated useful life.  
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
The Company reviews the carrying value of long-lived assets, other than goodwill, for impairment 
whenever events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable 
from the estimated future cash flows expected to result from its use and eventual disposition. In cases 
where expected future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) are less than the carrying 
value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to an amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair 
value of assets. The factors considered by management in performing this assessment include current 
operating results, trends and prospects, the manner in which the property is used, and the effects of 
obsolescence, demand, competition, and other economic factors.  
 
Intangible Assets 
Included in other assets are loan acquisition costs, which are amortized over the life of the related loan.  
Separable intangible assets, which include franchise fees, non-compete agreements and customer 
relationship intangibles, are amortized over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 25 years.    
 
Goodwill 
Goodwill represents the excess of cost of business acquisitions over the fair value of the net identifiable 
net assets acquired. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if impairment 
indicators arise.   
 
Accrued Self Insurance 
We use a combination of insurance and self-insurance mechanisms to provide for the potential liabilities 
for health and welfare, workers’ compensation, auto liability and general liability risks. Liabilities 
associated with our risks retained are estimated, in part, by considering claims experience, demographic 
factors, severity factors and other actuarial assumptions. 
 
Dividends 
Effective November 30, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the adoption of a variable 
dividend policy to replace the Company’s fixed dividend policy. Commencing with the third quarter of 
fiscal 2008, Cal-Maine pays a dividend to shareholders of its Common Stock and Class A Common Stock 
on a quarterly basis for each quarter for which the Company reports net income computed in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles in an amount equal to one-third (1/3) of such quarterly 
income. Dividends are paid to shareholders of record as of the 60th day following the last day of such 
quarter, except that effective July 23, 2009 the Board of Directors approved a changed in the dividend 
policy whereby for the fourth fiscal quarter only, the Company will pay dividends to shareholders of 
record on the 70th day after the quarter end, and are payable on the 15th day following the record date. 
Following a quarter for which the Company does not report net income, the Company shall not pay a 
dividend for a subsequent profitable quarter until the Company is profitable on a cumulative basis 
computed from the date of the last quarter for which a dividend was paid.  As of fiscal 2009 & fiscal 
2008, we accrued dividends payable of $3,422 and $12,186 respectively, applicable to the Company’s 
fourth quarter net income for each fiscal year. 
 
The amount of the dividend payable on each share of Class A Common Stock was payable in an amount 
equal to 95% of the amount paid on each share of Common Stock.  Effective October 2, 2008, our Class 
A Common Stock is paid at a rate equal to the rate on our Common Stock. 
 
Treasury Stock 
Treasury stock purchases are accounted for under the cost method whereby the entire cost of the acquired 
stock is recorded as treasury stock.  Gains and losses on the subsequent reissuance of shares are credited 
or charged to capital in excess of par value using the average-cost method. 
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Revenue Recognition and Delivery Costs 
The Company recognizes revenue only when all of the following criteria have been met: 
 
  • Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; 
  • Delivery has occurred; 
  • The fee for the arrangement is determinable; and 
  • Collectability is reasonably assured. 
 
The Company believes the above criteria are met upon delivery and acceptance of the product by our 
customers. Costs to deliver product to customers are included in selling, general and administrative 
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and totaled $26,708, $21,703, and 
$21,105, in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
 
Advertising Costs 
The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Total advertising costs were $1,190 in fiscal 2009, 
$778 in fiscal 2008, and $745 in fiscal 2007.   On a comparable basis, excluding the acquisition of Tampa 
Farms, LLC and Zephyr Egg, LLC, advertising cost for fiscal 2009 was $872. 
 
Income Taxes 
Income taxes have been provided using the liability method. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax 
effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. 
 
Stock Based Compensation 
The Company accounts for share based payments under the provisions of FASB Statement No. 123(R), 
“Share Based Payments” (“FAS 123(R)”). FAS 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, 
including grants of employee stock options, restricted stock and performance-based shares to be 
recognized in the income statement based on their fair values. FAS 123(R) also requires the benefits of 
tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow. 
 
Net Income per Common Share 
Basic net income per share is based on the weighted average common shares outstanding. Diluted net 
income per share includes any dilutive effects of options and warrants outstanding.  
 
Basic net income per share was calculated by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of 
common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted net income per share was calculated by dividing 
net income by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period plus the 
dilutive effects of stock options.  The computations of basic net income per share and diluted net income 
per share are as follows 
 
 

 May 30, 2009  May 31, 2008  June 2, 2007 
Net income $                 79,500  $               151,861  $                 36,656 
Basic weighted-average common shares 23,769  23,677  23,526 
Effect of dilutive securities:      
     Common stock options 42  56  73 
Dilutive potential common shares 23,811  23,733  23,599 
Net income per common share:      
     Basic $                     3.34  $                     6.41  $                     1.56 
     Diluted $                     3.34  $                     6.40  $                     1.55 
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Contingencies 
Certain conditions may exist as of the date the financial statements are issued, which may result in a loss 
to the Company but which will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. 
The Company’s management and its legal counsel assess such contingent liabilities, and such assessment 
inherently involves an exercise of judgment. In assessing loss contingencies related to legal proceedings 
that are pending against the Company or unasserted claims that may result in such proceedings, the 
Company’s legal counsel evaluates the perceived merits of any legal proceedings or unasserted claims as 
well as the perceived merits of the amount of relief sought or expected to be sought therein. 
 
If the assessment of a contingency indicates that it is probable that a material loss has been incurred and 
the amount of the liability can be estimated, then the estimated liability would be accrued in the 
Company’s financial statements. If the assessment indicates that a potentially material loss contingency is 
not probable, but is reasonably possible, or is probable but cannot be estimated, then the nature of the 
contingent liability, together with an estimate of the range of possible loss if determinable and material, 
would be disclosed. 
 
Loss contingencies considered remote are generally not disclosed unless they involve guarantees, in 
which case the nature of the guarantee would be disclosed.   
 
Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards 
 
Adopted 
 
Effective June 1, 2008, we adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement No. 157, 
“Fair Value Measurements” (“FAS 157”). FAS 157 establishes a single authoritative definition of fair 
value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value, and expands on required disclosures about fair value 
measurement.  In February 2008, FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB 
Statement No. 157” which provides a one-year deferral of the effective date of FAS 157 for non-financial 
assets and non-financial liabilities except those that are recognized or disclosed in the financial statements 
at fair value at least annually. 

 The adoption of FAS 157 for our financial assets and financial liabilities did not have a material impact 
on our financial statements.  We are currently evaluating the effect that the implementation of this 
standard for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities will have on our financial statements upon full 
adoption in 2009. FAS 157 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (exit 
price). Valuation techniques used to measure fair value under FAS 157 must maximize the use of 
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. FAS 157 classifies the inputs used to 
measure fair value into the following hierarchy: 

• Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  

• Level 2 - Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets 
that are not active, or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability.  

• Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.  

Our financial assets consisted of current investment securities available-for-sale at May 30, 2009 which 
we consider to be classified as Level 2 and our long-term investment securities classified as trading which 
we consider to be classified as Level 3. 
 
In February 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 159, "Establishing the Fair Value Option for 
Financial Assets and Liabilities" (“FAS 159”), to permit all entities to choose to elect to measure eligible 
financial instruments at fair value. We adopted FAS 159 effective June 1, 2008.   We have elected the fair 
value option for our Auction Rate Security Rights.  We agreed to accept these Auction Rate Security 
Rights from UBS on November 3, 2008. 
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Not Yet Adopted 
 
In December 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 141 (Revised 2007), or (R), “Business 
Combinations” (“FAS 141(R)”). FAS 141(R) retained the fundamental requirements in FAS 141 that the 
acquisition method of accounting (which FAS 141 called the purchase method) be used for all business 
combinations and for an acquirer to be identified or each business combination.  FAS 141(R), which is 
broader in scope than that of FAS 141, which applied only to business combinations in which control was 
obtained by transferring consideration, applies the same method of accounting (the acquisition method) to 
all transactions and other events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other businesses. 
FAS 141(R) also makes certain other modifications to FAS 141. This statement applies prospectively to 
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual 
reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008, which will begin with our 2010 fiscal year. 
Earlier adoption is prohibited.  The Company is currently assessing the effect FAS 141(R) may have on 
its consolidated results of operations and financial position. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated 
Financial Statements- An amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin (“ARB”) (“FAS 160”).” FAS 160 
amends ARB No. 51 to establish accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a 
subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a 
subsidiary, which is sometimes referred to as minority interest, is an ownership interest in the 
consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements. Among 
other requirements, this statement requires consolidated net income to be reported at amounts that include 
the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest. It also requires disclosure, on 
the face of the consolidated income statement, of the amounts of consolidated net income attributable to 
the parent and to the noncontrolling interest. FAS 160 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods 
within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008, which will begin with our 2010 fiscal 
year. Earlier adoption is prohibited. The Company is currently assessing the effect FAS 160 may have on 
its consolidated results of operations and financial position. 

In April 2008, the FASB posted FASB Staff Position No. FAS 142-3, Determination of the Useful Life of 
Intangible Assets (“FSP FAS 142-3”), which applies to recognized intangible assets that are accounted for 
pursuant to SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. FSP FAS 142-3 amends the factors an 
entity must consider when developing renewal or extension assumptions used in determining the useful 
life of a recognized intangible asset. It also requires entities to provide certain disclosures about its 
assumptions. FSP FAS 142-3 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years.  This statement is effective for the 
Company in fiscal 2010. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of these 
requirements on its financial statements.  

In June 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position EITF 03-6-1, “Determining Whether Instruments 
Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities” (“FSP EITF 03-6-1”). Under 
the FSP, unvested share-based payment awards that contain rights to receive nonforfeitable dividends 
(whether paid or unpaid) are participating securities, and should be included in the two-class method of 
computing EPS. The FSP is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim 
periods within those years. This statement is effective for the Company in fiscal 2010. The Company does 
not expect the adoption of FSP EITF 03-6-1 to have a material effect on its consolidated financial 
statements.  

In May 2009, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 165, “Subsequent Events” (“FAS 165”). FAS 165 
establishes general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet 
date but before financial statements are issued.  This statement does not apply to subsequent events or 
transactions that are within the scope of other applicable generally accepted accounting principles that 
provide different guidance on the accounting treatment for subsequent events or transactions. FAS 165 
would apply to both interim financial statements and annual financial statements and should not result in 
significant changes in the subsequent events that are reported. FAS 165 introduces the concept of 
financial statements being available to be issued. It requires the disclosure of the date through which a 
Company has evaluated subsequent events and the basis for that date, whether that represents the date the 
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financial statements were issued or were available to be issued. FAS 165 should alert all users of financial 
statements that an entity has not evaluated subsequent events after that date in the set of financial 
statements being presented. This statement is effective for interim or annual reporting periods ending after 
June 15, 2009, which corresponds to the Company’s first quarter of fiscal 2010.  

In June 2009, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 167 “Amendments to FASB Interpretation 
No. 46(R)” (“FAS 167”). FAS 167 is a revision to FASB Interpretation No. 46 (Revised December 2003), 
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, and changes how a reporting entity determines when an entity 
that is insufficiently capitalized or is not controlled through voting (or similar rights) should be 
consolidated. The determination of whether a reporting entity is required to consolidate another entity is 
based on, among other things, the other entity’s purpose and design and the reporting entity’s ability to 
direct the activities of the other entity that most significantly impact the other entity’s economic 
performance. FAS 167 will require a reporting entity to provide additional disclosures about its 
involvement with variable interest entities and any significant changes in risk exposure due to that 
involvement. A reporting entity will be required to disclose how its involvement with a variable interest 
entity affects the reporting entity’s financial statements. FAS 167 will be effective at the start of a 
reporting entity’s first fiscal year beginning after November 15, 2009. This statement is effective for the 
Company in fiscal 2011.  Early application is not permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the 
impact, if any, of adoption of FAS 167 on its financial statements.  

In June 2009, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 168 “The FASB Accounting Standards Codification 
and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles – A Replacement of FASB Statement 
No. 162” (“FAS 168”). FAS 168 establishes the FASB Accounting Standards CodificationTM 
(Codification) as the single source of authoritative U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. 
GAAP) recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities. Rules and interpretive 
releases of the SEC under authority of federal securities laws are also sources of authoritative U.S. GAAP 
for SEC registrants. FAS 168 and the Codification are effective for financial statements issued for interim 
and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009, which corresponds to the Company’s second quarter 
of fiscal 2010. When effective, the Codification will supersede all existing non-SEC accounting and 
reporting standards. All other non-grandfathered non-SEC accounting literature not included in the 
Codification will become nonauthoritative. Following FAS 168, the FASB will not issue new standards in 
the form of Statements, FASB Staff Positions, or Emerging Issues Task Force Abstracts. Instead, the 
FASB will issue Accounting Standards Updates, which will serve only to: (a) update the Codification; 
(b) provide background information about the guidance; and (c) provide the bases for conclusions on the 
change(s) in the Codification. The adoption of FAS 168 will not have an impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.  
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2.  Acquisitions   
 
Hillandale, LLC Acquisition 
The Company entered into an Agreement to Form a Limited Liability Company, Transfer Assets Thereto, 
and Purchase Units of Membership Therein, dated July 28, 2005, with Hillandale Farms, Inc. and 
Hillandale Farms of Florida, Inc. (together, "Hillandale"), and the Hillandale shareholders (the 
"Agreement"). Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company acquired 51% of the units of membership 
in Hillandale, LLC for cash of approximately $27,000 October 12, 2005. The remaining 49% of the units 
of membership in Hillandale, LLC will be acquired in essentially equal annual installments over a four-
year period, with the purchase price of the units equal to their book value at the time of purchases as 
calculated in accordance with the terms of the Agreement. The total preliminary purchase price was 
estimated to be as follows: 
 
Cash consideration paid to seller for 51% of Hillandale, LLC's membership units $ 27,006 
Obligation to acquire 49% of Hillandale, LLC's membership units  25,947 
  52,953 
Less discount of preliminary purchase price to the present value as of July 28, 2005  (3,556) 
Total preliminary purchase price $ 49,397 
 
The preliminary purchase price was allocated based upon the fair value of the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed as follows: 
  
Assets acquired:  

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,918 
Receivables  7,181 
Inventories  11,330 
Prepaid and other assets  2,798 
Property, plant and equipment  49,531 

Total assets acquired  74,758 
Liabilities assumed:   

Accounts payable and accrued expenses  3,567 
Notes payable and long-term debt  21,794 

Total liabilities assumed  25,361 
Net assets acquired $ 49,397 

 
In August 2006, in accordance with the Agreement, The Company purchased, for $6,102, an additional 
13% of the units of membership of Hillandale, LLC based on the book value as of July 29, 2006.  In 
August 2007, in accordance with the Agreement, The Company purchased, for $6,769, an additional 12% 
of the units of membership of Hillandale, LLC based on the book value as of July 28, 2007.  During fiscal 
2008, an early payment of $5,700 was paid on the purchase obligation.  The Company’s obligation to 
acquire the remaining 24% of Hillandale, LLC was recorded at its present value of $19,956 as of May 31, 
2008 of which $10,358 is included in current liabilities and $9,598 is included in other non-current 
liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.  In August 2008, in accordance with the 
Agreement, the Company purchased, for $9,185, an additional 12% of the units of membership of 
Hillandale, LLC based on the book value as of July 26, 2008.   During fiscal 2009, early payments of 
$5,376 were paid on the purchase obligation.   The Company’s obligation to acquire the remaining 12% 
of Hillandale, LLC is recorded at its present value of $8,400 as of May 30, 2009, all of which is included 
in current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The Company will purchase the 
final 12% of Hillandale LLC based on the book value of the units of membership as of July 25, 2009.   
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During fiscal 2009 and 2008, the Company revised the estimated purchase obligation upward for the 
remaining 12% and 24% interest, respectively, to be acquired in Hillandale, LLC, based on the effect of 
the expected earnings increase on the book value of the membership units.  For fiscal 2009 and 2008, this 
additional cost exceeded the estimated fair value of net assets acquired by $2,527 and $9,257 respectively, 
which has been assigned to goodwill on our consolidated balance sheets. 
 
Hillandale, LLC's production facilities are principally located in Florida. Hillandale, LLC is a fully 
integrated shell egg producer with its own feed mills, hatchery, production, processing and distribution 
facilities.  

 
Prior to the acquisition, the Company had a 44% membership interest in American Egg Products, LLC 
("AEP") and Hillandale, LLC had a 27.5% membership interest in AEP. Prior to the acquisition of 
Hillandale, LLC, the Company's membership in AEP was accounted for by the equity method. Effective 
with our acquisition of Hillandale, LLC, the Company acquired a majority of the membership interest in 
AEP. Accordingly, the financial statements of AEP have been consolidated with our financial statements.  
AEP, located in Georgia, processes shell eggs into liquid and frozen egg products that are sold primarily 
to food manufacturers and to the food service industry.  AEP has contract shell egg production for 
approximately 50% of its shell egg requirements and purchases the balance from regional egg markets. 
 
Green Forest Foods, LLC Acquisition    
 
As of June 3, 2006, the Company owned 50 percent of Green Forest Foods, LLC, which was accounted 
for under the equity method of accounting.  On January 24, 2007, we purchased the remaining 50 percent 
interest in Green Forest Foods, LLC for $2,000 in cash. We allocated the purchase price to the net assets 
acquired consisting principally of flock inventories and facilities leased under a capital lease. Effective 
with the purchase, the results of operations of Green Forest Foods, LLC are consolidated in the 
Company’s financial statements.  Green Forest Foods, LLC located in Green Forest, Arkansas, had been 
jointly owned and operated by Pier 44 Properties, LLC, an unaffiliated entity, and the Company, since 
January 2006. Subsequent to the acquisition, the Company paid the capital lease obligation of 
approximately $10,500 in full. Green Forest Foods, LLC produces, processes, and markets eggs from 
approximately one million laying hens, along with pullet growing for replacements.  
 
Benton County Foods, LLC Acquisition 
 
On April 20, 2007, through our 90% owned subsidiary, Benton County Foods, LLC, we acquired the 
assets and business of the shell egg division of George’s, Inc., an unaffiliated entity, located near Siloam 
Springs, Arkansas.  Benton County Foods, LLC is a newly formed company jointly owned by the 
Company and PW3 Holdings, LLC, an unaffiliated entity. The purchase price totaled $10,900 in cash. 
The assets acquired include approximately one million laying hens, and a feed mill in Watts, Oklahoma. 
As part of this acquisition, Benton County Foods, LLC will lease growing facilities from George's Inc. for 
replacement pullets. CCF Brands (an affiliate of PW3 Holdings, LLC) has a supply agreement in place for 
approximately 50 percent of the eggs produced by the Benton County Foods, LLC. Eggs are marketed to 
retail food businesses and food service distributors in the south central region of the United States. The 
results of operations of the shell egg business acquired are included in the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements subsequent to the acquisition date.  

 
On August 10, 2009, we purchased the remaining 10% minority ownership interest in Benton County 
Foods, LLC for $508.   
 
Zephyr Egg, LLC Acquisition 
 
On June 27, 2008, we purchased substantially all of the operating assets of Zephyr Egg Company, Zephyr 
Feed Company, Inc. and Scarlett Farms (together, “Sellers”), located in Zephyrhills, FL and transferred 
those assets to a new Limited Liability Company, Hillandale Foods, LLC, formed on that date.   Pursuant 
to Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Organization for Hillandale Foods, LLC, we changed the 
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name of the Limited Liability Company to Zephyr Egg, LLC.   We own 100% of the membership 
interests in Zephyr Egg, LLC.  The purchase price totaled $29,579 based upon the final valuation of the 
assets acquired.  The purchase price was funded from our available cash balances. The assets purchased 
included approximately two million laying hens in modern, in-line facilities, pullet growing facilities, two 
egg processing plants, a feed mill and a fleet of delivery trucks for both eggs and feed. As part of the 
acquisition, the Company also acquired the Egg-Land’s BestTM franchise for southern Florida, certain 
flocks of contract laying hens, and the Sellers 12.58% interest in American Egg Products, Inc., in which 
the Company already had a majority interest.  Zephyr Egg, LLC’s results of operations have been 
included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition. 

 
The following table presents the allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed, based on their fair values: 
 

Accounts receivable  $ 2,610
Inventories   5,886
Other investments   1,532
Property, plant, and equipment   12,375
Intangible assets   5,300
Goodwill   1,876

Total asset acquired  $ 29,579
Total liabilities assumed   - 
Net assets acquired  $ 29,579

 
The purchase price exceeded the fair values of the tangible assets acquired by $7,176.  Of this amount 
$5,300 represents the cost of acquired intangible assets, which is made up of franchise rights of $1,600 (8-
year useful life), customer relationship intangible of $2,200 (8-year useful life) and a non-compete 
agreement of $1,500 (3-year useful life). The remainder of the excess purchase price, amounting to 
$1,876 was recorded as goodwill, of which the entire amount is expected to be deductible for income tax 
purposes.  The goodwill arising from the acquisition consists largely of the synergies and economies of 
scale expected from combining the operations of the Company and Zephyr Egg, LLC. 
 
Tampa Farms, LLC Acquisition 
 
We entered into a Membership Interests Purchase Agreement as of November 28, 2008 (the 
“Agreement”) with Tampa Farm Service, Inc., a Florida corporation (“Seller”), TFS Holdings, Inc., a 
Florida corporation (“TFS Holdings”), and Michael H. Bynum, Blair M. Bynum and Samuel G. Bynum 
(collectively, the “Shareholders”). The Seller, based in Dover, Florida, and its affiliates were for many 
years engaged directly in the production, grading, packaging and distribution of shell eggs and related 
activities, including the production and milling of feed for laying hens and pullets (the “Seller’s 
Business”), with operations in the southeastern United States. 
 
The assets acquired by the Company include approximately four million laying hens in modern, in-line 
facilities, pullet growing facilities, two feed mills and a fleet of delivery trucks for both eggs and feed.  In 
addition, the Company acquired the 4-GrainTM brand of specialty eggs, certain flocks of contract laying 
hens, and the Seller’s 12.88% interest in American Egg Products, Inc, which gives us approximately a 
99.5% ownership interest in American Egg Products, Inc.  To facilitate the sale of the Seller’s Business, 
the Seller transferred all of its assets, but none of its liabilities, to Tampa Farms, LLC (“Tampa Farms”), a 
Florida limited liability company. Under the Agreement, the Seller sold to the Company all of the issued 
and outstanding membership interests (the “Membership Interests”) of Tampa Farms to the Company in 
accordance with the terms of the Agreement. 
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The final purchase price for the Membership Interests was $61,644, which was paid from the Company’s 
available funds.  The Company completed the acquisition of the Seller’s Business on December 11, 2008. 
Tampa Farms’ results of operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the 
date of acquisition. 
 
The following table presents the allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed, based on their fair values: 
 

Inventories  $ 11,971
Prepaid expenses   350
Other investments   901
Property, plant, and equipment   33,222
Intangible assets   10,600
Goodwill   4,600

Total asset acquired  $ 61,644
Total liabilities assumed   - 
Net assets acquired  $ 61,644

 
The purchase price exceeded the fair values of the tangible assets acquired by $15,200.  Of this amount 
$10,600 represents the cost of acquired intangible assets, which is made up of franchise rights of $1,900 
(8-year useful life) and a customer relationship intangible of $8,700 (8-year useful life). The remainder of 
the excess purchase price, amounting to $4,600 was recorded as goodwill, of which the entire amount is 
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.  The goodwill arising from the acquisition consists largely of 
the synergies and economies of scale expected from combining the operations of the Company and 
Tampa Farms, LLC. 
 
The following unaudited pro forma information was prepared assuming that the acquisitions of Zephyr 
Egg, LLC and Tampa Farms, LLC had taken place at the beginning of fiscal 2008. In preparing the pro 
forma financial information, various assumptions were made; therefore, the Company does not imply that 
the future results will be indicative of the following pro forma information: 

   May 30, 2009   May 31, 2008  
Net sales  $ 992,054 $ 1,157,285  
Net income   81,301 175,298  
Net income per share – basic   3.42 7.40  
Net income per share - diluted   3.41 7.39  

 
 
3.  Investment in Affiliates 
 
The Company owns 50% each of Specialty Eggs LLC and Delta Egg Farm, LLC ("Delta Egg") and 
33.3% of Dallas Reinsurance, Co., LTD. as of May 30, 2009.  Investment in affiliates, recorded using the 
equity method of accounting are included in “Other Investments” in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets and totaled $16,444 and $12,189 at May 30, 2009 and at May 31, 2008, respectively.  
Equity in income of $2,612, $6,324, and $1,699, from these entities has been included in the consolidated 
statements of income for fiscal 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. 
 
The Company is a guarantor of 50% of Delta Egg's long-term debt, which totaled approximately $13,750 
at May 30, 2009.  Delta Egg's long-term debt is secured by substantially all fixed assets of Delta Egg and 
is due in monthly installments through fiscal 2018.  Delta Egg is engaged in the production, processing 
and distribution of shell eggs.  The other 50% owner also guarantees 50% of the debt.  The guarantee 
arose when Delta Egg borrowed funds to construct its production and processing facility in 1999.  The 
guarantee would be required if Delta Egg is not able to pay the debt.  Management of the Company 
believes this possibility is unlikely because Delta Egg is now well capitalized.   
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At May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008, "Other Investments" as shown on the Company's consolidated 
balance sheet include the cost of an investment in Egg-Land's Best, Inc., in which the Company has a 
29.1% and 25.9% equity interest, respectively at those dates. Egg-Land’s Best operates as a cooperative.   
The Company cannot exert significant influence over Egg-Land's Best, Inc.'s operating and financial 
activities; therefore, the Company accounts for this investment using the cost method.   The carrying 
value of this investment at May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008 was $768 and $440, respectively. 
 

4.  Inventories 
 

Inventories consisted of the following: 
 

   May 30   May 31
   2009   2008 
Flocks  $ 64,040 $ 49,176
Eggs   6,880 5,095
Feed and supplies   26,615 22,495
  $ 97,535 $ 76,766

 
5. Prepaid expenses and Other Current Assets 
 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following at May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008: 
 

  May 30, 2009  May 31, 2008  
Refundable income taxes  $       16,065  $        2,292 
Prepaid insurance  660  1,843 
Other prepaid expenses  459  404 
Other current assets  290  172 
  $      17,474  $       4,711 

 
6.  Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets  
 
Goodwill and other intangibles consisted of the following: 
 

    Other Intangibles 

  Goodwill  
Franchise 

rights  Customer 
relationships  Non-compete 

agreements  Total 
Balance June 2, 2007  $       4,195   $          354  $               -  $                -  $        4,549 
Additions      9,257  -  -  -  9,257 
Amortization  -  (52)  -  -  (52) 
Balance May 31, 2008  13,452  302  -  -  13,754 
Additions  9,003  3,979  10,900  1,500  25,382 
Amortization  -  (367)  (796)  (462)  (1,625) 
Balance May 30, 2009  $    22,455  $      3,914  $     10,104  $       1,038  $      37,511 
 
For the Other Intangibles listed above, the gross carrying amounts and accumulated amortization are as 
follows: 
 
  May 30, 2009  May 31, 2008 

  Gross carrying 
amount 

 Accumulated 
amortization 

 Gross carrying 
amount 

 Accumulated 
amortization 

Amortized intangible assets:         
Franchise Rights  $             5,284  $        (1,370)  $           1,305  $       (1,003) 
Customer Relationships  10,900    (796)  -  - 
Non-compete agreements  1,500  (462)  -  - 

Total  $          17,684  $       (2,628)  $           1,305  $       (1,003) 
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No significant residual value is estimated for these intangible assets. Aggregate amortization expense for 
the years ended May 30, 2009, and May 31, 2008, totaled $1,625 and $52, respectively. The following 
table represents the total estimated amortization of intangible assets for the five succeeding years: 
 

For fiscal period  Estimated amortization expense 
2010  $                          2,383 
2011  2,383 
2012  1,922 
2013  1,883 
2014  1,883 
Thereafter  4,602 
Total  $                        15,056 

 
7. Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following: 
 

   May 30   May 31 
   2009   2008 
Land and improvements  $ 57,277  $ 44,923 
Buildings and improvements   196,339   167,312 
Machinery and equipment   220,170   183,155 
Construction-in-progress   5,541   14,936 
   479,327   410,326 
Less: accumulated depreciation   229,369   203,833 
  $ 249,958  $ 206,493 

 
Depreciation expense was $27,933, $24,965 and $21,164 in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
 
We are constructing a new integrated layer production complex in Farwell, TX to replace our 
Albuquerque, New Mexico complex, which ceased egg production in fiscal 2007. We expected to 
complete this facility in January 2010 at a cost of approximately $30 million.  As of May 30, 2009 capital 
expenditures related to construction of this complex totaled $27.2 million.  The remaining future capital 
expenditures will be funded by cash flows from operations or additional borrowings as necessary.  Due to 
the fire at this facility subsequent to year end as explained in note 17, completion of this facility may be 
delayed by up to one year. 
 
8.  Leases 
 
Future minimum payments under noncancelable operating leases that have initial or remaining 
noncancelable terms in excess of one year at May 30, 2009 are as follows: 
 

2010 $ 2,659 
2011  1,718 
2012  1,165 
2013  977 
2014  449 
Thereafter  1,022 
Total minimum lease payments $ 7,990 

 
Substantially all of the leases provide that the Company pays taxes, maintenance, insurance and certain 
other operating expenses applicable to the leased assets.  The Company has guaranteed under certain 
operating leases the residual value of transportation equipment at the expiration of the leases.  Rent 
expense was $3,864, $5,032 and $8,390 in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, primarily for the 
lease of certain operating facilities, equipment and transportation equipment.  Included in rent expense are 
vehicle rents totaling $661, $660 and $840 in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
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9.  Credit Facilities and Long-Term Debt 
Long-term debt consisted of the following: 
 

             May 30     May 31  
             2009     2008  
Line of credit at no net cost, due in its entirety         
  in 2011      $        25,161     $              -    
Note payable at 5.99%, due in monthly principal         
  installments of $150, plus interest, maturing in 2021           23,500              25,300  
Series A Senior Secured Notes at 5.45%, due in         
  monthly installments of $176, plus interest, beginning in       
  January 2009 through 2018                18,947                     -    
Note payable at 6.35%, due in monthly principal         
  installments of $100, plus interest, maturing in 2017           17,500              18,700  
Note payable at 8.26%, due in monthly installments         
  of $155, including interest, maturing in 2015             12,242              13,057  
Note payable at 6.80%, due in monthly principal         
  installments of $165, plus interest, maturing in 2014             9,110              11,090  
Note payable at 6.40%, due in monthly principal         
  installments of $35, plus interest, maturing in 2018             5,660                6,080  
Note payable at 7.06%, due in monthly installments         
  of $53, including interest, maturing in 2015               4,325                4,641  
Note payable at 6.87%, due in monthly installments         
  of $45, including interest, maturing in 2015               3,678                3,950  
Industrial revenue bonds at 6.10%, due in         
  monthly installments of $146, including interest,         
  maturing in 2011                   3,024                4,537  
Note payable at 6.07%, due in monthly principal         
  installments of $33, plus interest, maturing in 2015             2,168                2,567  
Series B Senior Secured Notes at 7.18%, due in         
  annual principal installments of $2,143        
  through 2009 with interest due         
  semi-annually                   2,143                4,286  
Note payable at 5.80%, due in annual principal         
  installments of $250 through 2015 with interest         
  due quarterly               1,500                1,750  
Note payable at 7.5%, due in monthly installments         
  of $36, including interest, maturing in 2012                 831                1,187  
Other                          -                        5  
                    129,789              97,150  
Less current maturities                 13,806              11,470  
             $     115,983    $        85,680  
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The aggregate annual fiscal year maturities of long-term debt at May 30, 2009 are as follows: 
 

2010 $ 13,806
2011 36,784
2012 9,960
2013 10,066
2014 9,430
Thereafter 49,743
 $ 129,789

 
The Company has a $40,000 line of credit with three banks, $3,933 and $2,700 of which was utilized for 
standby letters of credit at May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008, respectively.  The balance of the credit 
facility remains undrawn.  The line of credit, which expires on December 31, 2009, is limited in 
availability based upon accounts receivable and inventories.  The Company had $36,067 available to 
borrow under the line of credit at May 30, 2009.  Borrowings under the line of credit bear interest at 
margins (1.5% at May 30, 2009) above the federal funds rate based upon the Company's leverage, as 
defined.  Facilities fees of 0.3% per annum are payable quarterly on the unused portion of the line. 
 
The Company also has a line of credit with a financial institution limited to the par value of auction rate 
securities held at the financial institution.  The Company has utilized $25,161 of this $33,150 line as of 
May 30, 2009.  Interest expense on this revolving line of credit is equal ot the interest income we receive 
on the auction rate securities held in our account.  Borrowings on the line of credit become due and 
payable as the auction rate securities are liquidated.  Accordingly, we have classified borrowings under 
this revolving line of credit as long-term debt, since the auction rate securities that collateralize this debt 
are correspondingly classified as long-term. 
 
Substantially all trade receivables, auction rate securities and inventories collateralize our lines of credit 
and property, plant and equipment collateralize our notes payable and senior secured notes. Unless 
otherwise approved by our lenders, we are required by provisions of our loan agreements to (1) maintain 
minimum levels of working capital (ratio of not less than 1.25 to 1) and net worth (minimum of $90.0 
million tangible net worth, plus 45% of cumulative net income); (2) limit dividends paid in any given 
quarter to not exceed an amount equal to one third of the previous quarter’s consolidated net income 
(allowed if no events of default), capital expenditures not to exceed $60,000,000 in any twelve month 
period, lease obligations and additional long-term borrowings (total funded debt to total capitalization not 
to exceed 55%); and (3) maintain various current and cash-flow coverage ratios (1.25 to 1), among other 
restrictions. At May 30, 2009, we were in compliance with the financial covenant requirements of all loan 
agreements. Under certain of the loan agreements, the lenders have the option to require the prepayment 
of any outstanding borrowings in the event we undergo a change in control, as defined.  Our debt 
agreements also require the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, or his family, to maintain 
ownership of not less than 50% of the outstanding voting stock of the Company. 
 
Interest of $6,679, $7,697 and $6,992 was paid during fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.  Interest 
of $515, $395 and $566 was capitalized for construction of certain facilities during fiscal 2009, 2008 and 
2007, respectively. 
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10.  Employee Benefit Plans 
 
The Company maintains a medical plan that is qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue 
Code and not subject to tax under present income tax laws.  Under its plan, the Company self-insures, in 
part, coverage for substantially all full-time employees with coverage by insurance carriers for certain 
stop-loss provisions for losses greater than $200 for substantially all participants.  The Company's 
medical plan expense including accruals for incurred but not reported claims were approximately $6,507, 
$4,081 and $4,632 in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
 
The Company has a 401(k) plan which covers substantially all employees.  Participants in the Plan may 
contribute up to the maximum allowed by Internal Revenue Service regulations.  The Company does not 
make contributions to the 401(k) plan. 
 
The Company has an employee stock ownership plan (ESOP) that covers substantially all employees.  
The Company makes contributions to the ESOP of 3% of participants' compensation, plus an additional 
amount determined at the discretion of the Board of Directors.  Contributions may be made in cash or the 
Company's common stock.  Company contributions to the ESOP vest immediately.  The Company's 
contributions to the plan were $1,154, $1,214, $1,115 and in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
 
The Company has deferred compensation agreements with certain officers for payments to be made over 
specified periods beginning when the officers reach age 65 or over as specified in the agreements.  
Amounts accrued for these agreements are based upon deferred compensation earned over the estimated 
remaining service period of each officer.  Deferred compensation expense totaled approximately $71 in 
fiscal 2009, $206 in fiscal 2008 and $37 in fiscal 2007. 
 
In December 2006, the Company adopted an additional deferred compensation plan to provide deferred 
compensation to named officers of the Company.  In fiscal 2009, we expensed, $118 applicable to an 
award.  An award of $154 was expensed in fiscal 2008. 
 
11.  Stock Compensation Plans 
 
On July 28, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. 2005 Incentive 
Stock Option Plan (the "ISO Plan") and reserved 500,000 shares for issuance upon exercise of options 
granted under the ISO Plan. Options issued pursuant to the ISO Plan may be granted to any of the 
Company’s employees. The options may have a term of up to ten years and generally will vest ratably 
over five years. On August 17, 2005, the Company issued 360,000 options with an exercise price of 
$5.93. The options have ten-year terms and vest over five years beginning from the date of grant. The ISO 
Plan was ratified by the Company’s shareholders at the annual meeting of shareholders on October 13, 
2005. 
 
On July 28, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors also approved the Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. Stock 
Appreciation Rights Plan (the "Rights Plan"). The Rights Plan covers 1,000,000 shares of common stock 
of the Company. Stock Appreciation Rights ("SARs") may be granted to any employee or non-employee 
member of the Board of Directors. Upon exercise of a SAR, the holder will receive cash equal to the 
difference between the fair market value of a single share of common stock at the time of exercise and the 
strike price which is equal to the fair market value of a single share of common stock on the date of the 
grant. The SARs have a ten-year term and vest over five years. On August 17, 2005, the Company issued 
592,500 SARs, under the Rights Plan, with a strike price of $5.93 and, on August 26, 2005, the Company 
issued 22,500 SARs with a strike price of $6.71. On August 24, 2006 the Company issued 15,000 SAR's 
with a strike price of $6.93. The Rights Plan was ratified by the Company’s shareholders at the annual 
meeting of shareholders on October 13, 2005.   
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The Company has reserved 1,000,000 shares under its 1999 Stock Option Plan, all of which were granted to 
officers and key employees in fiscal 2000.  Each stock option granted under the 1999 Stock Option Plan was 
accompanied by the grant of a Tandem Stock Appreciation Right ("TSAR").   
 
The options and TSARs have ten-year terms and vest annually over five years beginning one year from the 
grant date.  Upon exercise of a stock option, the related TSAR is also considered to be exercised, and the 
holder will receive a cash payment from the Company equal to the excess of the fair market value of the 
Company's common stock and the option exercise price.   No options are presently outstanding under the 
1999 Plan. 
 
Our 1993 Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan was adopted on May 25, 1993, and amended and 
restated on October 10, 1996. This Plan was approved by our shareholders on May 25, 1993. A total of 
1,000,000 shares of our common stock was reserved for issuance under this Plan. 
 
The exercise price for shares of stock subject to options under the 1993 Amended and Restated Stock 
Option Plan were not less than 100 percent of fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant 
of the options. There are currently options outstanding under this Plan for a total of 19,200 shares. All 
must be exercised within 10 years of grant. The exercise price is $2.125. 
 
The Company recognized stock based expense of $218 per year for equity awards in fiscal 2009, 2008, 
and 2007.  The Company recognized stock based compensation expense of $277, $6,853 and $1,650 for 
liability awards in fiscal 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. 
 
A summary of our equity award activity and related information is as follows: 
 
      Weighted   
    Weighted  Average   
  Number  Exercise  Remaining  Aggregate 
  of  Price  Contractual  Intrinsic 
  Options  Per Share  Life (in Years)  Value 
Outstanding, June 3, 2006   473,400  $   4.97       
Granted    -   -       
Exercised   89,800   2.92       
Forfeited    -    -         
Outstanding, June 2, 2007    383,600   5.45        
Granted    -   -       
Exercised   124,400   5.04       
Forfeited   -   -       
Outstanding, May 31, 2008   259,200   5.65       
Granted    -   -       
Exercised   72,000   5.93       
Forfeited   -   -       
Outstanding, May 30, 2009   187,200  $ 5.54   5.98  $ 3,525 
Exercisable, May 30, 2009    43,200  $ 4.24    5.19  $ 870 
 
Unrecognized share based compensation cost as of May 30, 2009 totaled $436 and will be recognized 
over a weighted average period of 2 years.  The intrinsic value of stock options exercised totaled $1,328, 
$3,254, and $946 in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
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A summary of our liability award activity and related information is as follows: 
  

      Weighted    
    Weighted  Average    
  Number  Average  Remaining  Aggregate 
  of  Strike Price  Contractual  Intrinsic 
  Rights  Per Share  Life (in Years)  Value 

Outstanding, June 3, 2006  652,000  $ 5.71         
Granted  15,000   6.93       
Exercised  105,550   4.66       
Forfeited  69,000   5.93       
Outstanding, June 2, 2007  492,450   5.95       
Granted  -   -       
Exercised  135,100   5.83       
Forfeited  6,000   5.83       
Outstanding, May 31, 2008  351,350   5.99       
Granted  -   -       
Exercised  87,100   5.97       
Forfeited  -   -       
Outstanding, May 30, 2009  264,250  $ 6.00   6.26  $ 4,854 
Exercisable, May 30, 2009  48,250  $ 5.99   6.28  $ 887 
 
Unrecognized share based compensation cost for liability awards based upon the fair value determined as 
of May 30, 2009 was $4,493 and will be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.5 years.  Total 
payments for liability awards exercised totaled $277, $6,853 and $1,650 for fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively. 
 
The fair value of liability awards was estimated as of May 30, 2009, May 31, 2008 and June 2, 2007 
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model using the following weighted-average assumptions:  
 

May 30, 2009  May 31, 2008 June 2, 2007
Risk-free interest rate 0.9%  2.9% 4.9% 
Dividend yield 1.0%  1.0% 1.0% 
Volatility factor of the  
expected market price of our stock 56.6% 

 
35.8% 34.9% 

Weighted-average expected life of the rights 2.5 years  3.5 years 4.5 years 
 
12.  Income Taxes 
 
Income tax expense consisted of the following: 
 

 Fiscal year ended 
  May 30  May 31  June 2 
  2009  2008  2007 
Current:       
  Federal $ 28,335 $ 63,406 $ 16,730 
  State  2,140  12,465  1,670 
  30,475  75,871  18,400 
Deferred:       
  Federal  9,295  2,779  675 
  State  1,740  880  530 
  11,035  3,659  1,205 
 $ 41,510 $ 79,530 $ 19,605 
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Significant components of the Company's deferred tax liabilities and assets were as follows: 

 
 May 30  May 31 
 2009  2008 

 Deferred tax liabilities:     
   Property, plant and equipment $ 25,060 $ 19,082 
   Cash basis temporary differences  1,471  1,634 
   Inventories  23,425  17,403 
   Investment in affiliates  2,405  2,787 
   Other  1,160  1,142 
Total deferred tax liabilities  53,521  42,048 
     
 Deferred tax assets:     
   Accrued expenses  4,316  5,254 
   Discount on acquisition purchase price  1,398  1,212 
   Other  1,537  891 
Total deferred tax assets  7,251  7,357 
Net deferred tax liabilities $ 46,270 $ 34,691 

 
Effective May 29, 1988, the Company could no longer use cash basis accounting for its farming 
subsidiary because of tax law changes.  The Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997 provides that taxes on the cash 
basis temporary differences as of that date are generally payable over 20 years beginning in fiscal 1999 or 
in full in the first fiscal year in which there is a change in ownership control.  The Company uses the 
farm-price method for valuing inventories for income tax purposes. 
 
The differences between income tax expense (benefit) at the Company's effective income tax rate and 
income tax expense (benefit) at the statutory federal income tax rate were as follows: 

 
 Fiscal year end 
 May 30 May 31  June 2 
 2009 2008  2007 
     

  Statutory federal income tax  $ 42,353 $ 80,287 $ 19,598 
  State income taxes net 2,522 8,675    1,430 
  Domestic manufacturers deduction (1,819) (4,115)  (526) 
  Non-taxable  Hillandale, 
      LLC income  (1,152)  

 
(5,022)  

 
(449) 

  Tax exempt interest income (557)  (872)  (278) 
  Other, net 163  577  (170) 

 $ 41,510 $ 79,530 $ 19,605 
 

Federal and state income taxes of $44,327, $82,223, and $15,679 were paid in fiscal 2009, 2008, and 
2007, respectively. Federal and state income taxes of $1,985, $1,039, and $1,426 were refunded in fiscal 
2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. 
 
Effective June 3, 2007, we adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48 “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income 
Taxes” (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing the minimum 
recognition threshold a tax position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial 
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statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, interest and 
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. We had no significant unrecognized tax 
benefits at May 30, 2009 or at May 31, 2008. Accordingly, we do not have any interest or penalties 
related to uncertain tax positions. However, if interest or penalties were to be incurred related to uncertain 
tax positions, such amounts would be recognized in income tax expense. Tax periods for all years after 
fiscal 2005 remain open to examination by the federal and state taxing jurisdictions to which we are 
subject. 
 
13. Other Matters    
 
The carrying amounts in the consolidated balance sheet for cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable, notes receivable and investments and accounts payable approximate their fair values. The fair 
value of the Company's long-term debt is estimated to be $130,868.  The fair values for notes receivable 
and long-term debt are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, based on the Company's current 
incremental borrowing rates for similar arrangements.   

The Company's interest expense is sensitive to changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates.  The 
Company maintains certain of its debt as fixed rate in nature to mitigate the impact of fluctuations in 
interest rates.  Under its current policies, the Company does not use interest rate derivative instruments to 
manage its exposure to interest rate changes.  A one percent (1%) adverse move (decrease) in interest 
rates would adversely affect the net fair value of the Company's debt by $4,289 at May 30, 2009.  The 
Company is a party to no other market risk sensitive instruments requiring disclosure. 
 
Contingencies 
 
The Company is the defendant in certain legal actions.  The Company intends to vigorously defend its 
position, regarding this litigation. The ultimate outcome of this litigation cannot presently be determined. 
Consequently, no estimate of any possible loss related to this litigation can reasonably be determined. 
However, in management’s opinion, the likelihood of a material adverse outcome is remote.  
Accordingly, adjustments, if any, which might result from the resolution of this matter, have not been 
reflected in the financial statements. These legal actions are discussed below. 
 
Chicken Litter Litigation 
 
Cal-Maine Farms, Inc. is presently a defendant in two personal injury cases in the Circuit Court of 
Washington County, Arkansas.  Those cases are styled, McWhorter vs. Alpharma, Inc., et al., and Carroll, 
et al. vs. Alpharma, Inc., et al.  Cal-Maine Farms, Inc. was named as a defendant in the McWhorter case 
on February 3, 2004.  It was named as a defendant in the Carroll case on May 2, 2005.  Co-defendants in 
both cases include other integrated poultry companies such as Tyson Foods, Inc., Cargill, Incorporated, 
George’s Farms, Inc., Peterson Farms, Inc., Simmons Foods, Inc., and Simmons Poultry Farms, Inc.  The 
manufacturers of an additive for broiler feed are also included as defendants.  Those defendants are 
Alpharma, Inc. and Alpharma Animal Health, Co. 
 
Both cases allege that the plaintiffs have suffered medical problems resulting from living near land upon 
which “litter” from the defendants’ flocks was spread as fertilizer.  The McWhorter case focuses on mold 
and fungi allegedly created by the application of litter.  The Carroll case also alleges injury from mold 
and fungi, but focuses primarily on the broiler feed ingredient as the cause of the alleged medical injuries.  
No trial date for either the Carroll or McWhorter case has been set. 
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Several other separate, but related, cases were prosecuted in the same venue by the same attorneys.  The 
same theories of liability were prosecuted in all of the cases.  No Cal-Maine Company was named as a 
defendant in any of those other cases.  The plaintiffs selected one of those cases, Green, et al. vs. 
Alpharma, Inc., et al., as a bellwether case to go to trial first.  All of the poultry defendants were granted 
summary judgment in the Green case on August 2, 2006.  On May 8, 2008, however, the Arkansas 
Supreme Court reversed the summary judgment in favor of the poultry defendants and remanded the case 
for trial.  Green was re-tried on remand in April, 2009.  The jury found for the defense and awarded the 
plaintiffs in that case nothing.  It is not presently known whether the plaintiffs in the McWhorter and 
Carroll cases will continue to prosecute those cases. 
 
State of Oklahoma Watershed Pollution Litigation 
 
On June 18, 2005, the State of Oklahoma filed suit, in the United States District Court for the Northern 
District of Oklahoma, against a number of companies, including Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Cal-Maine 
Farms, Inc.  We and Cal-Maine Farms filed our joint answer and motion to dismiss the suit on October 3, 
2005.  The State of Oklahoma claims that through the disposal of chicken litter the defendants have 
polluted the Illinois River Watershed.  This watershed provides water to eastern Oklahoma.  The 
Complaint seeks injunctive relief and monetary damages.  The parties participated in a series of mediation 
meetings without success.  Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. no longer operates in the watershed.  Accordingly, we 
do not anticipate that Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. will be materially affected by the request for injunctive 
relief.  Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. owns one hundred percent of a new corporation, Benton County Foods, 
LLC, which is an ongoing commercial shell egg operation within the Illinois River Watershed.  Benton 
County Foods, LLC is not a defendant in the litigation. 
 
Some dispositive motions have been filed jointly by all defendants.  Some of those motions were rejected 
by the Court, and others were left unresolved after oral arguments.  In February, 2008, a hearing was had 
on the plaintiff’s motion for preliminary injunctive relief.  The principal relief sought was a moratorium 
on litter application in the watershed.  The district court denied the plaintiff’s motion. 
 
The presiding judge appointed a fellow district court judge to act as a settlement judge.  That judge 
initiated settlement discussions, and several settlement meetings were had.  The meetings were not 
productive and have been suspended.   
 
On July 22, 2009, the Court entered its Order dismissing all claims for damages by the plaintiff in this 
action because much of the land and water which the plaintiff claims to have been polluted is actually 
owned by the Cherokee Nation, a separate sovereignty not represented by the State of Oklahoma.  The 
dismissal was without prejudice to re-file a claim for damages, but the Court ruled that no such re-filing 
can occur unless the Cherokee Nation joins the litigation.  It is not known whether the Cherokee Nation 
will join the litigation.  While this ruling may be reconsidered or appealed, it removes, at least 
temporarily, the threat of a judgment for monetary damages against us.  Unless outstanding motions for 
summary judgment are granted, the action will proceed to trial for a determination of whether the plaintiff 
is entitled to injunctive relief. 
 
The case is set for trial in Tulsa, Oklahoma beginning September 21, 2009.   
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Egg Antitrust Litigation 
 
Between September 25, 2008 and January 8, 2009, the Company was named as one of several defendants 
in sixteen antitrust cases involving the United States shell egg industry.  In all sixteen cases, the named 
plaintiffs sued on behalf of themselves and a putative class of others who claim to be similarly situated.  
In fourteen of the cases, the named plaintiffs allege that they are retailers or distributors that purchased 
shell eggs and egg products directly from one or more of the defendants.  In the other two cases, the 
named plaintiffs are individuals who allege that they purchased shell eggs and egg products indirectly 
from one or more of the defendants - that is, they purchased from retailers that had previously purchased 
from defendants or other parties.   

The Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation consolidated all of these cases (as well as certain other cases 
in which the Company was not a named defendant) for pretrial proceedings in the United States District 
Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania.  The Pennsylvania court has organized the cases around 
two groups (direct purchasers and indirect purchasers) and has named interim lead counsel for the named 
plaintiffs in each group.  The named plaintiffs in the direct purchaser case filed a consolidated complaint 
on January 30, 2009.  The named plaintiffs in the indirect purchaser case filed a consolidated complaint 
on February 27, 2009.  

In both consolidated complaints, the named plaintiffs allege that the Company and certain other large 
domestic egg producers conspired to reduce the domestic supply of eggs in a concerted effort to raise the 
price of eggs to artificially high levels.  In both consolidated complaints, plaintiffs allege that all 
defendants agreed to reduce the domestic supply of eggs by (a) manipulating egg exports and (b) 
implementing industry-wide animal welfare guidelines that reduced the number of hens and eggs.  The 
indirect purchaser plaintiffs also allege that all defendants manipulated pricing information in the egg 
industry, exchanged price information improperly, and refused to compete against each other.   

Both groups of named plaintiffs seek treble damages and injunctive relief on behalf of themselves and all 
other putative class members in the United States.  Both groups of named plaintiffs allege a class period 
starting on January 1, 2000 and running “through the present.”  The direct purchaser consolidated case 
alleges two separate sub-classes – one for direct purchasers of shell eggs and one for direct purchasers of 
egg products.  The direct purchaser consolidated case seeks relief under the Sherman Act.  The indirect 
purchaser consolidated case seeks relief under the Sherman Act and the statutes and common-law of 
various states, the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico.   

The Pennsylvania court has entered a series of orders related to case management and scheduling.  On 
April 30, 2009, the Company filed motions to dismiss both the direct purchaser consolidated case and the 
indirect purchaser consolidated case.  The plaintiffs have not yet responded to those motions.  There is no 
definite schedule in either consolidated case for discovery, class certification proceedings, or filing 
motions for summary judgment.  No trial date has been set in either consolidated case. 

Florida civil investigative demand 

On November 4, 2008, the Company received an antitrust civil investigative demand from the Attorney 
General of the State of Florida.  The demand seeks production of documents and responses to 
interrogatories relating to the production and sale of eggs and egg products.  The Company is cooperating 
with this investigation and expects to provide responsive information.  No allegations of wrongdoing have 
been made against the Company in this matter. 
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14.   Quarterly Financial Data:  (unaudited, amount in thousands, except per share data): 
 

 Fiscal Year 2009 
   First   Second   Third   Fourth 
   Quarter   Quarter   Quarter   Quarter 
Net sales $ 206,888 $ 238,314 $ 270,009 $ 213,601 
Gross profit  40,647  58,016  68,157  37,907 
Net income   11,147  27,244  30,843  10,266 
Net income per share:         
Basic $ 0.47 $ 1.15 $ 1.30 $ 0.43 
Diluted $ 0.47 $ 1.14 $ 1.29 $ 0.43 
         
 Fiscal Year 2008 
   First   Second   Third   Fourth 
   Quarter   Quarter   Quarter   Quarter 
Net sales $ 178,598 $ 223,696 $ 278,017  $ 235,628 
Gross profit  45,580  76,032  104,902   72,042 
Net income   17,966  40,154  57,183   36,558 
Net income per share:         
Basic $ .76 $ 1.70 $ 2.41  $ 1.54 
Diluted $ .76 $ 1.69 $ 2.41  $ 1.54 

 
15.   Description of Rights and Privileges of Capital Stock—Capital Structure Consists of Common 

Stock 
 
The Company has two classes of capital stock: Common Stock and Class A Common Stock. Holders of 
shares of the Company’s capital stock vote as a single class on all matters submitted to a vote of the 
stockholders, with each share of Common Stock entitled to one vote and each share of Class A Common 
Stock entitled to ten votes.  The Common Stock and Class A Common Stock have equal liquidation 
rights.  As of October 2, 2008, the Common Stock and Class A Common Stock have the same dividend 
rights, whereas previously the Class A Common Stock received an amount equal to 95% of any cash 
dividend payable on a share of Common Stock.  In the case of any stock dividend, holders of Common 
Stock are entitled to receive the same percentage dividend (payable only in shares of Common Stock) as 
the holders of Class A Common Stock receive (payable only in shares of Class A Common Stock). Upon 
liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up of the Company, the holders of Common Stock are entitled to 
share ratably with the holders of Class A Common Stock in all assets available for distribution after 
payment in full of creditors. The Class A Common Stock may only be issued to Fred R. Adams, Jr., the 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and members of his immediate family, as defined. In the event any 
share of Class A Common Stock, by operation of law or otherwise is, or shall be deemed to be owned by 
any person other than Mr. Adams or a member of his immediate family, the voting power of such stock 
will be reduced from ten votes per share to one vote per share. Also, shares of Class A Common Stock 
shall be automatically converted into Common Stock on a share per share basis in the event the beneficial 
or record ownership of any such share of Class A Common Stock is transferred to any person other than 
Mr. Adams or a member of his immediate family. Each share of Class A Common Stock is convertible, at 
the option of its holder, into one share of Common Stock at any time. The holders of Common Stock and 
Class A Common Stock are not entitled to preemptive or subscription rights. In any merger, consolidation 
or business combination, the consideration to be received per share by holders of Common Stock must be 
identical to that received by holders of Class A Common Stock, except that if any such transaction in 
which shares of Capital Stock are distributed, such shares may differ as to voting rights to the extent that 
voting rights now differ among the classes of Capital Stock. No class of Capital Stock may be combined 
or subdivided unless the other classes of Capital Stock are combined or subdivided in the same 
proportion. No dividend may be declared and paid on Class A Common Stock unless the dividend is 
payable only to the holders of Class A Common Stock and a dividend payable to Common Stock is 
declared and paid concurrently in respect of outstanding shares of Common Stock in the same number of 
shares of Common Stock per outstanding share. 

 



 

 69  

16.  Fair Value  Measures 
Effective June 1, 2008, we adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement No. 157, 
“Fair Value Measurements” (“FAS 157”). FAS 157 establishes a single authoritative definition of fair 
value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value, and expands on required disclosures about fair value 
measurement.  In February 2008, FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB 
Statement No. 157” which provides a one-year deferral of the effective date of FAS 157 for non-financial 
assets and non-financial liabilities except those that are recognized or disclosed in the financial statements 
at fair value at least annually. 
  
The adoption of FAS 157 for our financial assets and financial liabilities did not have a material impact 
on our financial statements.  We are currently evaluating the effect that the implementation of this 
standard for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities will have on our financial statements upon full 
adoption in fiscal 2010. FAS 157 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date 
(exit price). Valuation techniques used to measure fair value under FAS 157 must maximize the use of 
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. FAS 157 classifies the inputs used to 
measure fair value into the following hierarchy: 
  
   • Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
  

   • Level 2 - Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in 
markets that are not active, or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset 
or liability. 

  

   • Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability that are supported by little or no market 
activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. 

  
Level 2 
We classified our current investment securities – available-for-sale as level 2.   These securities consist of 
pre-funded municipal bonds and certificates of deposit with maturities of three to six months, when 
purchased.   Due to the nature of these securities they are reported at cost, which approximates fair value 
based upon quoted prices for similar assets in active markets.  Observable inputs for these securities are 
yields, credit risks, default rates, and volatility.  
 
Level 3 
We classified our long-term investment securities – trading, which consist of auction rate securities, as 
level 3. Our auction rate securities consist of two types: formulaic muni auction rate securities and student 
loan auction rate securities.   The formulaic muni auction rate securities are municipal securities whose 
maximum rates are generally based on an index multiplied by a percentage (which is based on the rating 
of the security).   The student loan auction rate securities are securities issued by student loan trusts.  
  
For the formulaic muni auction rate securities, the observable inputs include credit risk, and yields or 
spreads of fixed rate municipal bonds issued by the same or comparable issuers.  The unobservable input 
for the formulaic muni auction rate securities is the assessment of the likelihood of redemption.  For the 
student loan auction rate securities, the observable inputs include, tax status, credit risk, duration, 
insurance wraps, and the portfolio composition, future cash flows based on maximum rate formulas, and 
estimates of observable market data including yields or spreads of trading instruments that are similar of 
comparable.  The unobservable input for the student loan auction rate securities are the likelihood of 
redemption.  Due to the combination of observable and unobservable inputs, we believe that level 3 is the 
proper classification.  
 



 

 70  

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis 
 
Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following types of instruments as of 
May 30, 2009: 
 

     Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using 
     Quoted Prices             
     in Active   Significant         
     Markets for   Other   Significant     
     Identical   Observable   Unobservable     
     Instruments   Inputs   Inputs   Total 
(In thousands)   (Level 1)   (Level 2)   (Level 3)   Balance 
Investment securities 
 available-for-sale (Current)   $ 

  
-     

 
$  

  
15,165   

 
$                    -     

 
$  

  
15,165 

Investment securities 
 trading (Non -Current)     

  
-                       -       

   
33,150      

  
33,150 

                           
Total assets measured at fair value   $                         -     $        15,165    

$ 
          33,150    $       48,315 

 
The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for assets measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) during the period ended 
May 30, 2009: 
 

  Investment securities 
 (Non-Current) 

 
 

  (Auction Rate Securities)  Total 
Beginning balance  $                  40,754  $                  40,754 

Total gains – (realized/unrealized)     
Included in earnings (or changes in net assets), net  544  544 
Included in other comprehensive income, net  852  852 

Purchases, issuances, and settlements  (9,000)  (9,000) 

Transfers in and/or out of Level 3  -  - 

Ending balance  $                    33,150  $                    33,150 
 
Gains (realized and unrealized) included in earnings (or changes in net assets) for the period ended 
May 30, 2009, are reported in other income as follows: 
 

  Other Income 
Total gains included in earnings (or changes in net assets) 
 for the period ended May 30, 2009 $            544 

Change in unrealized gains relating 
 to assets still held at May 30, 2009 $           852 

 
In February 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 159, "Establishing the Fair Value Option for 
Financial Assets and Liabilities" (“FAS 159”), to permit all entities to choose to elect to measure eligible 
financial instruments at fair value. We adopted FAS 159 effective June 1, 2008.   We have elected the fair 
value option for our Auction Rate Security Rights.  We agreed to accept these Auction Rate Security 
Rights from UBS on November 3, 2008.    
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UBS’s obligations under the Rights are not secured by its assets and do not require UBS to obtain any 
financing to support its performance obligations under the Rights.  UBS has disclaimed any assurance 
that it will have sufficient financial resources to satisfy its obligations under the Rights. 
 
The Rights represent a firm agreement in accordance with FASB Statement No. 133 “Accounting for 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“FAS 133”), which defines a firm agreement as an 
agreement binding on both parties and usually legally enforceable, with the following characteristics: (a) 
the agreement specifies all significant terms, including the quantity to be exchanged, the fixed price, and 
the timing of the transaction, and (b) the agreement includes a disincentive for nonperformance that is 
sufficiently large to make performance probable.  The enforceability of the Rights results in a put option 
and should be recognized as a free standing asset separate from the auction rate securities.   Upon 
acceptance of the offer from UBS, we recorded the Rights asset at its estimated fair value of $4,713 and 
recognized an unrealized gain of $4,713 in investment income, net.   We subsequently recorded a $1,899 
decrease in the fair value of the Rights in investment income, net in the Consolidated Statements of 
Income for the year ended May 30, 2009, for a total fair value of $2,814 at May 30, 2009.   The Rights do 
not meet the definition of a derivative instrument under FAS 133, because the underlying securities are 
not readily convertible to cash.  Therefore, we have elected to measure the Rights at fair value under FAS 
159, which permits an entity to measure certain items at fair value, to mitigate volatility in reported 
earnings from the changes in the fair value of the auction rate securities.  As a result, unrealized gains and 
losses will be included in earnings in future periods.  We expect that future changes in the fair value of 
the Rights will largely mitigate fair value movements in the related auction rate securities.   
 
The Rights are valued at $2,814 on our consolidated balance sheet at May 30, 2009.  They are included in 
the total amount for “Investments securities trading” in the noncurrent asset portion of our consolidated 
balance sheet.  The auction rate securities are measured at fair value using the assumptions discussed 
previously.   According to the fair value hierarchy established by FAS 157, the Company determined that 
the assumptions use to measure these securities are level 3 assumptions.    Accordingly, the assumptions 
used to measure the rights are level 3 assumptions.  The value of the rights is the difference between the 
par value and fair value of our auction rate securities.  
 
17.  Subsequent Event 
 
On July 9, 2009, the Company’s egg complex in Farwell, Texas, was damaged by a fire.  The 700 acre 
facility includes a processing plant, feed mill, two pullet houses, and nine layer houses.  The fire 
completely destroyed four of the nine layer houses, with additional loss of laying hens at a fifth house due 
to smoke inhalation.  There were no personal injuries and minimal physical damage was sustained to the 
rest of the complex.   
 
Prior to the fire, the Farwell complex could house up to 1.5 million laying hens and accounted for 
approximately three to four percent of the Company’s weekly production.  This facility, as well as all of 
the Company’s other facilities, are fully insured for their replacement value, including the estimated loss 
of production.  It is too early to estimate the total amount of gain or loss that will ultimately be recognized 
due to this fire. Based on preliminary estimates, the Company has determined that the net book value of 
plant and equipment lost due to this casualty is approximately $6.8 million. The Company believes that 
this will have minimal financial impact on our operations and do not expect any long-term disruption to 
our customers.   
 



 
SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 

Years ended May 30, 2009, May 31, 2008, and June 2, 2007 
(in thousands) 

 
    Balance at           Balance at 
    Beginning of   Charged to   Write-off   End of 
Description   Period   Cost and Expense   of Accounts   Period 
                          
Year ended May 30, 2009:                         
Allowance for doubtful accounts   $ 313   $ 563   $ 482   $ 394 
                  
Year ended May 31, 2008:                         
Allowance for doubtful accounts   $ 150   $ 394   $ 231   $ 313 
                          
Year ended June 2, 2007:                         
Allowance for doubtful accounts   $ 346   $ 612   $ 808   $ 150 
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ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON 

ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 
 
None. 
 
ITEM 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

 
  Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information 
required to be disclosed by it in its periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is 
recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and 
forms.  Based on an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures conducted by our Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, together with other financial officers, such officers concluded that our 
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of May 30, 2009. 
 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 

(a) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 

In accordance with Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and Item 308(a) of the 
Commission’s Regulation S-K, the report of management on our internal control over financial reporting is set 
forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K under Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 
 
 

(b) Attestation Report of the Registrant’s Public Accounting Firm 
 

The attestation report of FROST, PLLC on management’s assessment of our internal control over 
financial reporting is set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K under Item 8. Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data. 
                                                                                                                                                            

(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 

In accordance with Rule 13a-15(c) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, management, with the 
participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, together with other financial officers, 
evaluated the effectiveness, as of May 30, 2009, of our internal control over financial reporting.  Management 
determined that there was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
fourth quarter ended May 30, 2009, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our 
internal control over financial reporting. 
 

ITEM 9B.     OTHER INFORMATION 
                       

Not applicable. 
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PART III 
 

ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT 
 

The information concerning directors and executive officers is incorporated by reference from our 
definitive proxy statement which is to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934 in connection with our 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. 
 

ITEM 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 

The information concerning executive compensation is incorporated by reference from our definitive 
proxy statement which is to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in 
connection with our 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. 
 

ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND 
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER   MATTERS 

 
The information concerning security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and 

related stockholder matters is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement which is to be filed 
pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in connection with our 2009 Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders. 
 

ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 
 

The information concerning certain relationships and related transactions is incorporated by reference 
from our definitive proxy statement which is to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 in connection with our 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. 
 

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 
 

The information concerning principal accountant fees and services is incorporated by reference from 
our definitive proxy statement which is to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934 in connection with our 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. 
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PART IV 
 

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 
 

(a)(1)     Financial Statements 
 

The following financial statements are filed herewith: 
 

The following consolidated financial statements of Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and subsidiaries are 
included in Item 8: 

   
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms. 38 
 
Consolidated Balance Sheets – May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008. 40 
 
Consolidated Statements of Income – Fiscal Years Ended May 30, 2009, May 31, 2008 and June 2, 2007. 41 
 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the Fiscal Years Ended 
    May 30, 2009, May 31, 2008 and June 2, 2007. 42 
 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Fiscal Years Ended May 30, 2009, May 31, 2008 and 
   June 2, 2007. 43 
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
(a)(2)    Financial Statement Schedule 
 
Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 72 
 
All other schedules are omitted either because they are not applicable or required, or because the 

required information is included in the financial statements or notes thereto. 
 
 

(a)(3)     Exhibits Required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K 
 

 See Part (b) of this Item 15. 
 

(b)         Exhibits Required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K 
 

The following exhibits are filed herewith or incorporated by reference: 
 

Exhibit 
Number    Exhibit 
 
2.1  Agreement to Form a Limited Liability Company, Transfer Assets Thereto, and Purchase Units of 

Membership Therein, dated July 28, 2005, by and among Hillandale Farms of Florida, Inc., 
Hillandale Farms, Inc., Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Jack E. Hazen, Jack E. Hazen, Jr., Homer E. 
Honeycutt, Jr., Orland R. Bethel and Dorman W. Mizell.  (9) 

    
3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant. (1) 
 
3.1(a) Amendment to Article 4 of the Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant. (7) 

 
3.2 By-Laws of the Registrant, as amended. (16) 
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4.1  See Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2 as to the rights of holders of the Registrant’s common stock. 
 
10.1  Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement, dated as of May 29, 1990, between Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. 

and Cooperative Centrale Raiffeisen - Boerenleenbank B.A., “Rabobank Nederland,” New York Branch, 
and Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement among Cal-Maine Foods, Inc., and Barclays 
Banks PLD (New York) and Cooperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Borenleenbank B.A., dated as of 29 May 
1990, and amendments thereto (without exhibits). (1) 

 
10.1(a) Amendment to Term Loan Agreement (see Exhibit 10.1) dated as of June 3, 1997 (without exhibits). (2) 

 
10.1(b) Amendment to Term Loan Agreement (see Exhibit 10.1) dated as of March 31, 2004 (without exhibits). (7) 
                                                                                                                                                                                             
10.1(c) Amendment to Term Loan Agreement (see Exhibit 10.1) dated as of April 14, 2004 (without exhibits). (7) 

                                                                                                                                                          
10.1(d) Amendment to Term Loan Agreement (see Exhibit 10.1) dated as of August 6, 2004 (without exhibits). (8) 

                                                                                                                                                              
10.1(e) Amendment to Term Loan Agreement (see Exhibit 10.1) dated as of March 15, 2005 (without exhibits). (8) 

                                                                                                                                                               
10.1(f) Amendment to Term Loan Agreement (see Exhibit 10.1) dated as of October 13, 2006 (without exhibits). (12) 

 
10.1(g) Second Amendment and Restated [through Ninth Amendment] Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of 

February 6, 2002, among Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and (as defined herein) First South, Rabobank and Harris 
(without exhibits, schedules or annex). (15) 

 
10.1(h) Tenth Amendment to Second Amendment and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of 

March 15, 2007, among Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and (as defined herein) First South, Rabobank and Harris 
(without exhibits, schedules or annex). (15)  

 
10.1(i)  Eleventh Amendment to Second Amendment and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of 

November 30, 2007, among Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and (as defined herein) First South, Rabobank and Harris 
(without exhibits, schedules, or annex).  (17) 

 
10.1(j)  Twelfth Amendment to Second Amendment and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of 

January 30, 2008, among Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and (as defined herein) First South, Rabobank and Harris 
(without exhibits, schedules, or annex).   

 
10.2 Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 10, 1993, between John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance 

Company and Cal-Maine Foods, Inc., and amendments thereto (without exhibits). (1) 
 

10.3 Loan Agreement, dated as of May 1, 1991, between Metropolitan Life Insurance Corporation and Cal-Maine 
Foods, Inc., and amendments thereto (without exhibits). (1) 

 
10.4  Employee Stock Ownership Plan, as Amended and Restated. (1) + 
 
10.5  1993 Stock Option Plan, as Amended. (1) + 
 
10.6  Wage Continuation Plan, dated as of July 1, 1986, between Jack Self and the Registrant, as amended on 

September 2, 1994. (1) + 
 
10.7  Wage Continuation Plan, dated as of April 15, 1988, between Joe Wyatt and the Registrant. (1) + 
 

10.8  Redemption Agreement, dated March 7, 1994, between the Registrant and Fred R. Adams, Jr. (1) 
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10.9  Note Purchase Agreement, dated December 18, 1997, among the Registrant, Cal-Maine Farms, Inc., 
Cal-Maine Egg Products, Inc., Cal-Maine Partnership, LTD, CMF of Kansas LLC and First South 
Production  Credit Association and Metropolitan Life Insurance Company (without exhibits, except 
names of guarantors and forms of notes)  (3) 

 
10.10 Wage Continuation Plan, dated as of January 14, 1999, among Stephen Storm, Charles F. Collins, 

Bob Scott and the Registrant  (4)+ 
 

10.11 Secured note purchase agreement dated September 28, 1999 among the Registrant, Cal-Maine 
Partnership, LTD, and John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company, and John Hancock Variable 
Life Insurance Company (without exhibits, annexes and disclosure schedules) (5) 

 
10.11(a) Amended and Restated Second Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2003, 

conformed copy reflecting First, Second, and Third Amendments, among Cal-Maine Foods, Inc., Cal-
Maine Partnership, Ltd., and John Hancock Life Insurance Company and John Hancock Variable Life 
Insurance Company (without exhibits, schedules or annex). (15) 

 
10.11(b) Fourth Amendment and Waiver Agreement dated as of March 1, 2007, among Cal-Maine Foods, 

Inc. and Cal-Maine Partnership, LTD, and John Hancock Life Insurance Company and John Hancock 
Variable Life Insurance Company (without exhibits, schedules or annex). (15) 

 
10.11(c) Fifth Amendment and Waiver Agreement dated as of May 30, 2007, among Cal-Maine Foods, Inc.  

and Cal-Maine Partnership, LTD, and John Hancock Life Insurance Company and John Hancock 
Variable Life Insurance Company (without exhibits, schedules or annex).  

 
10.11(d) Sixth Amendment Agreement, dated as of January 30, 2008, among Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and John 

Hancock Life Insurance Company and John Hancock Variable Life Insurance Company (without 
exhibits, schedules or annex). (18) 

 
10.11(e) Seventh Amendment Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2008, among Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and John 

Hancock Life Insurance Company and John Hancock Variable Life Insurance Company (without 
exhibits, schedules or annex).  

 
10.12 1999 Stock Option Plan  (6)+ 

 
10.13 2005 Stock Option Plan  (10)+ 

 
10.14 2005 Stock Appreciation Rights Plan  (11)+ 

 
10.15  Deferred Compensation Plan, dated December 28, 2006.  (13) 

 
10.16 Loan Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2006, between Metropolitan Life Insurance Company 

and Cal-Maine Foods Inc. (without exhibits.) (14) 
 

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant 
 

23 Consent of FROST, PLLC 
 

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer 
 

31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer 
 

32 Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer 
 

           + Management contract or compensatory plan. 
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          (1)         Incorporated by reference to the same exhibit in Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement 
No. 333-14809. 

 

          (2)         Incorporated by reference to the same exhibit in Registrant’s Form 10-K for fiscal year ended 
May 31, 1997. 

 

          (3)         Incorporated by reference to the same exhibit in Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
                        November 29, 1997. 
 

          (4)         Incorporated by reference to the same exhibit in Registrant’s Form 10-K for fiscal year ended 
May 29, 1999. 

 

          (5)         Incorporated by reference to the same exhibit in Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
November 27, 1999. 

 

          (6)         Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form S-8 Registration Statement No. 333-39940, 
dated June 23, 2000. 

 

(7)  Incorporated by reference to the same exhibit in Registrant’s Form 10-K for fiscal year ended 
May 29, 2004.   

 

(8)  Incorporated by reference to the same exhibit in Registrant’s Form 10-K for fiscal year ended  
        May 28, 2005. 

 

(9) Incorporated by reference to the same exhibit in Registrant’s Form 8-K, dated July 28, 2005. 
 

(10) Incorporated by reference to Appendix B to Registrant’s Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting 
held October 13, 2005. 

 

(11) Incorporated by reference to Appendix C to Registrant’s Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting 
held October 13, 2005. 

 

(12) Incorporated by reference to the same exhibit in Registrant’s Form 10-K for fiscal year ended  
        June 3, 2006  
 

(13) Incorporated by reference to the same exhibit in Registrant's Form 8-K, dated December 28, 
2006. 

 

(14) Incorporated by reference to the same exhibit in Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
December 2, 2006 

 

(15) Incorporated by reference to the same exhibit in Registrant's Form 8-K, dated March 9, 2007.  
 

(16)      Incorporated by reference to the same exhibit in Registrant’s Form 8-K, dated August 13, 2007. 
 

(17) Incorporated by reference to the same exhibit in Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
December 1, 2007 

 

(18) Incorporated by reference to the same exhibit in Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 1, 2008 

 
The Company agrees to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, upon request, copies of any 
instrument defining the rights of the holders of its consolidated long-term debt. 
 
       (c) Financial Statement Schedules Required by Regulation S-X 

 
The financial statement schedule required by Regulation S-X is filed at page 72. All other schedules for which 
provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission are 
not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted. 
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SIGNATURES 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has 
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Jackson, 
Mississippi, on this 11th  day of August, 2009. 
 
CAL-MAINE FOODS, INC. 
 
/s/ Fred R. Adams, Jr.                                

Fred R. Adams, Jr. 
Chairman of the Board and 
Chief Executive Officer 

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated: 
 
Signature    Title             Date 
 
/s/ Fred R. Adams, Jr.                       Chairman of the Board and         August 11, 2009                                       
Fred R. Adams, Jr.      Chief Executive Officer  
                                                                 (Principal Executive Officer) 
 
/s/  Richard K. Looper                       Vice Chairman of the Board          August 11, 2009                                      
Richard K. Looper   and Director 
 
 
/s/  Adolphus B. Baker                      President and Director           August 11, 2009                                      
Adolphus B. Baker 
 

 
/s/  Timothy A. Dawson                   Vice President, Chief Financial          August 11, 2009                                      
Timothy A. Dawson   Officer and Director 
                                                                 (Principal Financial Officer) 
 
/s/  Charles F. Collins                        Vice President, Controller          August 11, 2009                                      
Charles F. Collins               (Principal Accounting Officer) 
 
                                                              
/s/  Letitia C. Hughes                         Director                                        August 11, 2009                                      
Letitia C. Hughes 
 
 
                                                           Director                                    ___________                                       
R. Faser Triplett 
 
 
/s/  James E. Poole                             Director                                     August 11, 2009                                      
James E. Poole  
 
 
/s/  Steve W. Sanders                         Director                                     August 11, 2009                                      
Steve W. Sanders 
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CAL-MAINE FOODS, INC. 
Form 10-K for the fiscal year 

Ended May 30, 2009 
EXHIBIT INDEX 

 
 

Exhibit Number      Exhibit 
21      Subsidiaries of Cal-Maine Foods, Inc 
23                           Consent of FROST, PLLC 
31.1                                    Certification of The Chief Executive Officer 
31.2                                   Certification of The Chief Financial Officer 
32                                     Written Statement of The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
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Exhibit 21 

 

Subsidiaries of Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. 

 

                                                                                                                  Percentage of Outstanding Stock 

                                                            Place of Incorporation            or Ownership Interest Held 

Name of Subsidiary                          or Organization              by Registrant 
---------------------                            ------------------------                ---------------------------------- 
Cal-Maine Farms, Inc. Delaware  100%  

Southern Equipment Distributors, Inc. Mississippi  100%  

South Texas Applicators, Inc. Delaware  100%  

CMF of Kansas, LLC Delaware  (1)  

Hillandale, LLC. Florida  100%  

American Egg Products, Inc. Georgia  99.5%  

Texas Egg Products, LLC Texas  37%  

Benton County Foods, LLC Arkansas  100%  

South Texas Protein, LLC Texas  43%  

Zephyr Egg, LLC Florida  100%  

Tampa Farms, LLC Florida  100%  

 

----------------------------------------------------------- 

 
 (1) Limited liability company of which Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Cal-Maine Farms, Inc. are members and 

have 99% and 1% interests, respectively. 
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Exhibit 23 
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 

 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-20169) 

pertaining to the Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. 1993 Stock Option Plan, the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-
29940) pertaining to the Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan, and the Registration Statement (Form 
S-8 No. 333-130832) of Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. pertaining to the Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. Incentive Stock Option 
Plan and to the Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. Stock Appreciation Rights Plan of our reports dated August 10, 2009, 
with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Subsidiaries, 
and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Cal-Maine Foods, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
included in the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended May 30, 2009. 
 
 
       FROST, PLLC /s/ 
 
 
 Certified Public Accountants 
 
 
Little Rock, Arkansas 
August 10, 2009 
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Exhibit 31.1 
 

Certification  
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Rule 13a-14(a) 

or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
 
 
I, Fred R. Adams, Jr., CEO, certify that: 
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cal-Maine Foods, Inc.; 
 
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 

fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present 

in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report; 

 
4.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 

and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 

be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles; 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 
by this report based on such evaluation; and 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 

the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial 
reporting; and 
 

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions): 

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

 
b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 

the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 
 
 
 
/s/  Fred R. Adams, Jr. 
Fred R. Adams, Jr. 
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer 
 
Date :     August 11, 2009 
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                                                                                                                                          Exhibit 31.2 
 
 

Certification  
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Rule 13a-14(a) 

or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
 
 

I, Timothy A. Dawson, CFO, certify that: 
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cal-Maine Foods, Inc.; 
 
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 

fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present 

in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report; 

 
4.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 

and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 

be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles; 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 
by this report based on such evaluation; and 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 

the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial 
reporting; and 
 

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions): 

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

 
b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 

the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 
 
 
/s/  Timothy A. Dawson 
Timothy A. Dawson 
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
 
Date:  August 11, 2009 
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Exhibit 32 
 

Certifications 
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 

 
Solely for the purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we, the undersigned Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Cal-
Maine Foods, Inc.(the “Company”), hereby certify, based on their knowledge, that the Annual Report on Form 
10-K of the Company for the year ended May 30, 2009 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of 
Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in the Report fairly 
presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 

 
 
 
 
/s/  Fred R. Adams, Jr. 
Fred R. Adams, Jr. 
Chief Executive Officer 

 
 
 
 

/s/  Timothy A. Dawson  
Timothy A. Dawson 
Chief Financial Officer 
 
Date:  August 11, 2009 
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